ADEQUATE SUBGROUPS AND INDECOMPOSABLE MODULES

ROBERT GURALNICK, FLORIAN HERZIG, AND PHAM HUU TIEP

ABSTRACT. The notion of adequate subgroups was introduced by Jack Thorne [59]. It is a weakening of the notion of big subgroups used by Wiles and Taylor in proving automorphy lifting theorems for certain Galois representations. Using this idea, Thorne was able to strengthen many automorphy lifting theorems. It was shown in [22] and [23] that if the dimension is smaller than the characteristic then almost all absolutely irreducible representations are adequate. We extend the results by considering all absolutely irreducible modules in characteristic p of dimension p. This relies on a modified definition of adequacy, provided by Thorne in [60], which allows p to divide the dimension of the module. We prove adequacy for almost all irreducible representations of $\mathrm{SL}_2(p^a)$ in the natural characteristic and for finite groups of Lie type as long as the field of definition is sufficiently large. We also essentially classify indecomposable modules in characteristic p of dimension less than 2p-2 and answer a question of Serre concerning complete reducibility of subgroups in classical groups of low dimension.

Contents

1.	Introduction	2
2.	Linear groups of low degree	7
3.	Extensions and self-extensions	11
4.	Finite groups with indecomposable modules of dimension $\leq 2p-2$	15
5.	Bounding $\operatorname{Ext}_G^1(V,V)$ and $\operatorname{Ext}_G^1(V,V^*)$	20
6.	Modules of dimension p	28
6.1.	Imprimitive case	29
6.2.	Chevalley groups in characteristic p	30
6.3.	Remaining cases	31
7.	Certain PIMs for simple groups	38
7.1.	The case $H = \mathrm{PSL}_n(q)$ with $p = (q^n - 1)/(q - 1)$ and $n \ge 2$	38
7.2.	The case $H = PSU_n(q)$ with $p = (q^n + 1)/(q + 1), n \ge 3, (n, q) \ne (3, 2)$	39

Date: March 6, 2017.

Key words and phrases. Artin-Wedderburn theorem, irreducible representations, automorphic representations, Galois representations, adequate representations, complete reducibility, indecomposable module.

The first author was partially supported by NSF grants DMS-1001962, DMS-1302886 and the Simons Foundation Fellowship 224965. He also thanks the Institute for Advanced Study for its support. The second author was partially supported by a Sloan Fellowship and an NSERC grant. The third author was partially supported by the NSF grant DMS-1201374 and the Simons Foundation Fellowship 305247.

We thank Barry Mazur and Jack Thorne for thoughtful discussion of various questions considered in the paper, and Frank Lübeck and Klaus Lux for help with several computations. We also thank the referee for careful reading of the paper.

²⁰¹⁰ Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary 20C20; Secondary 11F80.

7.3. The case $H = \mathrm{SL}_2(q)$ and $p = q - 1 \ge 3$	40
7.4. The case $H = A_p$ with $p \ge 7$	40
8. Indecomposable modules of dimension less than $2p-2$	40
9. Adequacy for $SL_2(q)$	48
10. Adequacy for $SL_n(q)$	51
11. Asymptotic adequacy	52
References	55

1. Introduction

Throughout the paper, let k be a field of characteristic p and let V be a finite dimensional vector space over k. Let $\rho: G \to \operatorname{GL}(V)$ be an absolutely irreducible representation. Thorne [59] called (G, V) is adequate if the following conditions hold (we rephrase the conditions slightly by combining two of the properties into one):

- (i) p does not divide dim V;
- (ii) $\operatorname{Ext}_G^1(V, V) = 0$; and
- (iii) End(V) is spanned by the elements $\rho(g)$ with $\rho(g)$ semisimple.

If G is a finite group of order prime to p, then it is well known that (G, V) is adequate. In this case, condition (iii) is often referred to as Burnside's Lemma, and it is a trivial consequence of the Artin-Wedderburn Theorem. Furthermore, if G is a connected algebraic group over k and V is a faithful, absolutely irreducible rational G-module of dimension coprime to p, then (G, V) is adequate (cf. [21, Theorem 1.2] and Theorem 11.5).

These conditions are a weakening of the conditions used by Wiles and Taylor in studying the automorphic lifts of certain Galois representations. See [9] for some applications. Thorne [59] generalized various results assuming the weaker hypotheses for p odd. We refer the reader to [59] for more references and details. See also [12] for further applications. Recently Thorne [60, Corollary 7.3] has shown that one can relax the condition that $p \nmid (\dim V)$, still with p odd. So more generally, we say that an absolutely irreducible representation $\rho: G \to \operatorname{GL}(V)$ is adequate if:

- (i) $H^1(G, k) = 0$;
- (ii) $H^1(G, (V^* \otimes V)/k) = 0;$
- (iii) End(V) is spanned by the elements $\rho(g)$ with $\rho(g)$ semisimple.

Note that we allow the case p = 2 in the definition. Thorne has used this extended notion of adequacy to prove an automorphy lifting theorem for 2-adic Galois representations of unitary type over imaginary CM fields, see [60, Theorem 5.1].

Observe that if $p \nmid (\dim V)$, k is a direct summand of $V^* \otimes V$. Thus, $\operatorname{Ext}_G^1(V,V) = 0$ implies that $H^1(G,k) = 0$ in this case. Also note that, by the long exact sequence in cohomology, if $H^2(G,k) = 0$, then $H^1(G,(V^* \otimes V)/k) = 0$ follows from $\operatorname{Ext}_G^1(V,V) = 0$. Thus, under the assumption that either $p \nmid (\dim V)$ or $H^i(G,k) = 0$ for i = 1, 2, adequacy is equivalent to the two conditions:

- (i) $\operatorname{Ext}_{G}^{1}(V, V) = 0;$
- (ii) End(V) is spanned by the elements $\rho(g)$ with $\rho(g)$ semisimple.

Following [20], we say that the representation $\rho: G \to \operatorname{GL}(V)$, respectively the pair (G, V), is weakly adequate if $\operatorname{End}(V)$ is spanned by the elements $\rho(g)$ with $\rho(g)$ semisimple. It was shown in [22, Theorem 9] that:

Theorem 1.1. Let k be a field of characteristic p and G a finite group. Let V be an absolutely irreducible faithful kG-module. Let G^+ denote the subgroup generated by the p-elements of G. If dim $W \leq (p-3)/2$ for an absolutely irreducible kG^+ -submodule W of V, then (G,V) is adequate.

The example $G = \operatorname{SL}_2(p)$ with V irreducible of dimension (p-1)/2 shows that the previous theorem is best possible. However, the counterexamples are rare. In fact, as shown in [23, Corollary 1.5], if dim V < p-3, then the $(p\pm 1)/2$ -dimensional representations of $\operatorname{SL}_2(p)$ are the only two counterexamples. More precisely, in [23] we extend Theorem 1.1 to the more general situation that dim W < p and show that almost always (G, V) is adequate:

Theorem 1.2. Let k be a field of characteristic p and G a finite group. Let V be an absolutely irreducible faithful kG-module, and let G^+ denote the subgroup generated by the p-elements of G. Suppose that the dimension d of any irreducible kG^+ -submodule in V is less than p. Then the following statements hold.

- (i) (G, V) is weakly adequate.
- (ii) Let W be an irreducible $\overline{k}G^+$ -submodule of $V \otimes_k \overline{k}$. Then (G, V) is adequate, unless the group $H < \operatorname{GL}(W)$ induced by the action of G^+ on W is as described in one of the exceptional cases (a), (b)(i)–(vi) listed in [23, Theorem 1.3]. In particular, if d and <math>(G, V) is not adequate, then $d = (p \pm 1)/2$ and $H \cong \operatorname{SL}_2(p)$ or $\operatorname{PSL}_2(p)$.

Above the threshold p-1 for dim W, there are lots of linear groups that are not adequate. Still, if dim V=p, the situation is very much under control. In this paper, we extend adequacy results to the case of linear groups of degree p and generalize the asymptotic result [21, Theorem 1.2] to disconnected algebraic groups \mathcal{G} (with $p \nmid [\mathcal{G} : \mathcal{G}^0]$) allowing at the same time that p divides the dimension of the \mathcal{G} -module. Next, we show that, in all cases considered in Theorem 1.2, under some additional mild condition (say, G is not p-solvable if p is a Fermat prime, and p > 5), one in fact has dim $\operatorname{Ext}_G^1(V, V) \leq 1 - a$ result of interest in the deformation theory. An outgrowth of our results leads us to prove an analogue of the first author's result [19] and answer a question of Serre on complete reducibility of finite subgroups of orthogonal and symplectic groups of small degree. In fact, we essentially classify indecomposable modules in characteristic p of dimension less than 2p-2.

Note that if the kernel of ρ has order prime to p, then there is no harm in passing to the quotient. So we will generally assume that either ρ is faithful or more generally has kernel of order prime to p. Also, note that the dimension of cohomology groups and the dimension of the span of the semisimple elements in G in $\operatorname{End}(V)$ does not change under extension of scalars. Hence, most of the time we will work over an algebraically closed field k.

Our main results are the following. First we show that the condition that $H^1(G, k) = 0$ in the definition of adequacy is not particularly constraining if dim V is small. In particular,

the next result follows fairly easily from [19] (see [20, Theorem 4.1]). See Theorem 4.10 for a slightly more general result.

Theorem 1.3. Let G be a finite irreducible subgroup of $GL_d(k)$ with k algebraically closed of characteristic p. Assume that $H^1(G, k) \neq 0$ and d < 2p-2. Then G is solvable, d = p-1, p or p+1 and one of the following holds:

- (i) d = p 1, $p = 2^a + 1$ is a Fermat prime, $[G : \mathbf{Z}(G)\mathbf{O}_2(G)] = p$ and $\mathbf{O}_2(G)$ is a group of symplectic type with $\mathbf{O}_2(G)/\mathbf{Z}(\mathbf{O}_2(G))$ (elementary) abelian of order 2^{2a} ;
- (ii) d = p and G has a normal abelian p'-subgroup of index p;
- (iii) d = p + 1, $p = 2^a 1$ is a Mersenne prime, and G contains a normal abelian p'-subgroup N such that G/N is a Frobenius group of order dp with kernel of order d.

The following curious corollary is immediate from Theorem 4.10. We suspect that there is a proof of this that does not require the classification of finite simple groups.

Corollary 1.4. Let G be a finite irreducible subgroup of $GL_d(k)$ with k algebraically closed of characteristic p and d < 2p - 2. Suppose that G has a composition factor of order p. Then G is solvable. Moreover, either d = p, or $d = 2^a$ with $p = d \pm 1$ (and so p is either a Mersenne prime or Fermat prime).

In the situation of Theorem 1.2, $\operatorname{Ext}_G^1(V,V)$ may be nonzero and so G may fail to be adequate. Nevertheless, we can prove the following two results, which were motivated by discussions with Mazur and which are of interest in deformation theory. (Recall [47, Section 1.2], for instance, that the inequality $\dim \operatorname{Ext}_G^1(V,V) \leq n$ implies that the universal deformation ring over the ring \mathcal{O} of integers of a sufficiently large finite extension of \mathbb{Q}_p is a quotient of $\mathcal{O}[[x_1,\ldots,x_n]]$. See also [6, Theorem 2.4].)

Theorem 1.5. Let k be a field of characteristic p and G a finite group. Let V be an absolutely irreducible faithful kG-module, and let G^+ denote the subgroup generated by the p-elements of G. Suppose that the dimension d of any irreducible kG^+ -submodule W in V is less than p, and let H be the image of G^+ in GL(W).

- (i) Suppose the following conditions hold:
 - (a) If p is a Fermat prime, then G is not p-solvable (equivalently, H is not solvable);
 - (b) If p = 3, then $H \ncong SL_2(3^a)$ for all $a \ge 2$;
 - (c) If p = 5 and $\dim_k W = 4$, then $H \ncong \Omega_A^+(5)$.

Then $\dim_k \operatorname{Ext}_G^1(V,V) \leq 1$ and $\dim_k \operatorname{Ext}_G^1(V,V^*) \leq 1$. In particular, $H^1(G,\operatorname{Sym}^2(V))$ and $H^1(G,\wedge^2(V))$ are both at most 1-dimensional.

(ii) In the exceptional cases $(p, \dim_k W, H) = (5, 4, \Omega_4^+(5))$ or $(p, H) = (3, \operatorname{SL}_2(3^a))$ with $a \geq 2$, $\operatorname{Ext}_G^1(V, V)$ and $\operatorname{Ext}_G^1(V, V^*)$ are at most 2-dimensional.

Note that one cannot remove the conditions (a)–(c) in Theorem 1.5(i). In fact, in the case G is p-solvable of Theorem 1.5, $\operatorname{Ext}_G^1(V,V)$ and $\operatorname{Ext}_G^1(V,V^*)$ can be of arbitrarily large dimension. See Example 5.9. On the other hand, if $\dim_k W < (p-1)/2$ in Theorem 1.5, then $H^1(G,\operatorname{Sym}^2(V)) = H^1(G,\wedge^2(V)) = 0$, see Corollary 5.11.

In fact, we can show that both $\operatorname{Ext}_G^1(V,V)$ and $\operatorname{Ext}_G^1(V,V^*)$ are at most 1-dimensional in another situation, without any dimension condition, but instead with a condition on Sylow p-subgroups.

Theorem 1.6. Let k be a field of characteristic p and G a finite group. Let V be an absolutely irreducible faithful kG-module, and let G^+ denote the subgroup generated by the p-elements of G. Suppose that the image of G^+ in GL(W) for some irreducible G^+ -submodule W of V has Sylow p-subgroups of order p, and that G has no composition factor of order p. Then $\dim_k \operatorname{Ext}_G^1(V,V) \leq 1$ and $\dim_k \operatorname{Ext}_G^1(V,V^*) \leq 1$. In particular, $H^1(G,\operatorname{Sym}^2(V))$ and $H^1(G, \wedge^2(V))$ are both at most 1-dimensional.

Next we determine adequacy of linear groups of degree p:

Theorem 1.7. Let k be a field of characteristic p and G a finite group. Let V be an absolutely irreducible faithful kG-module with dim V = p. Then precisely one of the following holds:

- (i) (G, V) is adequate;
- (ii) G contains a normal abelian subgroup of index p;
- (iii) p = 3 and the image of G in PGL(V) is $PSL_2(9)$.

Extending the results of [23, §3], we prove in Corollary 9.4 that, aside from some exceptions with p = 2,3 and with $(q, \dim(V)) = (p, (p \pm 1)/2)$, all nontrivial irreducible representations of $\mathrm{SL}_2(q)$ over $\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q$ are adequate. This and other results on weak adequacy and on Ext^1 , and the dearth of examples where weak adequacy fails suggest that quite a lot of irreducible representations are indeed weakly adequate. (Currently, all but one counterexample to weak adequacy are induced modules, and the only primitive counterexample is given in [20].)

Finally, we classify all low dimensional self-dual indecomposable and non-irreducible kGmodules V with k algebraically closed of characteristic p and G a finite subgroup of GL(V)with $\mathbf{O}_p(G) = 1$.

First we recall one of the main results of [19] which settled a conjecture of Serre.

Theorem 1.8. Let k be a field of positive characteristic p. Let G be a subgroup of $GL_n(k) = GL(V)$ with no nontrivial normal unipotent subgroup and $p \ge n + 2$. Then V is completely reducible.

Serre asked for an analogous result for the other classical groups. The example $A_p < SO_p(k)$ shows that one cannot do too much better. We also see that there are reducible indecomposable self-dual $SL_2(p)$ -modules of dimensions p and $p \pm 1$ (contained in Sp for the dimension p-1 and SO in the other cases). Building on the methods used in computing Ext^1 , we can essentially classify the self-dual reducible indecomposable modules of dimension less than 2p-2.

Theorem 1.9. Let k be an algebraically closed field of characteristic p. Let V be a vector space over k with dim $V \leq 2p-3$. Suppose that G is a finite subgroup of GL(V) such that $\mathbf{O}_p(G) = 1$, and the kG-module V is indecomposable and self-dual but not irreducible. Then p > 3, G^+ is quasisimple, V_{G^+} is uniserial, and one of the following statements holds for some $U \cong U^* \in IBr_p(G^+)$.

- (i) $V_{G^+} = (k|U|k)$, and $(G^+, p, \dim U)$ is $(\mathrm{SL}_2(q), q-1, p+1)$, $(\mathsf{A}_p, p, p-2)$, $(\mathrm{SL}_n(q), (q^n-1)/(q-1), p-2)$, $(M_{11}, 11, 9)$, $(M_{23}, 23, 21)$, or $(\mathrm{PSL}_2(p), p, p-2)$.
- (ii) $V_{G^+} = (U|U)$. Furthermore, $(G^+, p, \dim U) = (\mathrm{SL}_2(q), q+1, p-2)$, $(2\mathsf{A}_7, 7, 4)$, $(\mathrm{PSL}_2(p), p \equiv \epsilon (\mathrm{mod}\, 4), (p+\epsilon)/2)$ or $(\mathrm{SL}_2(p), p \equiv \epsilon (\mathrm{mod}\, 4), (p-\epsilon)/2)$ with $\epsilon = +1$.

Moreover, V supports a non-degenerate G-invariant bilinear form that is either symmetric or alternating. Furthermore, all such forms have the same type, which is symmetric in all cases, except when $(G^+, p, \dim U) = ((P) \operatorname{SL}_2(p), p, (p-1)/2)$ in which case it is alternating. Conversely, all the listed cases give rise to reducible self-dual indecomposable modules of dimension < 2p - 2.

In particular, this gives a classification of all finite non- \mathcal{G} -cr subgroups for $\mathcal{G} = \operatorname{Sp}(V)$ or $\operatorname{SO}(V)$ with dim V < 2p-2, see Proposition 8.8 (recall that the notion of \mathcal{G} -cr subgroups was introduced by Serre in [56]). It also yields the following variant of the main result of [19]:

Corollary 1.10. Let k be an algebraically closed field of characteristic p and V a vector space over k with $d := \dim V \leq p-1$. Suppose G is a finite subgroup of GL(V) such that $\mathbf{O}_p(G) = 1$ and the kG-module V is self-dual. Then either the kG-module V is completely reducible, or d = p-1, $G^+ = (P) \operatorname{SL}_2(p)$, and any G-invariant non-degenerate bilinear form on V must be alternating.

In Theorem 1.9 and Corollary 1.10, the notation (P) $SL_2(p)$ means $SL_2(p)$ if $p \equiv 1 \pmod{4}$ and $PSL_2(p)$ if $p \equiv 3 \pmod{4}$.

This paper is organized as follows. In §2, we describe the structure of quasisimple linear groups of degree at most 2p. We collect various facts concerning extensions and self-extensions of simple modules in §3 and prove Theorem 1.3 in §4. Theorems 1.5 and 1.6 are proved in §5. Adequacy of linear groups of degree p is discussed in §6; in particular, we prove Theorem 1.7. In the next §7, we describe the PIMs for various simple modules of simple groups. These data are used in §8 to classify reducible self-dual indecomposable modules of dimension at most 2p-3, cf. Theorem 1.9, and to classify the finite non- \mathcal{G} -cr subgroups of symplectic and orthogonal groups in dimensions at most 2p-3, cf. Proposition 8.8 and Corollary 1.10. §9 is devoted to proving weak adequacy of $SL_2(q)$ -representations, cf. Proposition 9.1. In §10, we show that almost always the natural module for $SL_n(q)$ is adequate. In §11, we prove Theorem 11.5 concerning adequacy of (possibly disconnected) reductive algebraic groups and asymptotic adequacy.

Notation. If V is a kG-module and $X \leq G$ is a subgroup, then V_X denote the restriction of V to X. The containments $X \subset Y$ (for sets) and X < Y (for groups) are strict. Fix a prime p and an algebraically closed field k of characteristic p. Then for any finite group G, $\mathrm{IBr}_p(G)$ is the set of isomorphism classes of irreducible kG-representations (or their Brauer characters, depending on the context), $\mathfrak{d}_p(G)$ denotes the smallest degree of nontrivial $\varphi \in \mathrm{IBr}_p(G)$, $\mathcal{P}(\varphi)$ is the principal indecomposable module (PIM) corresponding to φ , and $B_0(G)$ denotes the principal p-block of G. Sometimes we use $\mathbbm{1}$ to denote the principal representation. $\mathbf{O}_p(G)$ is the largest normal p-subgroup of G, $\mathbf{O}^p(G)$ is the smallest normal subgroup N of G subject to G/N being a p-group, and similarly for $\mathbf{O}_{p'}(G)$ and

 $\mathbf{O}^{p'}(G) = G^+$. Furthermore, the *Fitting subgroup* F(G) is the largest nilpotent normal subgroup of G, and E(G) is the product of all subnormal quasisimple subgroups of G, so that $F^*(G) = F(G)E(G)$ is the *generalized Fitting subgroup* of G. Given a finite-dimensional kG-representation $\Phi: G \to \mathrm{GL}(V)$, we denote by \mathcal{M} the k-span

$$\langle \Phi(g) \mid \Phi(g) \text{ semisimple} \rangle_k$$
.

If M is a finite length module over a ring R, then define $soc_i(M)$ by $soc_0(M) = 0$ and $soc_j(M)/soc_{j-1}(M) = soc(M/soc_{j-1}(M))$. If $M = soc_j(M)$ with j minimal, we say that j is the socle length of M. If V is a vector space endowed with a non-degenerate quadratic form, then O(V) denotes the full isometry group of the form. For a linear algebraic group \mathcal{G} , \mathcal{G}^0 denotes the connected component containing the identity.

2. Linear groups of low degree

First we recall the description of absolutely irreducible non-solvable linear groups of degree less than p = char(k), relying on the main result of Blau and Zhang [5]:

Theorem 2.1. [23, Theorem 2.1]. Let W be a faithful, absolutely irreducible kH-module for a finite group H with $\mathbf{O}^{p'}(H) = H$. Suppose that $1 < \dim W < p$. Then one of the following cases holds, where $P \in \mathrm{Syl}_p(H)$.

- (a) p is a Fermat prime, |P| = p, $H = \mathbf{O}_{p'}(H)P$ is solvable, $\dim W = p-1$, and $\mathbf{O}_{p'}(H)$ is absolutely irreducible on W.
 - (b) |P| = p, dim W = p 1, and one of the following conditions holds:
- (b1) $(H, p) = (SU_n(q), (q^n + 1)/(q + 1)), (Sp_{2n}(q), (q^n + 1)/2), (2A_7, 5), (3J_3, 19), or (2Ru, 29).$
 - (b2) p = 7 and $H = 6_1 \cdot PSL_3(4)$, $6_1 \cdot PSU_4(3)$, $2J_2$, $3A_7$, or $6A_7$.
 - (b3) p = 11 and $H = M_{11}$, $2M_{12}$, or $2M_{22}$.
 - (b4) p = 13 and $H = 6 \cdot Suz$ or $2G_2(4)$.
- (c) |P| = p, dim W = p 2, and $(H, p) = (PSL_n(q), (q^n 1)/(q 1))$, (A_p, p) , $(3A_6, 5)$, $(3A_7, 5)$, $(M_{11}, 11)$, or $(M_{23}, 23)$.
 - (d) $(H, p, \dim W) = (2A_7, 7, 4), (J_1, 11, 7).$
- (e) Extraspecial case: $|P| = p = 2^n + 1 \ge 5$, dim $W = 2^n$, $\mathbf{O}_{p'}(H) = R\mathbf{Z}(H)$, $R = [P, R]\mathbf{Z}(R) \in \mathrm{Syl}_2(\mathbf{O}_{p'}(H))$, [P, R] is an extraspecial 2-group of order 2^{1+2n} , $V_{[P,R]}$ is absolutely irreducible. Furthermore, $S := H/\mathbf{O}_{p'}(H)$ is simple non-abelian, and either $S = \mathrm{Sp}_{2a}(2^b)'$ or $\Omega_{2a}^-(2^b)'$ with ab = n, or $S = \mathrm{PSL}_2(17)$ and p = 17.
- (f) Lie(p)-case: $H/\mathbf{Z}(H)$ is a direct product of simple groups of Lie type in characteristic p.

Furthermore, in the cases (b)-(d), H is quasisimple with $\mathbf{Z}(H)$ a p'-group.

Now we prove the following result which extends Theorem 2.1 for quasisimple groups and is of independent interest. Note that the *complex* analogue of this result is given by [63, Theorem 8.1].

Theorem 2.2. Let p be a prime, H a finite quasisimple group of order divisible by p. Suppose W is a faithful, absolutely irreducible kH-module of dimension d, where $p \leq d \leq 2p$. Then one of the following statements holds.

- (i) H is a quasisimple group of Lie type in characteristic p.
- (ii) $(H, \dim(W), p)$ is as listed in Tables I, IIa, IIb, III, where the fourth column lists the number of isomorphism classes of W for each choice of $(H, \dim(W), p)$.

Proof. Let L be the universal covering group of $S := H/\mathbf{Z}(H)$ and let $\mathfrak{d}_p(L)$ denote the smallest degree of nontrivial absolutely irreducible kL-representations. Then

$$(2.1) 2p \ge \dim(W) \ge \mathfrak{d}_p(L).$$

This inequality will allow us to rule out the majority of the cases. We will assume that S is not isomorphic to any finite simple group of Lie type in characteristic p.

First, let S be a sporadic group. Then $\mathfrak{d}_p(L)$ is listed in [33]. Furthermore, $p \leq 71$ and so dim $W \leq 142$. Now the result follows from inspecting [31] and [34] (and also [49] for the three Conway groups), and is listed in Table III.

Assume now that $S = A_n$. The cases $5 \le n \le 13$ can be checked by inspecting [34], and the result is listed in Table I. If $14 \le n \le 16$, then $p \le 13$, dim $W \le 26$, and so the statement follows by inspecting [31]. So we may assume $n \ge 17$. In this case,

$$\dim W \le 2p \le 2n < (n^2 - 5n + 2)/2.$$

Hence, by [27, Lemma 6.1], W is the heart of the natural permutation module of $G = A_n$, yielding the first row of Table I.

Next suppose that S is an exceptional group of Lie type defined over \mathbb{F}_q . The cases $S \in \{^2B_2(8), G_2(3), G_2(4), ^3D_4(2), ^2F_4(2)', F_4(2)\}$ can be checked using [34] and lead to the last six rows of Table IIb. For all other groups, $\mathfrak{d}_p(L)$ is bounded below by the Landazuri-Seitz-Zalesskii bounds (see [61, Table II] for latest improvements) and one can check that (2.1) cannot hold. For instance, if $S = F_4(q)$ with $q \geq 3$, then $p \leq q^4 + 1$ whereas $\mathfrak{d}_p(L) \geq q^8 + q^4 - 2$.

From now on we may assume that S is a finite classical group defined over \mathbb{F}_q and $p \nmid q$. Suppose first that $S = \mathrm{PSL}_2(q)$. Using [34] we may assume that $q \geq 11$. If q is even, then $L = \mathrm{SL}_2(q)$ and each $\varphi \in \mathrm{IBr}_p(L)$ has degree q or $q \pm 1$, whereas $p \mid (q \pm 1)$. If in addition $p \neq q \pm 1$ then $2p \leq 2(q+1)/3 < q-1 \leq \dim(W)$, violating (2.1). So $p=q\pm 1$, and inspecting [7] we arrive at the first multi-row of Table IIa. Assume that q is odd. Then again $L = \mathrm{SL}_2(q)$, and we also get additional possibilities $\varphi(1) = (q \pm 1)/2$ for $\varphi \in \mathrm{IBr}_p(L)$. Note that $p \neq (q \pm 1)$, $(q \pm 1)/3$ (as $q \geq 11$ is odd) and (2.1) implies p > (q+1)/5 as $\mathfrak{d}_p(L) = (q-1)/2$. It follows that $p = (q \pm 1)/4$ or $p = (q \pm 1)/2$. A detailed analysis of $\mathrm{IBr}_p(L)$ leads to the 2nd and 3rd multi-rows of Table IIa.

Suppose now that $S = \mathrm{PSL}_n(q)$ with $n \geq 3$. Note that $\mathrm{SL}_4(2) \cong \mathsf{A}_8$. If (n,q) = (6,3), then $p \leq 13$ whereas $\mathfrak{d}_p(L) \geq 362$ by [26, Table III]. If (n,q) = (6,2), then $p \leq 31$, so [26, Table III] implies $(\dim W, p) = (62,31)$, as recorded in Table IIa (the 9th row). The cases $(n,q) = (3,q \leq 7)$, (4,3) can be checked using [34]. So we may assume that $(n,q) \neq (3,q \leq 7)$, (4,2), (4,3), (6,2), (6,3). In this case,

$$\dim W \le 2p \le \frac{2(q^n - 1)}{q - 1} < \begin{cases} (q^2 - 1)(q - 1)/\gcd(3, q - 1), & n = 3, \\ (q^3 - 1)(q - 1)/\gcd(2, q - 1), & n = 4, \\ (q^{n - 1} - 1)\left(\frac{q^{n - 2} - q}{q - 1} - 1\right), & n \ge 5. \end{cases}$$

Applying [26, Theorem 1.1], we see that W is one of the Weil modules of $L = SL_n(q)$, of dimension $(q^n - 1)/(q - 1) - a$ with a = 0, 1, 2. Note that

$$\frac{q^n-1}{q-1}-2> \max\left\{2(q+1), 2\cdot \frac{q^{n-2}-1}{q-1}, \frac{q^{n-1}-1}{q-1}, \frac{2}{3}\cdot \frac{q^n-1}{q-1}\right\}.$$

If $q \ge 3$, then $(q^n - 1)/(q - 1) - 2 > 2(q^{n-1} - 1)/(q - 1)$. Recall that $p \mid \prod_{i=1}^n (q^i - 1)$ and $p \le \dim W \le 2p$. So we arrive at one of the following possibilities:

- q = 2, $p = 2^{n-1} 1$, whence W is the unique Weil module of dimension 2p by [26, Theorem 1.1], leading to the 9th row of Table IIa;
- $p = (q^n 1)/(q 1)$, whence n is an odd prime, S = L, and W is one of q 2 Weil modules of dimension p by [26, Theorem 1.1], leading to the 8th row of Table IIa;
 - $2p = (q^n 1)/(q 1)$. Here, q is odd and n must be even, but then

$$\frac{q^n - 1}{2(q - 1)} = \frac{q^n - 1}{q^2 - 1} \cdot \frac{q + 1}{2}$$

cannot be a prime.

Next suppose that $S = \mathrm{PSU}_n(q)$ with $n \geq 3$. The cases $(n,q) = (3, q \leq 5)$, $(4, q \leq 3)$, (5,2), (6,2) can be checked using [34]. So we may assume that none of these cases occurs. Now observe that if $n = p = 3 \mid (q+1)$ then $2p < (q-1)(q^2 + 3q + 2)/6$, and furthermore

$$2p \leq \frac{2(q^n - (-1)^n)}{q+1} < \begin{cases} (q-1)(q^2 - q + 1)/3, & n = 3, p \neq 3 \mid (q+1), \\ (2q^3 - q^2 + 2q - 3)/3, & n = 3, 3 \nmid (q+1) \\ \frac{(q^2 + 1)(q^2 - q + 1)}{\gcd(2, q - 1)} - 1, & n = 4, \\ \frac{(q^n - (-1)^n)(q^{n-1} - q^2)}{(q+1)(q^2 - 1)} - 1, & n \geq 5. \end{cases}$$

Applying [30, Theorem 16] and [24, Theorem 2.7], we conclude that W is one of the Weil modules of $L = SU_n(q)$, of dimension $(q^n - (-1)^n)/(q+1) - b$ with $b = 0, \pm 1$. Note that

$$\frac{q^n - (-1)^n}{q+1} - 1 > \max \left\{ 2(q+1), \frac{2(q^{n-2} - (-1)^n)}{q+1}, \frac{q^{n-1} + (-1)^n}{q+1}, \frac{2(q^n - (-1)^n)}{3(q+1)} \right\}.$$

If $q \geq 3$, then

$$\frac{q^n - (-1)^n}{q+1} - 1 > 2 \cdot \frac{q^{n-1} - (-1)^{n-1}}{q+1}.$$

Recall that $p \mid \prod_{i=2}^{n} (q^i - (-1)^i)$ and $p \leq \dim W \leq 2p$. So we arrive at one of the following possibilities:

- q = 2, $p = (2^{n-1} (-1)^{n-1})/3$; in particular, $n 1 \ge 5$ is a prime. Hence W is either the unique Weil module of dimension 2p, or one of the two Weil modules of dimension 2p 1, leading to the 11th and 12th rows of Table IIa;
- $p = (q^n (-1)^n)/(q+1)$, whence n is an odd prime, S = L, and W is one of q Weil modules of dimension p, yielding the 10th row of Table IIa;
 - $2p = (q^n (-1)^n)/(q+1)$. Here, q is odd and n must be even, but then

$$\frac{q^n - (-1)^n}{2(q+1)} = \frac{q^{n/2} - (-1)^{n/2}}{q+1} \cdot \frac{q^{n/2} + (-1)^{n/2}}{2}$$

H	$\dim W$	p	Class number
A_n	$n - \left\{ \begin{array}{ll} 2, & p \mid n \\ 1, & p \nmid n \end{array} \right.$	$\frac{n-1}{2} \le p \le n-1$	1
A_5	3	3	2
$2A_5$	6	3	1
A_6	5, resp. 8, 10	5	2, resp. 1, 1
$2A_6$	10	5	2
$3A_6$	6	5	2
6A ₆	6	5	4
A_7	4	2	2
A_7	8, resp. 10	5	1, resp. 2
A_7	10, resp. 14	7	1, resp. 2
$2A_7$	4, resp. 6	3	2
2A ₇	14	7	2
$3A_7$	6	5	2
3A ₇	9	7	2
6A ₇	6	5	4
A_8	14	7	1
2A ₈	8	5, 7	1
$2A_9$	8	5, 7	2
$2A_{10}$	8	5	2
$2A_{11}$	16	11	1

Table I. Quasisimple linear groups: Alternating groups

cannot be a prime.

Now let $S = \mathrm{PSp}_{2n}(q)$ with $n \geq 2$. Note that $\mathrm{Sp}_4(2)' \cong \mathsf{A}_6$ and $\mathrm{PSp}_4(3) \cong \mathrm{SU}_4(2)$. Also, the cases $(n,q)=(2,4),\ (3,2)$ can be checked using [34]. So we will assume that $(n,q) \neq (2,q \leq 4),\ (3,2)$. In this case,

$$\dim W \le 2p \le \frac{2(q^n+1)}{\gcd(2,q-1)} < \frac{(q^n-1)(q^n-q)}{2(q+1)}.$$

Using the Landazuri-Seitz-Zalesskii bound for $\operatorname{Sp}_{2n}(q)$ with $2 \mid q$ and applying [24, Theorem 2.1] to $\operatorname{Sp}_{2n}(q)$ with q odd, we now see that q must be odd and W is one of the Weil modules of $L = \operatorname{Sp}_{2n}(q)$, of dimension $(q^n \pm 1)/2$. So we arrive at the 4th–7th rows of Table IIa. Note in addition that if 2 then <math>q = 5 and n is an odd prime, and if $p = (q^n + 1)/4$ then q = 3 and n is again an odd prime. Similarly, if $p = (q^n - 1)/2$ then q = 3 and n is an odd prime, and if $p = (q^n + 1)/2$ then $n = 2^m$.

Now we may assume that $S = \Omega_{2n+1}(q)$ with $n \geq 3$, or $P\Omega_{2n}^{\pm}(q)$ with $n \geq 4$. Again, the cases of $\Omega_7(3)$ and $\Omega_8^{\pm}(2)$ can be checked directly using [34]. Aside from these cases, one can verify that (2.1) cannot hold.

Table IIa. Quasisimple linear groups: Groups of Lie type. I

Н	$\dim W$	p	Class number
$\frac{\operatorname{SL}_2(q)}{2 \mid q}$	$p \\ p$	$\begin{array}{c} q+1\\ q-1\end{array}$	$\frac{q/2-1}{q/2}$
2 4	p+1	q-1	1
	p	$(q \pm 1)/2$	2
$\mathrm{PSL}_2(q)$	2p-2	(q+1)/2	$\begin{array}{c c} 1 \\ 2 \end{array}$
$2 \nmid q$	2p-1	(q+1)/4	
·	$\begin{array}{c c} 2p \\ 2p \end{array}$		(q-3)/4
	p+1	$\frac{(q+1)/2}{(q-1)/2}$	(q-5)/4 2
$\mathrm{SL}_2(q)$	2p	$(q \pm 1)/2$	$\frac{2}{2}$
$2 \nmid q$	$\frac{1}{2p}$	(q-1)/2	(q+1)/4
	2p		(q-1)/4
$\operatorname{PSp}_{2n}(q), \ 2 \nmid q, \ n \ge 2$	p	$p = (q^{n} - 1)/2, q = 3$ $p = (q^{n} + 1)/2, n = 2^{m}$ $(3^{n} - 1)/2$ $(3^{n} + 1)/4$	2
$\operatorname{Sp}_{2n}(3)$, n odd prime	p+1	$(3^n - 1)/2$	2
$PSp_{2n}(3)$, n odd prime	2p - 1	$(3^n + 1)/4$	2
$\operatorname{Sp}_{2n}(q)$, n odd prime	2p	$p = (q^{n} - 1)/4, q = 3$ $p = (q^{n} + 1)/4, q = 5$ $q^{n} - 1$	2
$\operatorname{SL}_n(q)$ $n \text{ odd prime}$	p	$\frac{q^n-1}{q-1}$	q-2
$ SL_n(2) n-1 \ge 3 \text{ prime} $	2p	$2^{n-1} - 1$	1
$ SU_n(q) \\ n \text{ odd prime} $	p	$\frac{q^n+1}{q+1}$	q
$ \begin{array}{c} \operatorname{PSU}_n(2) \\ n-1 \ge 5 \text{ prime} \end{array} $	2p	$(2^{n-1}+1)/3$	1
$SU_n(2)$ $n-1 \ge 5 \text{ prime}$	2p - 1	$(2^{n-1}+1)/3$	2

3. Extensions and self-extensions

First we recall a convenient criterion concerning self-extensions in blocks of cyclic defect:

Lemma 3.1. [23, Lemma 7.1]. Suppose that G is a finite group and that V is an irreducible $\overline{\mathbb{F}}_pG$ -representation that belongs to a block of cyclic defect. Then $\operatorname{Ext}^1_G(V,V) \neq 0$ if and only if V admits at least two non-isomorphic lifts to characteristic zero. In this case, $\dim \operatorname{Ext}^1_G(V,V) = 1$.

The next observation is useful in various situations:

Lemma 3.2. Let $H \leq G$ be a subgroup of index coprime to $p = \operatorname{char}(k)$. Suppose that V is a kG-module and $V_H = V_1 \oplus V_2$ is a direct sum of two nonzero H-submodules, at least one of which is also stabilized by G. Then the G-module V is decomposable.

H	$\dim W$	p	Class number
$SL_3(3)$	16, resp. 26	13	1, resp. 3
$2 \cdot PSL_3(4)$	6	3	1
$2 \cdot PSL_3(4)$	10	5, resp. 7	2, resp. 1
$4_1 \cdot \mathrm{PSL}_3(4)$	8	5, resp. 7	2, resp. 4
$4_2 \cdot \mathrm{PSL}_3(4)$	4	3	2
$6 \cdot PSL_3(4)$	6	5	2
$PSL_4(3)$	26	13	2
$SU_3(3)$	14	7	1
$SU_4(2)$	10	5	2
504(2)	6	3	1
$6_1 \cdot \mathrm{PSU}_4(3)$	6	5	2
$SU_5(2)$	10	5	1
$\operatorname{Sp}_4(4)$	18, resp. 34	17	1, resp. 2
$\operatorname{Sp}_6(2)$	7	5, 7	1
$2 \cdot \operatorname{Sp}_6(2)$	8	5, 7	1
$2 \cdot \Omega_8^+(2)$	8	5, 7	1
$\Omega_{8}^{-}(2)$	34	17	1
$^{2}B_{2}(8)$	14	7, 13	2
$2 \cdot {}^{2}B_{2}(8)$	8	5	1
$\mathbf{Z} \cdot \mathbf{D}_2(\mathbf{G})$	16, 24	13	1
$G_2(3)$	14	7, 13	1
$2 \cdot G_2(4)$	12	7	1
${}^{2}\mathrm{F}_{4}(2)'$	26	13	2
$^{3}D_{4}(2)$	26	13	1

Table IIb. Quasisimple linear groups: Groups of Lie type. II

Proof. Suppose for instance that V_1 is stabilized by G, and consider the natural projection $\pi: V \to V_1$ along V_2 . Write $G = \sqcup_{i=1}^m g_i H$ where m := [G:H] is coprime to p, and let

$$\tilde{\pi} = \frac{1}{m} \sum_{i=1}^{m} g_i \pi g_i^{-1}.$$

It is straightforward to check that $\tilde{\pi}$ is G-equivariant, $\tilde{\pi}^2 = \tilde{\pi}$, and $\operatorname{Im}(\tilde{\pi}) = V_1$. Hence the G-module V decomposes as $V_1 \oplus \operatorname{Ker}(\tilde{\pi})$.

From now on we again assume that k is algebraically closed of characteristic p. First we record the following consequence of the Künneth formula, cf. [4, 3.5.6].

Lemma 3.3. Let H be a finite group. Assume that H is a central product of subgroups $H_i, 1 \leq i \leq t$, and that $\mathbf{Z}(H)$ is a p'-group. Let X and Y be irreducible kH-modules. Write $X = X_1 \otimes \ldots \otimes X_t$ and $Y = Y_1 \otimes \ldots \otimes Y_t$ where X_i and Y_i are irreducible kH_i -modules.

(i) If X_i and Y_i are not isomorphic for two distinct i, then $\operatorname{Ext}^1_H(X,Y)=0$.

H	$\dim W$	p	Class number
M_{11}	5	3	2
$2M_{12}$	2p	3, 5	2
$2J_2$	6	3, resp. 5	2, resp. 1
M_{11}	10	5	3
$2M_{22}$	10	5, resp. 7	2, resp. 1
M_{11}	11, 16	11	1
M_{12}	11, resp. 16	11	2, resp. 1
$2M_{12}$	12	11	1
6Suz	12	7, 11, 13	2
J_1	14	11	1
J_1	22, 34	19	1
J_2	14	7	2
$2J_2$	14	7	1
$3J_3$	18	17	4
M_{22}	20	11	1
$3M_{22}$	21	11	2
M_{23}	22	11	1
HS	22	11	1
McL	22	11	1
M_{24}	23, resp. 45	23	1, resp. 2
M_{23}	45	23	2
Co_3	23	23	1
Co_2	23	23	1
$2Co_1$	24	13, 23	1

Table III. Quasisimple linear groups: Sporadic groups

- (ii) If X_1 and Y_1 are not isomorphic but $X_i \cong Y_i$ for i > 1, then $\operatorname{Ext}^1_H(X,Y) \cong \operatorname{Ext}^1_{H_1}(X_1,Y_1)$.
- (iii) If $X_i \cong Y_i$ for all i, then $\operatorname{Ext}^1_H(X,Y) \cong \bigoplus_i \operatorname{Ext}^1_{H_i}(X_i,Y_i)$.

Lemma 3.4. Let G be a finite group with a normal subgroup $N = \mathbf{O}^p(N)$ and V be a kG-module. Suppose that N acts trivially on V. Then $H^1(G,V) \cong H^1(G/N,V)$.

Proof. Since N acts trivially on V, we have that $H^1(N,V) = \text{Hom}(N,V)$. Furthermore, Hom(N,V) = 0 as $\mathbf{O}^p(N) = N$. Now the inflation-restriction sequence in cohomology implies that the sequence

$$0 \to H^1(G/N, V) \to H^1(G, V) \to 0$$

is exact, whence the claim follows. (Note that if N is a p'-group, then the Hochschild-Serre spectral sequence degenerates, and so $H^i(G,V) \cong H^i(G/N,V^N)$ for all i. Similarly, if G/N is a p'-group, then $H^i(G,V) = H^i(N,V)^{G/N}$ for all i.)

Lemma 3.5. [23, Lemma 7.8]. Let V be a kG-module of finite length.

- (i) Suppose that X is a composition factor of V such that V has no indecomposable subquotient of length 2 with X as a composition factor. Then $V \cong X \oplus M$ for some submodule $M \subset X$.
- (ii) Suppose that $\operatorname{Ext}_G^1(X,Y)=0$ for any two composition factors X,Y of V. Then V is semisimple.
- **Lemma 3.6.** [23, Lemma 7.9]. Let V be a kG-module. Suppose that U is a composition factor of V of multiplicity 1, and that U occurs both in soc(V) and head(V). Then $V \cong U \oplus M$ for some submodule $M \subset V$.
- **Lemma 3.7.** Let G be group with a normal subgroup N of index coprime to p. Let k be an algebraically closed field of characteristic p, and let V be a kG-module of finite length.
- (i) V is semisimple if and only if V_N is semisimple. In particular, if V is reducible indecomposable, then V_N cannot be semisimple.
- (ii) Suppose V is reducible indecomposable. Then the N-module V has no simple direct summand.
- *Proof.* (i) The "only if" part is obvious. For the "if" part, suppose U is a G-submodule of V. Since V_N is semisimple, $V_N = U \oplus W$ for some N-submodule W. As U is G-stable, by Lemma 3.2 there is a G-submodule W' such that $V = U \oplus W'$.
- (ii) Consider a decomposition $V_N = \bigoplus_{i=1}^t U_i$ into indecomposable direct summands, and write $V = V_1 \oplus V_2$, where V_2 is the sum of those U_i 's which are simple and V_1 is the sum of the non-simple U_i 's. Assume that $V_2 \neq 0$.

Note that if U is any reducible indecomposable N-module, then $soc(U) \subseteq rad(U)$. Indeed, suppose a maximal submodule $M \subset U$ does not contain soc(U). Then $soc(U) = (M \cap soc(U)) \oplus W$ for some N-submodule $W \neq 0$, and $U = M \oplus W$ is decomposable, a contradiction. Applying this remark to the summands U_i in V_1 , we see that $soc(V_1) \subseteq rad(V_1)$. But V_2 is semisimple, so

$$\operatorname{soc}(V_1) = \operatorname{soc}(V_1) \cap \operatorname{rad}(V_1) = \operatorname{soc}(V) \cap \operatorname{rad}(V)$$

is G-stable. By Lemma 3.2, there is a G-submodule $V_2' \neq 0$ such that $\operatorname{soc}(V) = \operatorname{soc}(V_1) \oplus V_2'$. In this case, $V_N = V_1 \oplus V_2'$. Since V_2' is G-stable, again by Lemma 3.2 we have that $V = V_1' \oplus V_2'$ for some G-submodule V_1' . As V is indecomposable and $V_2' \neq 0$, we must have that $V_1' = 0$, whence $V_1 = 0$, $V_N = V_2$ is semisimple, contradicting (i).

Lemma 3.8. [23, Lemma 7.11]. Let V be an indecomposable kG-module.

- (i) If the G^+ -module V_{G^+} admits a composition factor L of dimension 1, then all composition factors of V_{G^+} belong to $B_0(G^+)$.
- (ii) Suppose a normal p'-subgroup N of G acts by scalars on a composition factor L of the G-module V. Then N acts by scalars on V. If in addition V is faithful then $N \leq \mathbf{Z}(G)$.

Corollary 3.9. Let V be an indecomposable kG-module of dimension $\leq 2p-3$. Suppose that $\mathfrak{d}_p(G^+) \geq p-3$. Then one of the following holds:

- (i) The G^+ -module V is irreducible.
- (ii) All composition factors of the G^+ -module V have dimension $\leq p$.
- (iii) All composition factors of the G^+ -module V belong to $B_0(G^+)$.

Proof. Suppose that dim U > p for a composition factor U of the G^+ -module V but $V|_{G^+}$ is reducible. Since $\dim(V) - \dim(U) \leq p - 4 < \mathfrak{d}_p(G^+)$, the G^+ -module V must have a composition factor L of dimension 1. Hence we are done by Lemma 3.8.

Finally, self-dual indecomposable modules of $SL_2(q)$ (where $q=p^n$) of low dimension are described in the following statement:

Proposition 3.10. [23, Proposition 8.2]. Suppose that V is a reducible, self-dual, indecomposable representation of $SL_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ over $\overline{\mathbb{F}}_p$, where $q=p^n$. If dim V<2p-2, then q=pand either of the following holds:

- (i) dim V = p and $V \cong \mathcal{P}(1)$.
- (ii) dim V = p + 1 and V is the unique nonsplit self-extension of $L\left(\frac{p-1}{2}\right)$. (iii) dim V = p 1 and V is the unique nonsplit self-extension of $L\left(\frac{p-3}{2}\right)$.

Conversely, all the listed cases give rise to examples.

4. Finite groups with indecomposable modules of dimension $\leq 2p-2$

Throughout this section, we assume that k is an algebraically closed field of characteristic p > 3. First we recall several intermediate results proved in [23]:

Lemma 4.1. [23, Lemma 9.1]. Let G be a finite group, p > 3, and V be a faithful kGmodule of dimension < 2p. Suppose that $\mathbf{O}_p(G) = 1$ and $\mathbf{O}_{p'}(G) \leq \mathbf{Z}(G)$. Then F(G) = $\mathbf{O}_{p'}(G) = \mathbf{Z}(G), F^*(G) = E(G)\mathbf{Z}(G), \text{ and } G^+ = E(G) \text{ is either trivial or a central product}$ of quasisimple groups of order divisible by p. In particular, G has no composition factor isomorphic to C_p and so $H^1(G,k)=0$.

Lemma 4.2. [23, Lemma 9.3]. Let V be a faithful indecomposable kG-module with two composition factors V_1, V_2 . Assume that $\mathbf{O}_p(G) = 1$ and dim $V \leq 2p-2$. If $J := \mathbf{O}_{p'}(G^+) \not\leq$ $\mathbf{Z}(G^+)$, then the following hold:

- (i) $p = 2^a + 1$ is a Fermat prime,
- (ii) $\dim V_1 = \dim V_2 = p 1$,
- (iii) $J/\mathbf{Z}(J)$ is elementary abelian of order 2^{2a} ,
- (iv) $H^1(G^+, k) \neq 0$.

Lemma 4.3. [23, Lemma 9.5]. Let H be a quasisimple finite group of Lie type in char p>3. Assume that $V_1,V_2\in \mathrm{IBr}_p(H)$ satisfy $\dim V_1+\dim V_2<2p$.

- (i) If $H \ncong \mathrm{SL}_2(q)$, $\mathrm{PSL}_2(q)$, then $\mathrm{Ext}^1_H(V_1,V_2)=0$. In particular, there is no reducible indecomposable kG-module V with $G^+ \cong H$ and dim V < 2p.
- (ii) Suppose $H \cong SL_2(q)$ or $PSL_2(q)$, $Ext^1_H(V_1, V_2) \neq 0$, and $\dim V_1 = \dim V_2$. Then $q = p \text{ and } V_1 = L((p-3)/2) \text{ or } L((p-1)/2).$

Proposition 4.4. [23, Proposition 9.7]. Let p > 3 and let G be a finite group with a faithful, reducible, indecomposable kG-module V of dimension $\leq 2p-3$. Suppose in addition that $\mathbf{O}_{p}(G) = 1$. Then $G^{+} = E(G^{+})$, G has no composition factor isomorphic to C_{p} , and one of the following holds.

(i) G^+ is quasisimple.

(ii) G^+ is a central product of two quasisimple groups and dim V=2p-3. Furthermore, V has one composition factor of dimension 1, and either one of dimension 2p-4 or two of dimension p-2. In either case, $V \ncong V^*$.

Corollary 4.5. Let k be a field of characteristic p and let V be a faithful reducible indecomposable kG-module of a finite group G with $\mathbf{O}_p(G)=1$. If dim $V\leq 2p-3$, then V_{G^+} is indecomposable.

Proof. Assume the contrary. Then we can pick an indecomposable direct summand U of dimension $\leq p-2$ of V_{G^+} and let $H \leq \operatorname{GL}(U)$ be the image of G^+ acting on U. By Proposition 4.4, G has no composition factors isomorphic to C_p . Hence $\mathbf{O}_p(H)=1$. Since the kH-module U is faithful and indecomposable, U is simple by [19, Theorem A]. But this contradicts Lemma 3.7(ii).

Recall that a *component* of a finite group is any subnormal quasisimple subgroup. We first note that:

Lemma 4.6. Let G be an irreducible subgroup of $GL(V) \cong GL_d(k)$ with k algebraically closed of characteristic p. Assume that $G = \mathbf{O}^{p'}(G)$ and that G has a component of order coprime to p. Then $d \geq 2p$.

Proof. Assume the contrary: d < 2p. Write $E(G) = E_1 * E_2$, where E_1 is a central product of all components of G of order coprime to p and E_2 is the product of the remaining components; in particular, $1 \neq E_1 \triangleleft G$. Since G is generated by p-elements, there is a p-element x not centralizing E_1 . Let W be an irreducible constituent of V_{E_1} . Since d < 2p and $\dim W \geq 2$, $xW \cong W$.

Now write $E_1 = Q_1 * ... * Q_n$ as a central product of n components and $W \cong W_1 \otimes ... \otimes W_n$, where W_i is an irreducible kQ_i -module. Note that x acts on the set $\{Q_1, ..., Q_n\}$. If this action is nontrivial, then $\dim W \geq 2p$. (Indeed, we may assume that x permutes $Q_1, ..., Q_m$ cyclically for some $p \leq m \leq n$, and, replacing W by another E_1 -summand of V if necessary, that Q_1 acts nontrivially on W, i.e. $\dim W_1 \geq 2$. Since $xW \cong W$, this implies that $\dim W_i \geq 2$ for $1 \leq i \leq m$, whence $\dim W \geq 2^m \geq 2^p \geq 2p$.) Thus we may assume that x normalizes each Q_i , but does not centralize Q_1 . It follows that Q_1 is a quasisimple p'-group with a nontrivial outer automorphism of p-power order; in particular, p > 2. If p = 3, then $Q_1 \cong {}^2B_2(2^{2a+1})$ and $\dim W_1 \geq 14$. So p > 3 and, using the description of outer automorphisms of finite simple groups [18, Theorem 2.5.12], we see that Q_1 is a quasisimple group of Lie type over a field of size q^p for some prime power q. Now applying [42], we see that $\dim W_1 \geq 2p$.

The proof of Lemma 4.6 certainly depends on the classification of finite simple groups. We note the following result which does not require the classification:

Lemma 4.7. Let $k = \bar{k}$ be of characteristic p and let G be a finite irreducible p-solvable subgroup of $GL(V) \cong GL_n(k)$ of order divisible by p. Then $n \geq p-1$.

Proof. We may assume that p > 2. By a result of Isaacs [50, Theorem 10.6], V has a p-rational lift to characteristic 0. But then by [11], the Jordan blocks of any element $g \in G$ of order p acting on V have sizes 1, p-1, or p. So if n < p-1, then g acts trivially on V, a contradiction.

In what follows, we will slightly abuse the language by also considering C_p as a Frobenius group with kernel of order p.

Lemma 4.8. Let p > 2 be a prime and let G be a transitive subgroup of S_n with n < 2p. Assume that G has a composition factor of order p. Then one of the following holds.

- (i) n = p and G is a Frobenius group of order pe for some $e \mid (p-1)$ with kernel of order p.
- (ii) $p = 2^a 1$ is a Mersenne prime and $n = 2^a = p + 1$. Moreover, soc(G) is a regular elementary abelian subgroup of order n, $G = soc(G) \rtimes G_1$, and G_1 is a Frobenius group of order pe for some $e \mid a$, with kernel of order p. If $H^1(G, k) \neq 0$, then |G| = np.

Proof. Note that G is primitive and contains a p-cycle. Hence we can apply [65] and see that either (i) holds, or $n = 2^a = p + 1$ and $G = \operatorname{soc}(G) \rtimes G_1$, with $\operatorname{soc}(G) \cong C_2^a$ being regular, and $G_1 \leq \operatorname{GL}_a(2)$ has C_p as a composition factor. Applying [38] to G_1 , we arrive at (ii).

Lemma 4.9. Let $S := \operatorname{Sp}_{2a}(2)$ with $p = 2^a \pm 1$ and let $V = \mathbb{F}_2^{2a}$ denote the natural module for S. Let $X \leq S$ be a group with C_p as a composition factor and p > 3. Then there is a normal elementary abelian 2-subgroup E < X such that X/E is a Frobenius group of order pe with kernel of order p, where $e \mid 2a$. Furthermore, if $E \neq 1$ then $p = 2^a - 1$. Moreover, X acts reducibly on V precisely when $p = 2^a - 1$ and either $E \neq 1$ or |X| is odd, in which case X stabilizes a maximal totally isotropic subspace of V.

Proof. (a) It is easy to see that $Y := \mathbf{O}^{p'}(X)$ can be reducible on V only when $p = 2^a - 1$. Let $P \in \operatorname{Syl}_p(X)$ and consider the action of X on the natural module $V = \mathbb{F}_2^{2a}$ for S. If $P \triangleleft X$, then X is contained in $\mathbf{N}_S(P)$, a Frobenius group of order 2ap, in which case we set E = 1. It follows that, if $p = 2^a - 1$ in addition, then X is reducible on V precisely when |X| is odd. So we will assume that $P \not \supseteq X$. It follows that $P \not \supseteq Y := \mathbf{O}^{p'}(X)$.

Suppose that the Y-module V is reducible, and so $p=2^a-1$ and $a\geq 3$ is odd. Then Y stabilizes a proper subspace $U\neq 0$ of V of dimension $\leq a$. Choosing U minimal, we see that U is irreducible over Y. If $U\cap U^\perp=0$, then Y is contained in the p'-subgroup $\operatorname{Sp}(U)\times\operatorname{Sp}(U^\perp)$, a contradiction. Hence $U\subseteq U^\perp$. Now if $\dim U < a$ then Y is contained in the p'-subgroup $\operatorname{Stab}_S(U)$, again a contradiction. Thus $\dim U=a$ and U is a maximal totally isotropic subspace. Setting $Q:=\mathbf{O}_2(R)$ for $R:=\operatorname{Stab}_S(U)$ and $F:=Q\cap Y$, we see that F is an elementary abelian 2-subgroup and Y/F is a subgroup of $R/Q\cong\operatorname{GL}_a(2)$ with C_p as a composition factor. By the main result of [38], Y/F is a Frobenius group of order pb for some $b\mid a$. In particular, |Y/F| is odd and so $F=\mathbf{O}_2(Y)\lhd X$. Note that $F\neq 1$ as otherwise $P\lhd Y$, a contradiction. Also, Y/F acts irreducibly on V/U. Since Y/F acts on $\mathbf{C}_V(F)\supseteq U$ and $F\neq 1$, it follows that $\mathbf{C}_V(F)=U$ and so U is fixed by X. Thus $X\leq R$ and we are done by setting $E:=Q\cap X\geq F$.

(b) From now on we may assume that V_Y is irreducible. Hence V is absolutely irreducible over $k_0 := \operatorname{End}_{\mathbb{F}_2Y}(V)$. We will consider V as a b-dimensional vector space V' over k_0 (for some $b \mid 2a$). Thus $W := V' \otimes_{k_0} k$ is an irreducible kY-module for $k := \bar{k}_0$. Observe that $b \le 2a \le p-1$. Also, $\mathbf{Z}(Y)$ is cyclic by Schur's lemma.

Note that if $N \triangleleft Y$ then the N-module W is homogeneous. Indeed, V_N is the direct sum of $t \leq b < p$ homogeneous N-components V_i . Hence any p-element $1 \neq g \in Y$ stabilizes each V_i , whence V_i is fixed by $Y = \mathbf{O}^{p'}(Y)$ and t = 1.

(c) Now we show E(Y) = 1. Suppose $E(Y) \neq 1$ and write $E(Y) = L_1 * ... * L_n$, a central product of n quasisimple groups. Since $|S|_p = p$ and C_p is a composition factor of Y, E(Y) is a p'-group. By (b), $W_{E(Y)} \cong e(W_1 \otimes ... \otimes W_n)$, where W_i is an irreducible kL_i -module of dimension ≥ 2 . Hence $b \geq 2^n$ and so n < p. It follows that every p-element $1 \neq g \in Y$ normalizes each L_i , and so does Y. On the other hand, if Y centralizes L_i , then $L_i \leq \mathbf{Z}(Y)$, a contradiction. So some p-element $1 \neq g \in Y$ normalizes but does not centralize L_1 . As in the proof of Lemma 4.6, we see that L_1 is a quasisimple group of Lie type defined over \mathbb{F}_q with $q = r^{cp}$ for some prime r and some integer c, and conclude that $\dim W_1 > p$ when $r \neq 2$. If r = 2, then by [66], $|L_1|$ is divisible by some prime divisor ℓ of $2^p - 1$ that does not divide $\prod_{i=1}^{p-1} (2^i - 1)$, whence $\ell \nmid |S|$, again a contradiction.

Next we observe that every normal abelian subgroup A of Y must be central and so cyclic. Indeed, A acts by scalars on W by (b), and so $A \leq \mathbf{Z}(Y)$.

(d) We have shown that $F^*(Y) = F(Y)$. Now if p divides |F(Y)|, then since $|S|_p = p$, $P = \mathbf{O}_p(F(Y)) \lhd Y$, a contradiction. Also, if $F(Y) \leq \mathbf{Z}(Y)$, then $Y \leq \mathbf{C}_Y(F(Y)) \leq F(Y)$, and so Y = F(Y) is nilpotent, again a contradiction. So F(Y) is a p'-group and moreover $N := \mathbf{O}_r(F(Y))$ is non-central in Y for some prime $r \neq p$. By (c), every characteristic abelian subgroup of N is cyclic. Hence by Hall's theorem, N = F * D, where F is an extraspecial r-group, and either D is cyclic, or r = 2 and C is dihedral, generalized quaternion, or semi-dihedral. Arguing as in part (3) of the proof of [25, Theorem 6.7], we can find a characteristic subgroup L of N such that $L = \mathbf{Z}(L)E$, where E is an extraspecial r-group of order r^{2c+1} for some $c \geq 1$ and $\mathbf{Z}(L)$ is cyclic. Note that $\mathbf{Z}(L) \leq \mathbf{Z}(Y)$ by (c). It also follows by (b) that $r^c \mid b$ and $r \neq 2$, whence $a \geq 3$ must be odd (recall that $p = 2^a \pm 1$ is prime). As $L \not\leq \mathbf{Z}(Y)$, some p-element $1 \neq g \in Y$ normalizes but does not centralize L, and centralizes $\mathbf{Z}(L)$. It follows that p divides the order of the group $\mathrm{Out}_c(L)$ of outer automorphisms of L that act trivially on $\mathbf{Z}(L)$. Since $\mathrm{Out}_c(L) \hookrightarrow \mathrm{Sp}_{2c}(r)$, we get $p \mid (r^d \pm 1)$ for some $d \leq c$. Since $p \geq 2^a - 1$ and $r^c \mid a$, we arrive at a contradiction.

Now we can prove Theorem 1.3 in a slightly stronger version.

Theorem 4.10. Let G be a finite irreducible subgroup of $GL(V) \cong GL_d(k)$ with k algebraically closed of characteristic p > 3. Assume that G has a composition factor of order p and d < 2p - 2. Then d = p - 1, p or p + 1, a Sylow p-subgroup of G has order p, G is solvable and one of the following holds:

- (i) d = p 1, $p = 2^a + 1$ is a Fermat prime, $F^*(G) = \mathbf{Z}(G)\mathbf{O}_2(G)$, $G/F^*(G)$ is a Frobenius group of order pe for some $e \mid 2a$ with kernel of order p, and $\mathbf{O}_2(G)$ is a group of symplectic type with $\mathbf{O}_2(G)/\mathbf{Z}(\mathbf{O}_2(G)) \cong C_2^{2a}$;
- (ii) d = p and G has a normal abelian p'-subgroup $N = F^*(G)$ such that G/N is a Frobenius group of order pe for some $e \mid (p-1)$ with kernel of order p;
- (iii) d = p + 1, $p = 2^a 1$ is a Mersenne prime and one of

- (a) G has an abelian normal p'-subgroup N, where the action of G/N on the d distinct eigenspaces of N induces a subgroup of S_d as described in Lemma 4.8; or
- (b) $F^*(G) = \mathbf{Z}(G)\mathbf{O}_2(G)$, $G/F^*(G)$ is a Frobenius group of order 2bp for some $b \mid a$ with kernel of order p, and $\mathbf{O}_2(G)$ is a group of symplectic type with $\mathbf{O}_2(G)/\mathbf{Z}(\mathbf{O}_2(G)) \cong C_2^{2a}$.

Moreover, $H^1(G, k) \neq 0$ if and only if one of the conclusions of Theorem 1.3 holds.

- Proof. (a) First we show that G^+ is irreducible on V. To this end, let W be an irreducible summand of V_{G^+} . Also let K_1 and K_2 denote the kernel of the action of G^+ on W and on a G^+ -invariant complement V' to W in V. Then $K_1 \cap K_2 = 1$ and so K_1 embeds in G^+/K_2 as a normal subgroup. Since C_p is a composition factor of G^+ , it follows that it is a composition factor of G^+/K_1 or of G^+/K_2 . Replacing W by another irreducible G^+ -summand in V' if necessary, we may assume that G^+/K_1 has a composition factor of order p. Then dim $W \geq p-1$ by Theorem 2.1. This is true for all other irreducible G^+ -summands in V and dim V < 2p-2, whence the claim follows. In particular, $\mathbf{Z}(G^+) = \mathbf{Z}(G) \cap G^+$.
- (b) By Lemma 4.1, we have that $Q \not\leq \mathbf{Z}(G^+)$ and so $Q \not\leq \mathbf{Z}(G)$ for $Q := \mathbf{O}_{p'}(G^+) \lhd G$. Suppose that Q contains a non-central (in G) abelian subgroup $K \lhd G$. Decompose $V = \bigoplus_{i=1}^n V_i$ into K-eigenspaces. By Clifford's theorem, G acts transitively on $\{V_1, \ldots, V_n\}$, with kernel N, and G^+ does as well. Note that n > 1 as $K \not\leq \mathbf{Z}(G)$. Since G^+ is generated by p-elements, $n \geq p$. But d < 2p, so dim $V_i = 1$ and N is an abelian p'-group. Now we can apply Lemma 4.8 to $G/N \hookrightarrow \mathsf{S}_d$. If d = p, we are in case (ii) and $F^*(G) = N$. If d > p, then $d = p + 1 = 2^a$ and G/N has the prescribed structure, i.e. case (iii)(a) holds.
- (c) Assume now that Q contains no abelian non-central (in G) subgroup $K \triangleleft G$. Let N be minimal among subgroups of Q that are normal but non-central in G, so N is non-abelian. By Lemma 4.6, Q contains no components of G. Hence E(N) = 1 and $F^*(N) = F(N)$. If F(N) < N, the minimality of N implies that $F(N) \leq \mathbf{Z}(G)$, but then $F(N) = F^*(N) \geq \mathbf{C}_N(F^*(N)) = N$, a contradiction. So N = F(N) is nilpotent, and the minimality of N again implies that N is an r-group for some prime $r \neq p$. Let A be any characteristic abelian subgroup of N. Then by the assumption, $A \leq \mathbf{Z}(G)$ and so it is cyclic. Thus every characteristic abelian subgroup of N is cyclic (and central in G), and so Hall's theorem applies to N. Arguing as in part (d) of the proof of Lemma 4.9 and using the minimality of N, we see that $N = \mathbf{Z}(N)E$, where E is an extraspecial r-group of order r^{2a+1} for some a and $\mathbf{Z}(N) \leq \mathbf{Z}(G)$ is cyclic; in particular, $r^a \mid d$. Since $N \not\leq \mathbf{Z}(G^+)$, there is a p-element x that induces a nontrivial outer automorphism of N acting trivially on $\mathbf{Z}(N)$. As $\operatorname{Out}_c(N) \leq \operatorname{Sp}_{2a}(r)$, we see that p divides $r^{2b} - 1$ for some $1 \le b \le a$. On the other hand, $r^a \le d \le 2p-3$. This implies that $r=2, p=2^a\pm 1$ is either a Mersenne or Fermat prime, $d=2^a$, and N acts irreducibly on V. The latter then implies that $\mathbf{C}_G(N) = \mathbf{Z}(G)$ and $X := G/\mathbf{Z}(G)N$ is a subgroup of $\mathrm{Out}_c(N) \leq \mathrm{Sp}_{2a}(2)$ with C_p as a composition factor. Now we can apply Lemma 4.9 to X. Note that if X stabilizes a maximal totally isotropic subspace of $N/\mathbb{Z}(N)$, then its inverse image in N is an abelian normal non-central subgroup of G, contrary to our assumptions. Hence either $p=2^a+1$ and we are in case (i), or $p=2^a-1$ and we are in case (iii)(b). Also note that $F^*(G) = \mathbf{Z}(G)N$ in either case.

(d) If G satisfies any of the conclusions of Theorem 1.3 then $H^1(G, k) \neq 0$. Conversely, suppose that $H^1(G, k) \neq 0$. Then G possesses a normal subgroup L of index p. Thus we can apply the above results to G. In particular, $|G|_p = p$ and so $L = \mathbf{O}_{p'}(G)$. Now the description of G in (i)–(iii) shows that G must satisfy one of the conclusions of Theorem 1.3.

One can also consider an analogue of Theorem 4.10 for p=3. In this case, $d \leq 3$ and the analogous result is straightforward by examining subgroups of GL_2 and GL_3 .

5. Bounding
$$\operatorname{Ext}_G^1(V,V)$$
 and $\operatorname{Ext}_G^1(V,V^*)$

The following result is well known:

Lemma 5.1. Let X be a finite group and let k be an algebraically closed field of characteristic p. Let U and V be irreducible kX-modules belonging to a kX-block B with cyclic defect subgroups. Then $\dim_k \operatorname{Ext}^1_X(U,V) \leq 1$.

Proof. By [23, Lemma 7.1], we may assume $U \not\cong V$. It is known [53] that $\mathcal{P}(V)$ has simple head and simple socle, both isomorphic to V, and $\operatorname{rad}(\mathcal{P}(V))/V$ is a direct sum of at most two uniserial submodules. Also, note that $\operatorname{Ext}^1(U,V) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_G(U,\mathcal{P}(V)/V)$. So if $\dim_k \operatorname{Ext}^1_X(U,V) \geq 2$, then at least two edges of the Brauer tree of B correspond to U, which is impossible.

Lemma 5.2. Let H be a finite group with Sylow p-subgroups of order p. Suppose that $H = \mathbf{O}^{p'}(H)$ and H has no composition factor of order p. Then $H/\mathbf{O}_{p'}(H)$ is a nonabelian simple group.

Proof. Replacing H by $H/\mathbf{O}_{p'}(H)$, we have that $\mathbf{O}_{p'}(H) = 1$. Together with the condition that H has no composition factor of order p, this implies that F(H) = 1, and so

$$F^*(H) = E(H) = S_1 \times \ldots \times S_n$$

is a product of non-abelian simple groups. It also follows that $\mathbf{O}_{p'}(F^*(H)) = 1$, whence n = 1 and $F^*(H) = S_1$ has order divisible by p. Now H/S_1 is a p'-group and $H = \mathbf{O}^{p'}(H)$. It follows that $H = S_1$.

Proposition 5.3. Let G be a finite group with a faithful kG-module V. Suppose that $V = W_1 \oplus \ldots \oplus W_t$ is a direct sum of kG^+ -submodules, and that for each i the subgroup $H_i \leq \operatorname{GL}(W_i)$ induced by the action of G^+ on W_i has Sylow p-subgroups of order p. Suppose in addition that G has no composition factor of order p. Then

$$G^+/\mathbf{O}_{p'}(G^+) \cong S_1 \times \ldots \times S_n$$

is a direct product of non-abelian simple groups S_i , each of order divisible by p.

Proof. By assumption, H_i has no composition factor of order p, $|H_i|_p = p$, and $\mathbf{O}^{p'}(H_i) = H_i$. By Lemma 5.2, $H_i/\mathbf{O}_{p'}(H_i)$ is simple non-abelian. Hence the claim follows by [23, Lemma 2.3].

Proposition 5.4. Let $k = \overline{k}$ be of characteristic p and let H be a finite group such that $H = \mathbf{O}^{p'}(H)$ and

$$H/J = S_1 \times \ldots \times S_n$$

is a direct product of non-abelian simple groups of order divisible by p, where $J := \mathbf{O}_{p'}(H)$. Suppose that W_1 and W_2 are irreducible kH-modules such that the image of H in $\mathrm{GL}(W_i)$ has Sylow p-subgroups of order p for i=1,2, and that $\mathrm{Ext}_H^1(W_1,W_2) \neq 0$. Then the actions of H on W_1 and W_2 have the same kernel.

Proof. Let K_i denote the kernel of the action of H on W_i , so that $|H/K_i|_p = p$. Note that H, and so $K_1 \cap K_2$ as well, has no composition factor of order p, whence $K_1 \cap K_2 = \mathbf{O}^p(K_1 \cap K_2)$. Hence by Lemma 3.4 there is no loss to assume that

$$(5.1) K_1 \cap K_2 = 1.$$

We aim to show in this case that $K_1 = K_2 = 1$. Note that the condition $H = \mathbf{O}^{p'}(H)$ implies that $n \geq 1$.

(i) Suppose for instance that $J_1 := J \cap K_1 \neq 1$. This implies by (5.1) that $J_1 \not\leq K_2$, i.e. J_1 does not act trivially on W_2 . Since $J_1 \triangleleft H$, we see that $(W_2)_{J_1}$ is a direct sum of nontrivial kJ_1 -modules. On the other hand, the p'-group J_1 acts trivially on W_1 and on W_1^* . Setting $M := W_1^* \otimes_k W_2$, we then have that $M^{J_1} = 0$ and so

$$\operatorname{Ext}_{H}^{1}(W_{1}, W_{2}) \cong H^{1}(H, M) \cong H^{1}(H/J_{1}, M^{J_{1}}) = 0,$$

a contradiction.

(ii) We have shown that $J \cap K_1 = J \cap K_2 = 1$. Hence

$$K_1 \cong K_1 J/J \triangleleft H/J = S_1 \times \ldots \times S_n$$

and so K_1 is isomorphic to the direct product $\prod_{i \in I} S_i$ for some subset $I \subseteq \{1, 2, \dots, n\}$. As $|H/K_1|_p = p$ and $p \mid |S_i|$ for all i, we may assume that

$$(5.2) K_1 \cong JK_1/J = S_2 \times \ldots \times S_n.$$

In particular, if n = 1 then $K_1 = 1$ and similarly $K_2 = 1$, whence we are done.

(iii) Now we assume that $n \geq 2$. Consider $X := JK_2 \cap K_1$. Then $X \cap K_2 \leq K_1 \cap K_2 = 1$ and so

$$X \cong XK_2/K_2 \triangleleft JK_2/K_2 \cong J$$

is a p'-group. On the other hand, $X \triangleleft K_1$ and so by (5.2) we again have that $X \cong \prod_{i \in I'} S_i$ for some subset $I' \subseteq \{2, \ldots, n\}$. As $p \mid |S_i|$ for all i, we conclude that X = 1. Similarly $JK_1 \cap K_2 = 1$. Together with (5.2), this implies that

$$K_2 \hookrightarrow H/JK_1 \cong (H/J)/(JK_1/J) \cong S_1.$$

Furthermore, as shown in (ii), $JK_2/J \cong K_2 \cong \prod_{i \in I''} S_i$ for some subset $I'' \subseteq \{1, 2, ..., n\}$ of cardinality n-1. It follows that $n=2, K_2 \cong S_1, K_1 \cong S_2$, and

$$H = JK_2K_1 \cong JK_2 \times K_1 = (J \times K_2) \times K_1 \cong J \times K_1 \times K_2.$$

Now we can write

$$W_1 \cong A_1 \otimes_k k \otimes_k B_2, \ W_2 \cong A_2 \otimes_k B_1 \otimes_k k,$$

where $A_1, A_2 \in \operatorname{IBr}_p(J)$ and $B_i \in \operatorname{IBr}_p(K_i)$ for i = 1, 2. In this case, if $B_1 \not\cong k$ and $B_2 \not\cong k$, then $\operatorname{Ext}^1_H(W_1, W_2) = 0$ by Lemma 3.3(i), a contradiction. So we may assume that $B_1 \cong k$, i.e. K_1 acts trivially on W_2 . It then follows that $K_1 \leq K_1 \cap K_2 = 1$, contradicting (5.2) and the equality n = 2.

Proof of Theorem 1.6. We take the convention that V^{ϵ} is V for $\epsilon = +$ and V^* if $\epsilon = -$, and the same holds for other modules. Assume that $\operatorname{Ext}_G^1(V, V^{\epsilon}) \neq 0$ for some $\epsilon = \pm$. Decompose

$$V_{G^+} = e \bigoplus_{i=1}^t W_i, \ V_{G^+}^{\epsilon} = e \bigoplus_{i=1}^t W_i^{\epsilon}$$

where W_1, \ldots, W_t are pairwise non-isomorphic and G-conjugate irreducible kG^+ -modules. By assumption, the image of G^+ in each $GL(W_i)$ has Sylow p-subgroups of order p, and G^+ has no composition factor of order p. By Proposition 5.3,

(5.3)
$$G^+/\mathbf{O}_{p'}(G^+) = S_1 \times \ldots \times S_n$$

is a direct product of non-abelian simple groups of order divisible by p.

(i) First we consider the case $k = \overline{k}$. Recall that $G^+ = \mathbf{O}^{p'}(G^+)$. So by Proposition 5.4 we have that $\operatorname{Ext}_{G^+}^1(W_i, W_i^{\epsilon}) = 0$, unless G^+ has the same kernel on W_i and W_i^{ϵ} .

Let K_i denote the kernel of G^+ on W_i , and on W_i^{ϵ} as well. Relabeling W_1, \ldots, W_t , we may assume that K_1, \ldots, K_s are pairwise distinct, with $s := |\{K_1, \ldots, K_t\}|$. Defining

$$V_i := e \bigoplus_{j: K_j = K_i} W_j$$

for $1 \leq i \leq s$, we then have that

$$V = V_1 \oplus \ldots \oplus V_s, \ V^{\epsilon} = V_1^{\epsilon} \oplus \ldots \oplus V_s^{\epsilon}.$$

Certainly, G acts transitively on $\{W_1, \ldots, W_t\}$, $\{V_1, \ldots, V_s\}$, and on $\{K_1, \ldots, K_s\}$ via conjugation. Also, $H := \mathbf{N}_G(K_1) \rhd G^+$ stabilizes V_1 and has index s in G. It follows that $H = \operatorname{Stab}_G(V_1)$, $V \cong \operatorname{Ind}_H^G(V_1)$, and so V_1 is an irreducible kH-module.

By the definition of V_i , we have that $\operatorname{Ext}_{G^+}^1(V_1, V_i^{\epsilon}) = 0$ for all i > 1. As H/G^+ is a p'-group, it follows that $\operatorname{Ext}_H^1(V_1, \bigoplus_{i>1} V_i^{\epsilon}) = 0$. Now by Frobenius' reciprocity,

$$\operatorname{Ext}^1_G(V,V^\epsilon) = \operatorname{Ext}^1_G(\operatorname{Ind}^G_H(V_1),V^\epsilon) \cong \operatorname{Ext}^1_H(V_1,(V^\epsilon)_H) = \operatorname{Ext}^1_H(V_1,V_1^\epsilon).$$

Recall that K_1 acts trivially on V_1 and V_1^{ϵ} , and $|H/K_1|_p = |G^+/K_1|_p = p$. Hence $\dim_k \operatorname{Ext}^1_{H/K_1}(V_1, V_1^{\epsilon}) \leq 1$ by Lemma 5.1. Finally, K_1 has no composition factor of order p by (5.3). So $\operatorname{Ext}^1_H(V_1, V_1^{\epsilon}) \cong \operatorname{Ext}^1_{H/K_1}(V_1, V_1^{\epsilon})$ by Lemma 3.4, and so we are done.

(ii) Now we consider the general case. By [32, Theorem 9.21], $W_1 \otimes_k \overline{k}$ is a direct sum of irreducible $\overline{k}G^+$ -modules W_{11}, \ldots, W_{1m} , which form a Galois conjugacy class over k. By assumption, $|G^+/K_1|_p = p$, where K_1 is the kernel of G^+ on W_1 . Certainly, K_1 is contained in the kernel K_{11} of the action of G^+ on W_{11} , whence $|G^+/K_{11}|_p \leq p$. If $|G^+/K_{11}|_p < p$, then the equality $G^+ = \mathbf{O}^{p'}(G^+)$ implies that $K_{11} = G^+$, whence G^+ acts trivially on W_{11} and so on W_1 and on V as well, contradicting the faithfulness of V and the assumption $\operatorname{Ext}_G^1(V,V^\epsilon) \neq 0$. Hence we must have that $|G^+/K_{11}|_p = p$. Since the dimension of

 $\operatorname{Ext}_G^1(V,V^{\epsilon})$ does not change under field extensions, we are done by replacing V by $V \otimes_k \overline{k}$ and applying the result of (i).

A key ingredient of the proof of Theorem 1.5 is the following statement:

Proposition 5.5. Let X be a finite group with a normal subgroup $Y \ge \mathbf{O}^{p'}(X)$. Let A, B, W, W' be kX-modules, where A and B are absolutely irreducible and Y acts via scalars on both A and B. Suppose in addition that $A_Y \cong B_Y$. Then

$$\dim_k \operatorname{Ext}^1_X(A \otimes_k W, B \otimes_k W') \le \dim_k \operatorname{Ext}^1_Y(W_Y, W'_Y).$$

Proof. Since the dimensions of Ext^1 -spaces do not change under field extensions, we may assume that k is algebraically closed. By assumption, X/Y is a p'-group and Y acts trivially on $A^* \otimes_k B$. Without loss we may assume that $\dim_k B \leq \dim_k A$. Denoting

$$H := H^1(Y, (W_Y)^* \otimes_k W_Y') \cong \operatorname{Ext}_Y^1(W_Y, W_Y')$$

we then have $\dim_k B \otimes_k H \leq (\dim_k A)(\dim_k H)$ and so

$$\dim_k \operatorname{Hom}_{kX}(A, B \otimes_k H) \leq \dim_k H = \dim_k \operatorname{Ext}_Y^1(W_Y, W_Y').$$

Applying the inflation-restriction spectral sequence, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \dim_k \operatorname{Ext}^1_X(A \otimes_k W, B \otimes_k W') &= \dim_k (H^1(Y, A^* \otimes_k B \otimes_k W^* \otimes_k W'))^{X/Y} \\ &= \dim_k (A^* \otimes_k B \otimes_k H)^{X/Y} \\ &= \dim_k \operatorname{Hom}_{kX}(A, B \otimes_k H) \\ &\leq \dim_k \operatorname{Ext}^1_Y(W_Y, W'_Y). \end{split}$$

Proposition 5.6. Let k be an algebraically closed field of characteristic p. Assume the hypothesis of Theorem 1.2 and write $V_{G^+} = \bigoplus_{i=1}^t V_i$, where $V_i \cong eW_i$ and W_1, \ldots, W_t are pairwise non-isomorphic irreducible kG^+ -modules. Suppose that there is a unique $j \geq 1$ such that $\operatorname{Ext}^1_{G^+}(W_1, W_j) \neq 0$. Then

$$\dim_k \operatorname{Ext}_G^1(V, V) \le \dim_k \operatorname{Ext}_{G^+}^1(W_1, W_j).$$

Proof. Let $G_1 := \operatorname{Stab}_G(V_1)$ be the inertia group of W_1 in G. Since $G^+ \triangleleft G_1$, the uniqueness of j implies that $G_1 = \operatorname{Stab}_G(V_j)$ as well. Next, $V \cong \operatorname{Ind}_{G_1}^G((V_1)_{G_1})$, and so

$$\operatorname{Ext}_{G}^{1}(V, V) = \operatorname{Ext}_{G}^{1}(\operatorname{Ind}_{G_{1}}^{G}((V_{1})_{G_{1}}), V) \cong \operatorname{Ext}_{G_{1}}^{1}((V_{1})_{G_{1}}, V_{G_{1}})$$

$$\cong \operatorname{Ext}_{G_{1}}^{1}((V_{1})_{G_{1}}, (V_{j})_{G_{1}}) \oplus \operatorname{Ext}_{G_{1}}^{1}((V_{1})_{G_{1}}, \bigoplus_{i \neq j} (V_{i})_{G_{1}}).$$

Since G^+ contains a Sylow p-subgroup of G_1 , $\operatorname{Ext}_{G_1}^1((V_1)_{G_1}, \bigoplus_{i\neq j}(V_i)_{G_1})$ injects in

$$\operatorname{Ext}_{G^+}^1((V_1)_{G^+}, \bigoplus_{i \neq j} (V_i)_{G^+}) \cong e^2 \bigoplus_{i \neq j} \operatorname{Ext}_{G^+}^1(W_1, W_i) = 0$$

and so it is zero.

It remains therefore to show that

$$\dim_k \operatorname{Ext}_{G_1}^1((V_1)_{G_1}, (V_j)_{G_1}) \le \dim_k \operatorname{Ext}_{G_1}^1(W_1, W_j).$$

Let X denote a universal p'-cover of G_1 (so that $G_1 \cong X/Z$ for some p'-subgroup $Z \leq \mathbf{Z}(X) \cap [X,X]$), and let $Y := \mathbf{O}^{p'}(X)$. Now we view V_1 as an irreducible kX-module by inflation and note that

$$\dim_k \operatorname{Ext}_{G_1}^1((V_1)_{G_1}, (V_j)_{G_1}) = \dim_k \operatorname{Ext}_X^1((V_1)_X, (V_j)_X)$$

as Z is a p'-group. Since Z acts trivially on V_1 , we also have that $(V_1)_Y \cong e(W_1)_Y$ and also $YZ/Z \cong G^+$. Hence $(W_1)_Y$ is irreducible, and similarly for W_i . Also,

$$\dim_k \operatorname{Ext}_Y^1((W_1)_Y, (W_j)_Y) = \dim_k \operatorname{Ext}_{G^+}^1(W_1, W_j).$$

Fix a basis of W_1 and the corresponding representation Φ of Y on W_1 in this basis. By the Clifford theory, we can decompose the irreducible representation Θ of X on V_1 as a tensor product of an irreducible projective representation Λ of X/Y (of degree e) and an irreducible projective representation Ψ of X, with

$$\Psi(y) = \Phi(y)$$

for all $y \in Y$. Since X is p'-centrally closed, there is a function $f: X \to k^{\times}$ such that

$$\Psi': x \mapsto f(x)\Psi(x)$$

is a linear representation. Note that $f_Y \in \text{Hom}(Y, k^{\times})$ since $\Psi_Y = \Phi$ is a linear representation, and so $f_Y = 1_Y$ as $Y = \mathbf{O}^{p'}(Y)$. In particular, $\Psi'(y) = \Phi(y)$ for all $y \in Y$. Now we inflate Λ to a projective representation of X and define

$$\Lambda': x \mapsto f(x)^{-1}\Lambda(x)$$

so that $\Theta(x) = \Lambda'(x) \otimes \Psi'(x)$ for all $x \in X$. Then Λ' is also a linear representation of X and furthermore Λ'_Y is trivial (since $f_Y = 1_Y$). Thus we can decompose

$$(V_1)_X = A \otimes_k W,$$

where the kX-modules A and W are irreducible, Y acts trivially on A, and $W_Y \cong (W_1)_Y$. Similarly,

$$(V_j)_X = B \otimes_k W',$$

where the kX-modules B and W' are irreducible, Y acts trivially on B, and $W'_Y \cong (W_j)_Y$. Now our statement follows by applying Proposition 5.5.

The same proof as above yields:

Proposition 5.7. Let k be an algebraically closed field of characteristic p. Assume the hypothesis of Theorem 1.2 and write $V_{G^+} = \bigoplus_{i=1}^t V_i$, where $V_i \cong eW_i$ and W_1, \ldots, W_t are pairwise non-isomorphic irreducible kG^+ -modules. Suppose that there is a unique $j \geq 1$ such that $\operatorname{Ext}^1_{G^+}(W_1, W_j^*) \neq 0$. Then

$$\dim_k \operatorname{Ext}_G^1(V, V^*) \le \dim_k \operatorname{Ext}_{G^+}^1(W_1, W_j^*).$$

Lemma 5.8. Given the assumption of Theorem 1.5, suppose that H is as in the extraspecial case (e) of Theorem 2.1. Then

$$\operatorname{Ext}_G^1(V, V^*) = 0.$$

Proof. Write $V_{G^+} = e \bigoplus_{i=1}^t W_i$ as usual. It suffices to show that $\operatorname{Ext}_{G^+}^1(W_i, W_j^*) = 0$ for all i, j. Recall that $J := \mathbf{O}_{p'}(G)$ acts irreducibly on W_i and W_j^* by [23, Theorem 2.4(ii)]. Since J is a p'-group, we have $M = \mathbf{C}_M(J) \oplus [M, J]$ for $M := W_i^* \otimes W_j^*$. As J has no fixed point on [M, J], $H^1(G^+, [M, J]) = 0$. Also,

$$\mathbf{C}_M(J) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_J(W_i, W_i^*)$$

is either 0 or k. Hence

$$\operatorname{Ext}_{G^+}^1(W_i, W_i^*) \cong H^1(G^+, M) \cong H^1(G^+, \mathbf{C}_M(J)) \hookrightarrow H^1(G^+, k)$$

As G^+ is perfect by [23, Theorem 2.4], $H^1(G^+, k) = 0$, and so we are done.

Proof of Theorem 1.5. (i) Assume that (G, V) satisfies all the hypotheses of Theorem 1.5. We take the convention that V^{ϵ} is V for $\epsilon = +$ and V^* if $\epsilon = -$, and the same holds for other modules. Since the dimension of $\operatorname{Ext}_G^1(V, V^{\epsilon})$ does not change under field extensions, we will assume that $k = \overline{k}$. Assume that $\operatorname{Ext}_G^1(V, V^{\epsilon}) \neq 0$ for some $\epsilon = \pm$. It suffices to show that G then fulfills the conditions of Propositions 5.6 and 5.7 (with $\operatorname{Ext}_{G^+}^1(W_1, W_j^{\epsilon}) \cong k$ for the index j indicated in these propositions). By [23, Lemma 7.2], there is some j such that

(5.4)
$$\operatorname{Ext}_{G^{+}}^{1}(W_{1}, W_{j}^{\epsilon}) \neq 0.$$

Note that $\operatorname{Ext}_G^1(V, V^{\epsilon}) = 0$ in the extra special case (e) of Theorem 2.1, by [23, Proposition 10.4] and Lemma 5.8. So we may assume that the image H of G^+ in $\operatorname{GL}(W)$ is a central product of quasisimple groups, whence, by [23, Theorem 2.4],

$$G^+ = L_1 * \ldots * L_n$$

is also a central product of quasisimple groups L_i . Moreover, if some L_i is not a quasisimple group of Lie type in characteristic p, then by [23, Theorem 2.4], the image of G^+ in each $GL(W_i)$ has Sylow p-subgroups of order p, and so Theorem 1.6 applies. So in what follows we may assume that all L_i are quasisimple groups of Lie type in characteristic p. Correspondingly, we can decompose

$$W_1 = A_1 \otimes \ldots \otimes A_n, \ W_j^{\epsilon} = B_1 \otimes \ldots \otimes B_n,$$

where A_i and B_i are irreducible kL_i -modules and $L_{i'}$ acts trivially on A_i and B_i whenever $i' \neq i$. By Lemma 3.3 and (5.4), we may assume that

$$A_i \cong B_i$$

for i > 1, and furthermore $\operatorname{Ext}_{L_1}^1(A_1, B_1) \neq 0$. Since $\dim_k W_1 = \dim_k W_j$, it follows that $\dim_k A_i = \dim_k B_i$ for all i.

Note that if $\dim_k A_i = 1$, then $A_i \cong k$ as L_i is perfect, and similarly $B_i \cong k$, whence $\operatorname{Ext}^1_{L_i}(A_i, B_i) = 0$. In fact, $\operatorname{Ext}^1_{L_i}(A_i, B_i) = 0$ if $\dim_k A_i \leq (p-3)/2$ by the main result of [19]. It follows that $\dim_k A_1 \geq (p-1)/2$. Since $\dim_k W_1 \leq p-1$, we arrive at two possible cases:

- (a) $\dim_k A_i = 1$ (and so $A_i \cong B_i \cong k$) for all i > 1; or
- (b) $p \ge 5$, $\dim_k A_i = 1$ (and so $A_i \cong B_i \cong k$) for all i > 2, and $\{\dim_k A_1, \dim_k A_2\} = \{(p-1)/2, 2\}$.

(ii) Suppose we are in case (b). Then the quasisimple group L_m (for some $m \in \{1,2\}$) is acting irreducibly on $A_m \cong k^2$. As L_m is a Lie-type group in characteristic p, we have that $L_m \cong \mathrm{SL}_2(p^a)$ for some $a \geq 1$. By Lemma 4.3, $L_1 \cong \mathrm{SL}_2(p)$ (modulo a central subgroup), dim $A_1 = (p-1)/2$, $\mathrm{Ext}_{L_1}^1(A_1, B_1) \cong k$, and $A_1 \cong B_1$. We have shown that $A_i \cong B_i$ for all i; in particular $W_j \cong W_1^\epsilon$. Now we have that m=2, and $\dim_k \mathrm{Ext}_{L_2}^1(A_2, B_2)$ equals 0 if $p^a > 5$ and 1 if $p^a = 5$, see [23, Lemma 8.1]. Again by Lemma 3.3,

$$\dim_k \operatorname{Ext}_{G^+}^1(W_1, W_i^{\epsilon}) = 1 + \dim_k \operatorname{Ext}_{L_2}^1(A_2, B_2).$$

In the case $p^a=5$, we have $(\dim W, H)=(4, \Omega_4^+(5))$ and conclude by Propositions 5.6 and 5.7 that $\operatorname{Ext}^1_G(V,V)$ and $\operatorname{Ext}^1_G(V,V^*)$ are at most 2-dimensional. Moreover, Example 5.9(i) shows that the upper bound 2 can indeed be attained. If $p^a>5$, then $\operatorname{Ext}^1_{G^+}(W_1,W_j^\epsilon)\cong k$ and $W_j\cong W_1^\epsilon$ for any j satisfying (5.4).

(iii) Now we consider the case (a). Then

(5.5)
$$\operatorname{Ext}_{L_{1}}^{1}(A_{1}, B_{1}) \cong \operatorname{Ext}_{G^{+}}^{1}(W_{1}, W_{i}^{\epsilon}) \neq 0$$

by Lemma 3.3.

Suppose first that p=3. Then $L_1 \cong \mathrm{SL}_2(3^a)$ for some $a\geq 2$, and

$$W_1 = A_1 \otimes_k k \otimes_k \ldots \otimes_k k, W_i = B_1^{\epsilon} \otimes_k k \otimes_k \ldots \otimes_k k.$$

We may also assume that A_1 is the natural kL_1 -module. If a=2, then by (5.5) and $[2, \operatorname{Corollary} 4.5]$ we have that B_1 is isomorphic to the Frobenius twist $A_1^{(3)}$ of A_1 , and $\operatorname{Ext}_{L_1}^1(A_1, B_1) \cong k^2$. Thus W_j is uniquely determined, and so $\dim_k \operatorname{Ext}_G^1(V, V^{\epsilon}) \leq 2$ by Propositions 5.6 and 5.7. Suppose now that a>2. Since $G_1:=\operatorname{Stab}_G(V_1)$ stabilizes the isomorphism class of W_1 , we see that G_1 normalizes each of L_1 and $L_2*\ldots*L_n$, and induces an inner-diagonal automorphism of L_1 . Next, by (5.5) and $[2, \operatorname{Corollary} 4.5]$ we have that B_1 is isomorphic to one of the Frobenius twists $A_1^{(3)}$, $A_1^{(3^{a-1})}$ of A_1 , and $\operatorname{Ext}_{L_1}^1(A_1, B_1) \cong k$. Thus there are at most two possibilities for W_j , each stabilized by G_1 . If only one of them occurs among the submodules W_i , then we have $\dim_k \operatorname{Ext}_G^1(V, V^{\epsilon}) \leq 1$ by Propositions 5.6 and 5.7. Suppose that both of them occur, say for j_1 and j_2 . It follows that $G_1 = \operatorname{Stab}_G(V_{j_1}) = \operatorname{Stab}_G(V_{j_2})$ and furthermore both V_{j_1} and V_{j_2} are irreducible over G_1 . Then, arguing as in the proof of Proposition 5.6 we have

$$\operatorname{Ext}_{G}^{1}(V, V^{\epsilon}) = \operatorname{Ext}_{G}^{1}(\operatorname{Ind}_{G_{1}}^{G}((V_{1})_{G_{1}}), V^{\epsilon}) \cong \operatorname{Ext}_{G_{1}}^{1}((V_{1})_{G_{1}}, V_{G_{1}}^{\epsilon})$$
$$\cong \operatorname{Ext}_{G_{1}}^{1}((V_{1})_{G_{1}}, (V_{j_{1}}^{\epsilon})_{G_{1}}) \oplus \operatorname{Ext}_{G_{1}}^{1}((V_{1})_{G_{1}}, (V_{j_{2}}^{\epsilon})_{G_{1}})$$

has dimension at most 2. In fact, Example 5.9 shows that the upper bound 2 can indeed be attained.

Suppose now that p > 3. Then by Lemma 4.3, $L_1 = \operatorname{SL}_2(p)$ (modulo a central subgroup), $A_1 \cong B_1$, $\operatorname{Ext}_{L_1}^1(A_1, B_1) \cong k$, $W_j \cong W_1^{\epsilon}$, and $\operatorname{Ext}_{G^+}^1(W_1, W_j^{\epsilon}) \cong k$.

(iv) We have shown that in the case of Theorem 1.5(i), there is a unique j such that $\operatorname{Ext}_{G^+}^1(W_1,W_j^\epsilon)\neq 0$, in which case it has dimension 1. Hence we are done by Propositions 5.6 and 5.7.

Example 5.9. (i) Let p = 5 and let $S = L_1 \times L_2$, with $L_i \cong \operatorname{SL}_2(5)$, be acting on $V = W_1 \otimes W_2$, where $W_i \cong k^2$ is an irreducible kL_i -module and L_i acts trivially on W_{3-i} . Note

that the kernel of this action is the diagonal cyclic subgroup $Z \cong C_2$ of $\mathbf{Z}(L_1) \times \mathbf{Z}(L_2)$. Now $G = G^+ := S/Z \cong \Omega_4^+(5)$ acts faithfully and irreducibly on V, and $\dim_k \operatorname{Ext}_G^1(V, V) = 2$ by Lemma 3.3. Also, $V \cong V^*$.

(ii) Let p=3, $S=\operatorname{SL}_2(3^a)$ for some $a\geq 2$ coprime to 3, $W_1=k^2$ be the natural kS-module, and let W_{i+1} denote the Frobenius $(W_1)^{(3^i)}$ twist of W_1 for $1\leq i\leq a-1$. Then $G=S\rtimes\langle\sigma\rangle$ (with σ being the field automorphism of S, of order a) acts irreducibly and faithfully on $V=W_1\oplus\ldots\oplus W_a$, $G^+=S$, and

(5.6)
$$\operatorname{Ext}_{G}^{1}(V, V) \cong \bigoplus_{i=1}^{a} \operatorname{Ext}_{S}^{1}(W_{1}, W_{i}) \cong k^{2}$$

by [2, Corollary 4.5]. (Indeed, if a=2 then $\operatorname{Ext}_S^1(W_1,W_2)\cong k^2$. If $a\geq 3$, then $\operatorname{Ext}_S^1(W_1,W_2)\cong \operatorname{Ext}_S^1(W_1,W_a)\cong k$. All other summands in the middle term of (5.6) are zero.) Also, $V\cong V^*$.

(iii) Let $p=2^f+1$ be a Fermat prime and let $H=\mathbf{O}_{p'}(H)P$ (with $P\cong C_p$ and $\mathbf{O}_{p'}(H)\cong 2^{1+2f}_-$) acting faithfully and absolutely irreducibly on $W_1=k^{p-1}$ as in case (i) of Theorem 2.1. Note that the kH-module W_1 is self-dual. Let n be coprime to p and let

$$G = H_1 \wr C_n = (H_1 \times \ldots \times H_n) \rtimes C_n$$

with $H_i \cong H_1 = H$, so that $G^+ = H_1 \times ... \times H_n$. Inflate W_1 to a kG^+ -module and consider $V := \operatorname{Ind}_{G^+}^G(W_1)$. Note that $J := \mathbf{O}_{p'}(G^+)$ acts absolutely irreducibly on W_1 , and

$$W_1^* \otimes W_1 = \mathbf{C}_{W_1^* \otimes W_1}(J) \oplus [W_1^* \otimes W_1, J]$$

with $\mathbf{C}_{W_1^* \otimes W_1}(J) \cong k$. Since $G^+/J \cong C_p^n$, it now follows that

$$\operatorname{Ext}_{G^+}^1(W_1, W_1) \cong H^1(G^+, W_1^* \otimes W_1) \cong H^1(G^+/J, k) \cong k^n.$$

On the other hand, the actions of J on W_1 and W_j have different kernels for any j > 1, and so $\operatorname{Ext}_{G^+}^1(W_1, W_j) = 0$. Hence $V \cong V^*$ and

$$\operatorname{Ext}_{G}^{1}(V, V) \cong \operatorname{Ext}_{G^{+}}^{1}(W_{1}, V_{G^{+}}) \cong \operatorname{Ext}_{G^{+}}^{1}(W_{1}, W_{1}) \cong k^{n}.$$

Next we strengthen Theorem 1.5 in the case $\dim W$ is small.

Theorem 5.10. Let k be a field of characteristic p and let V and V' be absolutely irreducible faithful kG-modules. Suppose that $\dim_k W + \dim_k W' \leq p-2$, where W and W' are irreducible kG^+ -submodules of V and V', respectively. Then $H^1(G,M) = 0$ for any subquotient M of the G-module $V \otimes V'$.

Proof. It suffices to prove $H^1(G^+, M) = 0$. Note that $V_{G^+} = \bigoplus_{i=1}^t W_i$ and $V'_{G^+} = \bigoplus_{j=1}^s W'_j$ with $W_i, W'_j \in \mathrm{IBr}_p(G^+)$, and $\mathbf{O}_p(G^+) \leq \mathbf{O}_p(G) = 1$. Since

$$\dim_k W_i + \dim_k W_j' \le p - 2,$$

by the main result of [19] we have $\operatorname{Ext}_{G^+}^1(W_i^*, W_j') = 0$. It follows that $\operatorname{Ext}_{G^+}^1(V_{G^+}^*, V_{G^+}') = 0$, i.e. $H^1(G^+, (V \otimes V')_{G^+}) = 0$. By Corollary 1 to [55, Theorem 1], (5.7) also implies that the G^+ -module $V \otimes V'$ is semisimple. Thus M is isomorphic to a direct summand of $(V \otimes V')_{G^+}$, whence $H^1(G^+, M) = 0$, as desired.

Corollary 5.11. Let k be a field of characteristic p and let V be an absolutely irreducible faithful kG-modules. Suppose that $\dim_k W < (p-1)/2$ for any irreducible kG^+ -submodule of V. Then $H^1(G, \operatorname{Sym}^2(V)) = H^1(G, \wedge^2(V)) = 0$.

6. Modules of dimension p

Let p be a prime and let k be algebraically closed of characteristic p. The aim of this section is to show that if G is an irreducible subgroup of $GL_p(k) = GL(V)$, then almost always (G, V) is adequate (using Thorne's new definition). We begin with some observations.

Remark 6.1. Suppose that $G \leq \operatorname{GL}(V)$ is a finite irreducible subgroup. Note that, to show (G,V) is adequate it suffices to show that G^+ is adequate on V. Indeed, any subgroup being weakly adequate implies that the spanning condition holds for G. Next, adequacy for any subgroup containing a Sylow p-subgroup of G implies that necessary vanishing of H^1 for G.

Lemma 6.2. Let G be a finite group with a Sylow p-subgroup P of order p and let $V \in \operatorname{IBr}_p(G)$ be such that $p \mid (\dim V)$. Then V is projective.

Proof. Assume that V is non-projective and set $N := \mathbf{N}_G(P)$. By the Green correspondence [29, Lemma 4.1.1], in this case we have $V_N = W \oplus M$, where W is a non-projective indecomposable N-module and M is a projective N-module (or zero). Now W belongs to an N-block b of defect 1. By [29, Lemma 4.2.14], W is a uniserial (non-projective) quotient of $\mathcal{P}(U)$ where $U := \operatorname{head}(W) \in \operatorname{IBr}_p(N)$. By [29, Lemma 4.2.13], $\mathcal{P}(U)$ has length p, so W has length l < p. According to [29, Remark 4.2.11], all simple kN-modules in p are of the same dimension p and have p in their kernel. It follows that p divides p and so p discoprime to p. Hence $p \nmid dl = \dim W$ and so $p \nmid (\dim V)$ (as $p \mid (\dim M)$), a contradiction.

Lemma 6.3. Let G be a finite group with a cyclic Sylow p-subgroup P and p = char(k). Suppose that $G = \mathbf{O}^p(G)$. Then $H^1(G, k) = H^2(G, k) = 0$.

Proof. The vanishing of $H^1(G, k)$ is obvious. Suppose that $H^2(G, k) \neq 0$. Since the dimension of H^2 does not change under extension of scalars, we may assume that $H^2(G, C_p) \neq 0$. As moreover $H^1(G, C_p) = 0$, it follows that p divides the order of the Schur multiplier of G. It is well known that the latter then implies that Sylow p-subgroups of G are non-cyclic (see e.g. [32, Corollary (11.21)]).

Next we give an example showing that for modules of dimension 2p, we can satisfy all conditions aside from the spanning condition.

Example 6.4. Assume that p > 2. Let C be a nontrivial cyclic group of order coprime to p, with a faithful character $\lambda : C \to k^{\times}$, and let $G = C \wr D$ where D is a dihedral group of order 2p. Let V be the irreducible kG-module of dimension 2p induced from the 1-dimensional representation with character

$$\lambda \otimes 1_C \otimes \ldots \otimes 1_C$$

of the abelian normal subgroup $A = C \times C \times ... \times C \cong C^{2p}$ of G. Let E be the unique subgroup of D of order p. Note that $V = V_1 \oplus V_2$, where the V_i are irreducible AE-submodules of V (of dimension p). Then the following statements hold:

- (i) $H^1(G, k) = H^2(G, k) = 0$ by Lemma 6.3;
- (ii) $\operatorname{Ext}_G^1(V, V) = 0$ (indeed, V is projective by Lemma 6.2);
- (iii) The span \mathcal{M} of the p'-elements of G in $\operatorname{End}(V)$ is precisely $\mathcal{A} \oplus \operatorname{Hom}(V_1, V_2) \oplus \operatorname{Hom}(V_2, V_1)$, where \mathcal{A} is the image of kA in $\operatorname{End}(V_1) \oplus \operatorname{End}(V_2)$.

Now we describe all irreducible linear groups of degree p:

Proposition 6.5. Let k be an algebraically closed field of characteristic p and let $G < GL_p(k)$ be a finite irreducible subgroup. Then one of the following holds:

- (i) G is imprimitive on $W := k^p$, $G < GL_1(k) \wr S_p$, and furthermore $A := G \cap GL_1(k)^p$ is non-central in G:
- (ii) G is almost quasisimple. Furthermore, $H := G^{(\infty)}$ is quasisimple of order divisible by p acting irreducibly on W, and so (H, W) is as described in Theorem 2.2.

Proof. By the hypothesis, G acts irreducibly on $W = k^p$. Suppose the action is imprimitive. Then G permutes transitively the p summands of a decomposition $W = W_1 \oplus \ldots \oplus W_p$, with kernel say A. If $A \not\leq \mathbf{Z}(G)$, we arrive at (i). Assume that $A \leq \mathbf{Z}(G)$. Note that S := G/A is a transitive subgroup of S_p , and so we can apply the main result of [65] to S. In particular, if S is solvable, then S = P : C with $P \cong C_p$ and $C \leq C_{p-1}$. Then AP is a normal abelian subgroup of G, whence by Ito's theorem the degree of any $\chi \in \operatorname{Irr}(G)$ divides $[G:AP] \mid (p-1)$. On the other hand, G is solvable, and so by the Fong-Swan theorem, G lifts to an irreducible complex module of dimension G, a contradiction. Thus G is non-solvable, which implies by [65] that G is almost simple, G is almost quasisimple, and G is a normal subgroup of index coprime to G. Since dim G is a condition also implies that G is irreducible on G and so we arrive at (ii).

We may now assume that the G-module W is primitive. Since $\dim(W) = p$ is prime, this module cannot be tensor decomposable nor tensor induced. Now we can apply Aschbacher's theorem in the version given in [28, Proposition 2.8] to (G, W) to conclude that G is almost quasisimple: $S \triangleleft G/\mathbf{Z}(G) \leq \operatorname{Aut}(S)$ for some non-abelian simple group S. In particular, $H = G^{(\infty)} \triangleleft G$ is quasisimple, and moreover irreducible on W by [28, Lemma 2.5]. Hence we can apply Theorem 2.2 to (H, W).

6.1. Imprimitive case.

Proposition 6.6. Suppose we are in case (i) of Proposition 6.5. Then (G, W) is adequate if and only if $|G/A| \neq p$.

Proof. Let $P \in \operatorname{Syl}_p(G)$, so that |P| = p (if P = 1 then G cannot act irreducibly on W). If |G/A| = p, then G = AP, $A = \mathbf{O}_{p'}(G)$ contains all the p'-elements of G but does not act irreducibly on W (as A is a p'-group), whence G is not weakly adequate.

Now assume that $|G/A| \neq p$; in particular, p > 2. Suppose that G has a normal p-complement K. Then $K = \mathbf{O}_{p'}(G) > A$ (as otherwise G = AP and so |G/A| = p), and $H := G/A \leq \mathsf{S}_p$ has a normal p-complement $K/A \neq 1$. Thus H is a transitive subgroup of S_p with C_p as a composition factor. But then $\mathbf{O}_{p'}(H) = 1$ by Lemma 4.8, a contradiction.

Thus G cannot have a normal p-complement, and so $H^i(G, k) = 0$ for i = 1, 2 by Lemma 6.3. Also, W is projective as a G-module by Lemma 6.2, whence $\operatorname{Ext}_G^1(W, W) = 0$.

Since $A \not\leq \mathbf{Z}(G)$, A has p distinct eigenspaces W_1, \ldots, W_p on W permuted transitively by P. Thus, it remains only to prove that

$$\operatorname{End}(W) \cong \bigoplus_{1 \leq i,j \leq p} \operatorname{Hom}(W_i, W_j)$$

is spanned by the images of the p'-elements of G. Given $1 \le i \ne j \le p$, we claim that there exists a p'-element $x \in G$ with $xW_i = W_j$. Since P is transitive on $\{W_1, \ldots, W_p\}$, we can choose $y \in P$ with $yW_i = W_j$. Note that N acts on this set as the Frobenius subgroup $C_p \rtimes C_s$ of S_p , with kernel $A \cap N$, and all the elements of $(C_p \rtimes C_s) \setminus C_p$ are p'-elements. So, since s > 1, we can find $z \in N \setminus AP$ such that $zW_j = W_j$ and set x := zy. Then $xW_i = W_j$ and $x \in N \setminus AP$, whence x is a p'-element.

Now $B := \langle A, x \rangle$ is a p'-group. Note that $W_A = \bigoplus_{a=1}^p W_a$ is a direct sum of p non-isomorphic simple A-submodules. Hence $W_B = \bigoplus_{b=1}^t U_b$ is a direct sum of $t \geq 1$ non-isomorphic simple B-modules, with $U_1 \supseteq W_i \oplus W_j$. By the Artin-Wedderburn theorem, the image of kB in $\operatorname{End}(W)$ is just $\bigoplus_{b=1}^t \operatorname{End}(U_b)$, and so it contains

$$\operatorname{End}(U_1) \supseteq \operatorname{End}(W_i) \oplus \operatorname{End}(W_j) \oplus \operatorname{Hom}(W_i, W_j) \oplus \operatorname{Hom}(W_j, W_i),$$

and the result follows.

6.2. Chevalley groups in characteristic p. We first point out the following:

Proposition 6.7. Let H be a quasisimple finite group of Lie type in characteristic p. Let k be an algebraically closed field of characteristic p. Let W be a faithful irreducible kH-module of prime dimension $r \leq p$. Then one of the following statements holds:

- (i) $H = \operatorname{SL}_2(p^a)$ for r = 2 and $H = \operatorname{PSL}_2(p^a)$ for r > 2;
- (ii) $H = \operatorname{SL}_r(p^a)$ or $\operatorname{SU}_r(p^a)$, and r > 2;
- (iii) $H = \Omega_r(p^a)$ and $r \geq 5$; or
- (iv) r = 7 and $H = G_2(p^a)$.

Proof. Since $\operatorname{char}(k) = p$ and V is faithful, $\mathbf{O}_p(H) = 1$. Hence there is a simple simply connected algebraic group \mathcal{G} in characteristic p and a Frobenius endomorphism $F: \mathcal{G} \to \mathcal{G}$ such that $H \cong G/Z$ for $G:=\mathcal{G}^F$ and $Z \leq \mathbf{Z}(G)$. Inflate W to a kG-module. Since $r = \dim W$ is prime, W is tensor indecomposable and in particular is a twist of a restricted representation. So we may assume that W is restricted and extend W to a $k\mathcal{G}$ -module. By [36], it follows that $W = L(\lambda)$ where λ is a dominant weight, and $\dim W$ equals the dimension of the Weyl module $V(\lambda)$ labeled by λ . Thus, we can apply the same result for characteristic 0 which was proved by Gabber [39, 1.6].

Proposition 6.8. Suppose we are in case (ii) of Proposition 6.5. Assume in addition that $H = G^{(\infty)}$ is a quasisimple group of Lie type in characteristic p > 3. Then (G, W) is adequate.

Proof. By the hypothesis, we have that H is quasisimple and irreducible on W. So we can apply Proposition 6.7 to H; in particular we have that $W_H = L(\lambda)$ is a restricted module (up to a Frobenius twist; in what follows we will ignore this twist). In the case $H = \mathrm{PSL}_2(p^a)$, we have that $\lambda = (p-1)\varpi_1$, where ϖ_1 is the fundamental weight. Since

 W_H is G-invariant, we see that G cannot induce nontrivial field automorphisms on H; in particular, $G^+ = H$. In other cases, applying Propositions 5.4.11 and 5.4.12 of [40], we see that $W_H \cong \mathcal{N}$ or \mathcal{N}^* where \mathcal{N} is the natural kH-module of dimension p (with highest weight ϖ_1), and again $G^+ = H$.

By Remark 6.1, without loss we may now assume G=H. Note that all the classical groups given in the previous proposition when r=p contain an irreducible subgroup $L\cong \mathrm{PSL}_2(p)$. Indeed, the irreducible kL-representation of degree p embeds L in $M\cong \Omega_p(p)$. In turn, M embeds in $\mathrm{SL}_p(q)$ and $\mathrm{SU}_p(q)$ for any $q=p^a$. The same is true for $\mathrm{G}_2(p)$ with p=7: $\mathrm{G}_2(7)>\mathrm{G}_2(2)>\mathrm{PSL}_2(7)$. (It is well known, see e.g. [41] that $H=\mathrm{G}_2(7)$ contains a maximal subgroup $X\cong \mathrm{G}_2(2)$ which acts irreducibly on the minimal 7-dimensional H-module W. Next, X contains a maximal subgroup $Y\cong \mathrm{PSL}_2(7)$, cf. [10]. Using [34] one can check that Y is irreducible on W.) Thus weak adequacy follows by [23, Proposition 3.1].

It is well known that $H^1(G, k) = H^2(G, k) = 0$ (since p > 3). Thus, it suffices to show that $\operatorname{Ext}_G^1(W, W) = 0$. If $G = \operatorname{PSL}_2(p^a)$, the result follows by [2]. If $G = \Omega_5(5)$, one computes directly that $\operatorname{Ext}_G^1(W, W) = 0$ (this was done by Klaus Lux). In all other cases, $\operatorname{Ext}_G^1(W, W) = 0$ by the main result of [48].

6.3. Remaining cases.

Lemma 6.9. Let $k = \bar{k}$, $H = A_{p+1}$ with $p \ge 5$, and let W be an irreducible kH-module of dimension p. Then (H, W) is weakly adequate.

Proof. Note that W is irreducible over a subgroup $L \cong \mathrm{PSL}_2(p)$ of H. Hence the claim follows by [23, Proposition 3.1].

We record the following useful observation:

Lemma 6.10. Let X be a finite p'-subgroup of G < GL(W) where W is a finite dimensional vector space over k. Suppose that W_X is multiplicity-free. Then $(\operatorname{End}(W)/\mathcal{M})^X = 0$.

Proof. Note that the X-module $\operatorname{End}(W)$ is semisimple. Furthermore, the multiplicity-free assumption implies $\mathcal{M} \supseteq \operatorname{End}(W)^X$ by the Artin-Wedderburn theorem. Hence the claim follows.

Proposition 6.11. Let $k = \bar{k}$, $H = PSp_{2n}(q)$ with 2 , and let <math>W be an irreducible kH-module of dimension p. Then (H, W) is weakly adequate.

Proof. (a) Note that W is a Weil module and restricts irreducibly to a subgroup $\mathrm{PSL}_2(q^n)$ of H. So without loss we may assume n=1. We will inflate W to a kL-module for $L:=\mathrm{SL}_2(q)$. Note that W is obtained by reducing modulo p one of the four complex Weil modules of L, with characters η_i of degree (q-1)/2 and ξ_i of degree (q+1)/2, where i=1,2 and $\xi_i+\eta_i$ is a reducible Weil character of L, see e.g. [24] and [64]. Let τ denote the permutation character of L acting on the set of all vectors of the natural module $\mathcal{N}:=\mathbb{F}_q^2$. Using the character table of L as given on [13, p. 155], we see that

(6.1)
$$(\xi_i + \eta_i)(\bar{\xi}_i + \bar{\eta}_i) = \tau.$$

Let $P := \operatorname{Stab}_L(\langle v \rangle_{\mathbb{F}_q})$ for some $0 \neq v \in \mathcal{N}$ with normal subgroup $Q := \operatorname{Stab}_L(v)$ of order q, and let φ denote the Brauer character of W. Assume the contrary: $\mathcal{M} \neq \operatorname{End}(W)$, and let ϑ denote the Brauer character of $Q := \operatorname{End}(W)/\mathcal{M}$.

(b) Consider the case p=(q+1)/2, whence $\varphi=\xi_i^\circ$ and P is a p'-group. Inspecting the values of φ_P , we see that $W_P=W_1\oplus W_2$ with $W_1,W_2\in\operatorname{Irr}(P)$ of dimension 1 and (q-1)/2>1. Moreover, $(W_1)_Q$ is trivial, and $W_2^Q=0$. By the Artin-Wedderburn theorem applied to P, $\mathcal{M}\supseteq\operatorname{End}(W_1)\oplus\operatorname{End}(W_2)$; in particular, $\dim\mathcal{M}^P\ge 2=\dim\operatorname{End}(W)^P$. Hence we conclude that for any composition factor Y of $\operatorname{End}(W)/\mathcal{M}$, $Y^Q=0$ and $\dim Y\le q-1$.

Let ρ denote the permutation character of L acting on the 1-spaces of \mathcal{N} . Then $\rho = 1_L + \mathsf{St}$, where St is the Steinberg character of L. Moreover, all irreducible constituents of $\tau - \rho - 1_L$ have degree q+1 or (q+1)/2 and thus have p-defect 0. Note that $\mathsf{St}^\circ = 1_L + \psi$ with $\psi \in \mathsf{IBr}_p(L)$ (see [7]), and ρ is the character of the PIM $\mathcal{P}(1_L)$ of 1_L . Since $\varphi = \xi_i^\circ$ has degree p and (the projective module) $\mathsf{End}(W)$ contains a trivial simple submodule, we see that $\mathsf{End}(W)$ is the direct sum of $\mathcal{P}(1_L)$ and some p-defect 0 modules of dimension q+1 or (q+1)/2. In particular, since ψ is the Brauer character of the heart of $\mathcal{P}(1_L)$, it cannot be afforded by a quotient of $\mathsf{End}(W)$, and so $\vartheta \neq \psi$. Since $\vartheta(1) \leq q-1$, it follows that all irreducible constituents of ϑ are of degree 1 (with multiplicity ≤ 2) and (q+1)/2 (with multiplicity ≤ 1). But the principal character and the Weil characters of degree (q+1)/2 of L all contain 1_Q when restricted to Q, a contradiction.

(c) Now assume that p = (q-1)/2; in particular, $\varphi = \eta_i^{\circ}$ and $q \equiv 3 \pmod{4}$. Consider a cyclic subgroup $C \cong C_{(q+1)/2}$ of H. It is straightforward to check that for any $\chi \in \operatorname{Irr}(H)$, either $[\chi_Q, 1_Q]_Q \neq 0$ or $[\chi_C, 1_C]_C \neq 0$. Since irreducible p-Brauer characters of H lift to complex characters (cf. [7]), it follows that for any $U \in \operatorname{IBr}_p(H)$, either $U^Q \neq 0$, or $U^C \neq 0$.

Now we may assume $\varphi = \eta_1^{\circ}$ and observe that both φ_Q and φ_C are multiplicity-free. Hence, each of Q, C has no nonzero fixed points on $\operatorname{End}(W)/\mathcal{M}$ by Lemma 6.10. Consequently, $\mathcal{M} = \operatorname{End}(W)$.

Proposition 6.12. Let $k = \bar{k}$ and let $H = \operatorname{SL}_n(q)$, where either 3 or <math>(n, p) = (2, q - 1). Let W be an irreducible kH-module of dimension p. Then (H, W) is weakly adequate.

Proof. Let $\mathcal{N} = \langle e_1, \dots, e_n \rangle_{\mathbb{F}_q}$ denote the natural $\mathbb{F}_q H$ -module, and let $P := \operatorname{Stab}_H(\langle e_1 \rangle_{\mathbb{F}_q})$. Since $\operatorname{SL}_2(4) \cong \operatorname{PSL}_2(5)$ and $\operatorname{SL}_3(2) \cong \operatorname{PSL}_2(7)$, we may assume $(n,q) \neq (2,4)$, (3,2). Also, let φ denote the Brauer character of W.

- (a) First we consider the case $p = (q^n 1)/(q 1)$. In this case, W is induced from a one-dimensional kP-module with character say λ . So we can write $W = \bigoplus_{\omega \in \mathbb{P}\mathcal{N}} W_{\omega}$ as a direct sum of one-dimensional subspaces W_{ω} permuted transitively by H, where $\mathbb{P}\mathcal{N}$ is the set of 1-spaces in \mathcal{N} .
- (a1) Assume in addition that $n \geq 3$. It suffices to show that, for any two distinct $\omega_1 = \langle e \rangle_{\mathbb{F}_q}$, $\omega_2 = \langle f \rangle_{\mathbb{F}_q} \in \mathbb{P}\mathcal{N}$,

(6.2)
$$\mathcal{M} \supseteq \operatorname{End}(W_{\omega_1}) \oplus \operatorname{Hom}(W_{\omega_1}, W_{\omega_2}) \oplus \operatorname{Hom}(W_{\omega_2}, W_{\omega_1}).$$

Since H acts transitively on those pairs (ω_1, ω_2) , we may assume that $e = e_1$ and $e = e_2$.

Consider an opposite parabolic subgroup $R:=\operatorname{Stab}_H(\mathcal{N}_1)$ for $\mathcal{N}_1:=\langle e_1,\ldots,e_{n-1}\rangle_{\mathbb{F}_q}$, which is a p'-subgroup. Then R stabilizes the subspace $W_1:=\oplus_{\omega\in\mathbb{P}\mathcal{N}_1}W_{\omega}$ of dimension $(q^{n-1}-1)/(q-1)$. Note that the unipotent radical Q of R acts trivially on W_1 . Indeed, $q\geq 3$ since we are assuming $n\geq 3$ and $(n,q)\neq (3,2)$. Now the Levi subgroup $L:=\operatorname{Stab}_H(\mathcal{N}_1,\langle e_n\rangle_{\mathbb{F}_q})$ of R acts transitively on $q^{n-1}-1>\dim W_1$ nontrivial linear characters of Q, whence the claim follows. Now we identify L with $\operatorname{GL}_{n-1}(q)$ via $\operatorname{diag}(X,\det(X)^{-1})\mapsto X$. Then the L-character of W_1 is just induced from the character $\lambda_{P\cap L}\neq 1_{P\cap L}$ of the maximal parabolic subgroup $P\cap L$ (of index $(q^{n-1}-1)/(q-1)$) of L. Hence W_1 is an irreducible Weil module of dimension $(q^{n-1}-1)/(q-1)$ for L, and it is irreducible over R. Note that L is a linear character of order dividing L in L in an interducible over L in any unipotent element of L. Using this, one can check that L0 in L1 and so it takes value 1 on any unipotent element of L2. Using this, one can check that L2 in particular,

$$\varphi_Q = \frac{q^{n-1} - 1}{q - 1} \cdot 1_Q + \sum_{\nu \in Irr(Q)} \nu = (\dim W_1 + 1) \cdot 1_Q + \sum_{1_Q \neq \nu \in Irr(Q)} \nu.$$

It now follows (by Clifford's theorem) that $W_R = W_1 \oplus W_2 \oplus W_3$, where W_2 has dimension 1, $W^Q = W_1 \oplus W_2$, and W_3 is irreducible of dimension $q^{n-1} - 1$. Applying the Artin-Wedderburn theorem, we see that $\mathcal{M} \supseteq \operatorname{End}(W_1)$. Since $e_1, e_2 \in \mathcal{N}_1$, (6.2) follows.

(a2) Assume now that n=2, and so $p=q+1\geq 17$. In this case, φ is real, and so W is self-dual and supports a non-degenerate H-invariant symmetric bilinear form (\cdot,\cdot) . Write P=QT where Q is elementary abelian of order q and $T\cong C_{q-1}$. We also consider another parabolic subgroup $P^{\sharp}=Q^{\sharp}T:=\operatorname{Stab}_{H}(\langle e_{2}\rangle_{\mathbb{F}_{q}})$, with $T=P\cap P^{\sharp}$. Letting ρ denote the regular character of T and $\nu:=\lambda_{T}$, we see that

(6.3)
$$\varphi_T = \rho + \nu + \nu^{-1}, \ \varphi_Q = 1_Q + \sum_{\alpha \in \operatorname{Irr}(Q)} \alpha.$$

Next, using (6.3) one can see that $W_P = \mathbf{C}_W(Q) \perp [W,Q]$, a direct orthogonal sum of two P-submodules. Here, $C := \mathbf{C}_W(Q)$ is of dimension 2 and affords the T-character $\nu + \nu^{-1}$, [W,Q] is of dimension q-1 and affords the Q-character $\sum_{1_Q \neq \alpha \in \operatorname{Irr}(Q)} \alpha$ and the T-character ρ (as T permutes cyclically and transitively the q-1 non-principal irreducible characters of Q). It also follows that these two subspaces are non-degenerate and self-dual P-submodules. Next, we can further decompose:

$$[W,Q] = A \perp B$$

as an orthogonal sum of two self-dual T-modules, where A affords the T-character $\rho - \nu - \nu^{-1}$, and B affords the T-character $\nu + \nu^{-1}$. Summarizing, we have that

$$W_P = A \perp B \perp C$$
,

where $A \perp B$ is an irreducible P-module of dimension q-1, and C is a sum of two irreducible P-modules of dimension 1. Applying the Artin-Wedderburn theorem to (P, W), we obtain

(6.4)
$$\mathcal{M} \supset \operatorname{End}(A \oplus B) := \{ f \in \operatorname{End}(W) \mid f(A \oplus B) \subseteq A \oplus B, f(C) = 0 \}.$$

Repeating the above argument for P^{\sharp} instead of P, we have that

$$W_{P^{\sharp}} = A^{\sharp} \perp B^{\sharp} \perp C^{\sharp},$$

where A^{\sharp} affords the *T*-character $\rho - \nu - \nu^{-1}$, B^{\sharp} affords the *T*-character $\nu + \nu^{-1}$, and $C^{\sharp} = \mathbf{C}_W(Q^{\sharp})$ affords the *T*-character $\nu + \nu^{-1}$, and

$$(6.5) \mathcal{M} \supset \operatorname{End}(A^{\sharp} \oplus B^{\sharp}) := \{ f \in \operatorname{End}(W) \mid f(A^{\sharp} \oplus B^{\sharp}) \subseteq A^{\sharp} \oplus B^{\sharp}, f(C^{\sharp}) = 0 \}.$$

Comparing with (6.3), we see that $A^{\sharp} = A$. Furthermore, $C \cap C^{\sharp}$ is centralized by $\langle Q, Q^{\sharp} \rangle = H$, so $C \cap C^{\sharp} = 0$. But both C and C^{\sharp} are of dimension 2 and orthogonal to $A = A^{\sharp}$, whence $C \oplus C^{\sharp} = A^{\perp}$. Next, $B \cap B^{\sharp}$ is a subspace of the non-degenerate subspace A^{\perp} which is orthogonal to both C and C^{\sharp} , so $B \cap B^{\sharp} = 0$. Since dim $B + \dim B^{\sharp} = 4 = \dim A^{\perp}$, we have shown that

$$A^{\sharp} = A, \ A^{\perp} = B \oplus B^{\sharp} = C \oplus C^{\sharp}, \ W = A \perp (B \oplus B^{\sharp}).$$

Suppose now that $f \in \text{End}(W)$ belongs to both $\text{End}(A \oplus B)$ and $\text{End}(A \oplus B^{\sharp})$ as identified in (6.4) and (6.5). Then f = 0 on $C \oplus C^{\sharp} = A^{\perp}$, i.e. $f(A^{\perp}) = 0$. Next,

$$f(A) \subseteq (A \oplus B) \cap (A \oplus B^{\sharp}) = A.$$

It follows that

 $\operatorname{End}(A \oplus B) \cap \operatorname{End}(A \oplus B^{\sharp}) \subseteq \operatorname{End}(A) := \{ f \in \operatorname{End}(W) \mid f(A) \subseteq A, f(A^{\perp}) = 0 \},$ and so by (6.4), (6.5) we have

$$\dim \mathcal{M} \ge 2(q-1)^2 - (q-3)^2 = q^2 + 2q - 7,$$

i.e. $\operatorname{codim}_{\operatorname{End}(W)} \mathcal{M} \leq 8$.

On the other hand, all non-principal $\psi \in \operatorname{IBr}_p(H)$ have degree $\geq q-1 \geq 15$. So, assuming $\mathcal{M} \neq \operatorname{End}(W)$, we see that all composition factors of the H-module $\mathcal{Q} := \operatorname{End}(W)/\mathcal{M}$ are trivial. Since H is perfect, it follows that H acts trivially on \mathcal{Q} . But $\dim \operatorname{Hom}_{kH}(\operatorname{End}(W), 1_H) = 1$, so \mathcal{M} is contained in the unique submodule $\mathcal{E}_0 := \{f \in \operatorname{End}(W) \mid \operatorname{tr}(f) = 0\}$ of codimension 1 in $\operatorname{End}(W)$. But this is a contradiction, since by (6.4), \mathcal{M} contains the map g which acts as identity on $A \oplus B$ and as 0 on C, with $\operatorname{tr}(g) = q - 1 = p - 2 \neq 0$.

(b) Now we handle the case p=q-1 (so $2\mid q\geq 8$). Then for the unipotent radical Q of P we have

$$W_Q = \bigoplus_{1_Q \neq \alpha \in \mathrm{Irr}(Q)} W_\alpha$$

with W_{α} affording the Q-character α . Next, let $S \cong C_{q+1}$ be a non-split torus in H. Then there is some $1_S \neq \gamma \in Irr(S)$ such that

$$W_S = \bigoplus_{\beta \in \operatorname{Irr}(S), \ \beta \neq \gamma, \gamma^{-1}} W_\beta$$

with W_{β} affording the S-character β . Thus both Q and S are multiplicity-free on W. By Lemma 6.10, we see that for any composition factor U of $\operatorname{End}(W)/\mathcal{M}$, $U^Q = U^S = 0$. On the other hand, inspecting the (Brauer) character table of H (see [7]), one sees that $U^Q \neq 0$ if $\dim U = 1, q, q+1$ and $U^S \neq 0$ if $\dim U = q-1$, for any $U \in \operatorname{IBr}_p(H)$. Hence we conclude that $\mathcal{M} = \operatorname{End}(W)$.

Proposition 6.13. Let $k = \bar{k}$ and let $H = SU_n(q)$ with $3 and <math>n \ge 3$. Let W be an irreducible kH-module of dimension p. Then (H, W) is weakly adequate.

Proof. Let φ denote the Brauer character of W and let $\mathcal{N} := \mathbb{F}_{q^2}^n$ denote the natural $\mathbb{F}_{q^2}H$ module. Recall that H possesses the so-called reducible Weil character

(6.6)
$$\zeta_{n,q} : g \mapsto (-1)^n (-q)^{\dim_{\mathbb{F}_{q^2}} \operatorname{Ker}(g-1)}$$

for all $g \in H$, which decomposes as the sum of q+1 distinct irreducible Weil characters

$$\zeta_{n,q} = \sum_{i=0}^{q} \zeta_n^i$$

(of degree $(q^n-q)/(q+1)$ for i=0 and $(q^n+1)/(q+1)$ for i>0), see [64]. Then φ can be obtained by restricting some ζ_n^j with j>0 to p'-elements of H. We also let $P:=\operatorname{Stab}_H(U)$ for a maximal totally singular subspace U of \mathcal{N} , with unipotent radical Q (so P is a p'-group), and let ρ denote the permutation character of H acting on the set Ω of singular 1-spaces of \mathcal{N} .

- (a) First we show that
- the only irreducible constituents of $\zeta_n^j \bar{\zeta}_n^j$ that are *not* of *p*-defect 0 are 1_H and (possibly) another one, σ , of degree

(6.7)
$$\sigma(1) = \frac{(q^n - q)(q^n + q^2)}{(q^2 - 1)(q + 1)};$$

- all p-defect 0 constituents of $\zeta_n^j \bar{\zeta}_n^j$ have degree > 2p if n > 3, and
- σ is the Steinberg character St of H if n=3 and it is a constituent of ρ if n>3. Indeed, (6.6) implies that $(\zeta_{n,q})^2$ is just the permutation character of H acting on the point

set of \mathcal{N} , and at the same time it equals the restriction to H of the reducible Weil character $\zeta_{2n,q}$ of $\mathrm{SU}_{2n}(q)$, if we embed H diagonally into $\mathrm{SU}_{2n}(q)$: $X \mapsto \mathrm{diag}(X,X)$. Assume n > 3. Then all irreducible constituents of the latter restriction are described by [44, Proposition 6.3], and their degrees are listed in [44, Table III]. It follows that $(\zeta_{n,q})^2$ has exactly two non-p-defect 0 irreducible constituents, namely 1_H (with multiplicity q + 1) and another one σ of indicated degree (with multiplicity q). Certainly, the permutation representation of H on (the point set of) \mathcal{N} contains the permutation representation of G on G as a subrepresentation (no matter if n > 3 or not). On the other hand, ρ contains an irreducible constituent of degree as listed in (6.7) (see [57, Table 2]), so $\rho = 1_H + \sigma + \psi$ (and $\psi \in \operatorname{Irr}(H)$ has p-defect 0). One also easily checks all defect 0 constituents of $(\zeta_{n,q})^2$ have degree > 2p.

Suppose that n=3; in particular $3 \nmid (q+1)$ and q>2. Inspecting the character table of $H=\mathrm{SU}_3(q)$ as given in [17], we see that the only non-p-defect 0 irreducible characters of H are 1_H , the Weil character ζ_3^0 of degree q^2-q , the Steinberg character St of degree q^3 matching (6.7), and $(q^2-q)/3$ characters $\chi_{(q+1)^2(q-1)}^{(u)}$. Direct calculations show that $[\zeta_3^j \bar{\zeta}_3^j, \chi_{(q+1)^2(q-1)}^{(u)}]_H=0$. Next, observe that

$$(\zeta_{3,q})^2 = 1_H + 1_Q^H + (q-1)1_L^H,$$

where $Q = \operatorname{Stab}_{H}(u)$ is the unipotent radical of P as above (if $U = \langle u \rangle_{\mathbb{F}_{q^2}}$) and $L = \operatorname{Stab}_{H}(v) \cong \operatorname{SU}_{2}(q)$ for some non-singular $v \in \mathcal{N}$. Furthermore,

$$[(\zeta_3^0)_Q, 1_Q]_Q = 0, \ (\zeta_3^0)_L = \sum_{i=1}^q \zeta_2^i.$$

The former relation implies $[\zeta_3^0, 1_Q^H]_H = 0$. On the other hand, by [64, Lemma 4.7(ii)], each ζ_2^i in the latter relation is obtained by restricting an irreducible character of degree $q-1 \geq 2$ of $\mathrm{GU}_2(q) \rhd L$ to L. It follows by Clifford's theorem that $[\zeta_3^0, 1_L^H]_H = 0$. Thus we have shown that ζ_3^0 is *not* a constituent of $(\zeta_{3,q})^2$, as claimed.

- (b) Now we show that, if β is an irreducible constituent of $\varphi\bar{\varphi}$ and $\beta \neq 1_H$, then either $\beta(1) \geq 2p$, or n=3, $\beta(1)=p$, and $[\beta_Q,1_Q]_Q>0$. Indeed, suppose that $\beta(1)<2p$. Suppose for the moment that n>3. Then by the results of (a), β is a constituent of the Brauer character σ° . But according to [43], $\sigma^{\circ}-1_H\in \mathrm{IBr}_p(H)$, so $\beta(1)=\sigma(1)-1>2p$ by (6.7), a contradiction. Thus n=3. If moreover β is in a block of p-defect 0, then using [17, Table 3.1] we see that $\beta(1)=p$, $\beta=(\zeta_3^i)^{\circ}$ for some i>0 and so β_Q contains 1_Q . Otherwise, by the results of (a), β is a constituent of St° . In this case, according to [17, Theorem 4.2], $\mathrm{St}^{\circ}-1_H\in \mathrm{IBr}_p(H)$ and so $\beta(1)=\mathrm{St}(1)-1=q^3-1>2p$, again a contradiction.
- (c) When $n \geq 5$, according to Lemmas 12.5 and 12.6 of [24], $\varphi_{\mathbf{Z}(Q)}$ contains a non-principal linear character λ , whose P-orbit \mathcal{O} has length $(q^{n-1}-1)/(q+1)$; moreover, any irreducible character of Q above λ has degree q. Since $\varphi(1) = (q^n+1)/(q+1)$, it follows that $W_P = A \oplus B$, where $B := \mathbf{C}_W(\mathbf{Z}(Q))$ has dimension $1, A := [W, \mathbf{Z}(Q)] \in \operatorname{Irr}(P)$ has dimension $(q^n q)/(q+1) = p-1$ and affords the $\mathbf{Z}(Q)$ -character $q \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{O}} \alpha$. The same is also true for n = 3, see Tables 2.1 and 3.1 of [17]. Applying the Artin-Wedderburn theorem to (P, W), we see that

$$\mathcal{M} \supseteq \operatorname{End}(A) \oplus \operatorname{End}(B)$$
.

In particular, if $\mathcal{M} \neq \operatorname{End}(W)$, then any composition factor X of the H-module $\operatorname{End}(W)/\mathcal{M}$ has dimension $\leq 2p-2$ and moreover $X^Q \subseteq X^{\mathbf{Z}(Q)} = 0$. But this is impossible by the results of (b).

Lemma 6.14. Let $k = \bar{k}$ and let W be an irreducible kH-module of dimension $p \geq 3$, where H is quasisimple and (H, W) is one of the non-serial examples listed in Tables I,IIa, IIb, or III. Then (H, W) is weakly adequate.

Proof. Let φ denote the Brauer character of W. Note that the cases $(H, p) = (A_5, 3)$, $(A_6, 5)$ are covered by Proposition 6.11 since $A_5 \cong \mathrm{PSp}_2(5)$ and $A_6 \cong \mathrm{PSL}_2(9)$.

Suppose that $(H, p) = (\operatorname{Sp}_6(2), 7)$. Then $H > L \cong \operatorname{SL}_2(8)$, and φ_L is irreducible (see [34]), so we are done by Proposition 6.12.

Assume that $(H, p) = (M_{11}, 11)$. Then H contains a p'-subgroup $L = M_{10} \cong A_6 \cdot 2_3$, and using [16] we can check that $\varphi_L = \lambda + \psi$, where $\lambda, \psi \in \operatorname{Irr}(L)$ are rational of degree 1 and 10 (and $\lambda \neq 1_L$). It follows that $W_L = A \oplus B$, where A affords the character λ and B affords the character ψ . Applying the Artin-Wedderburn theorem to (L, W) we see that $\mathcal{M} \supseteq \operatorname{End}(A) \oplus \operatorname{End}(B)$. In particular, if $\mathcal{M} \neq \operatorname{End}(M)$, then any composition factor U of the H-module $\operatorname{End}(W)/\mathcal{M}$ has dimension ≤ 20 and moreover all composition factors of U_L afford the character $\lambda \psi = \psi$. The latter condition also implies that dim U = 10 or 20. On

the other hand, using [34] and [16] we see that any such U must be of dimension 10 and its character restricted to L yields an irreducible non-rational character, different from ψ . Hence $\mathcal{M} = \operatorname{End}(W)$.

Assume that $(H, p) = (M_{12}, 11)$. Then H contains a maximal subgroup $L \cong PSL_2(11)$, and using [16] we can check that φ_L is irreducible. So we are done by [23, Proposition 3.1].

Assume that $(H, p) = (M_{24}, 23)$. Then H contains a maximal subgroup $L \cong PSL_2(23)$, and using [16] we can check that φ_L is irreducible. So we are done by [23, Proposition 3.1].

Assume that $(H,p) = (Co_2, 23)$ or $(Co_3, 23)$. Then H contains a p'-subgroup $L \cong McL$, and using [10] we can check that $\varphi_L = 1_L + \psi$, with $\psi \in Irr(L)$. It follows that $W_L = A \oplus B$, where $A := \mathbf{C}_W(L)$ has dimension 1 and B affords the character ψ . Applying the Artin-Wedderburn theorem to (L, W) we see that $\mathcal{M} \supseteq \operatorname{End}(A) \oplus \operatorname{End}(B)$. In particular, if $\mathcal{M} \neq \operatorname{End}(M)$, then any composition factor U of the H-module $\operatorname{End}(W)/\mathcal{M}$ has dimension ≤ 44 and moreover $U^L = 0$. On the other hand, using [49] we see that the only irreducible kH-modules of dimension ≤ 44 are k and W, and both have nonzero L-fixed points. Hence we conclude that $\mathcal{M} = \operatorname{End}(W)$.

Now we can prove Theorem 1.7 which we restate:

Theorem 6.15. Let $k = \bar{k}$ be of characteristic p and let G be a finite group with a faithful irreducible kG-module V of dimension p. Then precisely one of the following holds:

- (i) G is adequate on V;
- (ii) G contains an abelian normal subgroup A of index p (and G permutes p onedimensional summands of V with kernel A); or
- (iii) p = 3 and the image of G in PGL(V) is $PSL_2(9)$.

Proof. First assume that p > 3. Apply Proposition 6.5 to G. In the case (i) of the proposition, we are done by Proposition 6.6. So we may assume that G is almost quasisimple, $H := G^{(\infty)}$ is quasisimple, with simple quotient S, and H is irreducible on V. If S is of Lie type in characteristic p, we can apply Proposition 6.8. Assume we are in the remaining cases. In all these cases, observe that the outer automorphism group $\operatorname{Out}(S)$ is a p'-group and the Schur multiplier $\operatorname{Mult}(S)$ is a p'-group as well (as p > 3). The first condition implies that $G^+ = H$, whence by Remark 6.1 without loss we may assume G = H and so $H^1(G,k) = 0$. The second condition implies that $H^2(G,k) = 0$. Furthermore, in all cases V lifts to a complex module of p-defect 0, whence V is projective and so $\operatorname{Ext}_G^1(V,V) = 0$. Finally, H is weakly adequate on V by Propositions 6.11, 6.12, 6.13, and Lemmas 6.9, 6.14.

Now consider the cases when p=2 or 3. If V is imprimitive the result follows as above. So assume that V is primitive. Set $H=G^{(\infty)}$.

Suppose that $G = H = \operatorname{SL}_2(p^a)$ or $\operatorname{PSL}_2(p^a)$. Then $a \geq 2$ and the result follows by Corollary 9.4. If G > H then as $V^g \cong V$ as H-modules for all $g \in G$, G/H is a p'-group and G is adequate on V whenever H is. Thus the last case to consider is $H = \operatorname{PSL}_2(9) \cong A_6$. The normalizer of H in $\operatorname{PGL}(V)$ is $\operatorname{PGL}_2(9)$ (the normalizer is just the subgroup of the automorphism group which fixes the isomorphism class of V). If the image of G in $\operatorname{PGL}(V)$ is $\operatorname{PGL}_2(9)$, $H^1(G,k) = H^2(G,k) = 0$ (see the proof of Corollary 9.5) and since $\operatorname{Ext}_G^1(V,V) = 0$, V is adequate in this case.

By Proposition 6.5 and Theorem 2.2, the remaining cases to consider are G almost quasisimple, p = 3 and $H \in \{A_5, PSL_2(7), SL_3(3^a), SU_3(3^a)\}$. In the first two cases, the

order of G is not divisible by 9, whence V is projective and so $\operatorname{Ext}_G^1(V,V)=0$. Note also that $H^1(G,k)=H^2(G,k)=0$. In the first case, $V\otimes V^*$ is a direct sum of the projective cover of k and a 3-dimensional module. Elements of order 5 have nonzero trace and 3-dimensional fixed space. Since elements of order 5 have only a 2-dimensional fixed space on the projective cover of k, it follows that the span of the elements of order 5 generate $V\otimes V^*$. In the second case, $V\otimes V^*$ is the projective cover of k and since the trace of an irreducible character cannot be identically 0, it follows that H is weakly adequate on V in this case as well. Thus, (G,V) is adequate.

In the last two cases, weak adequacy follows from the fact that $V \otimes V^*$ is a uniserial module with trivial socle and head. It follows by the main result of [48] that $\operatorname{Ext}_G^1(V,V)=0$ for a>2. One computes directly that $\operatorname{Ext}_G^1(V,V)=0$ in all other cases (Klaus Lux did the computation; also see [37] for the case of $\operatorname{SL}_3(3^a)$). Since $H^1(G,k)=H^2(G,k)=0$, the result follows.

7. CERTAIN PIMS FOR SIMPLE GROUPS

For a finite group X and a fixed prime p, let $B_0(X)$ denote the principal p-block of X. We will sometimes use the same notation for an irreducible kX-module and its Brauer character.

First we describe the submodule structure of the PIMs for some non-projective modular representations of simple groups H described in Theorems 2.1 and 2.2.

Assume that H has a Sylow p-subgroup P of order p and furthermore that $P = \mathbf{C}_H(P)$. In this case, P has a unique block p with defect group p and canonical character p, see [46, Theorem 4.6.12]. According to Brauer's theorem [46, Theorem 4.12.1], p has a unique p-block p of defect p of (hence p 1), and p 1 and p 2 block p 3 in particular, p 2 block p 3 in this situation, and all of them are p-conjugate (and so non-rational if $|\mathbf{N}_H(P)/P|), cf. Theorem 4.12.1 and Corollary 4.12.2 of [46]. We will use [46, Theorem 4.12.1] to find PIMs <math>p$ 2 for some p 4 in this situation, p 3 for some p 4 in this situation, p 4 in this situation p 4 in this situation, p 4 in this situation, p 4 in this situation p 5 in this situation p 6 in this situation p 7 in this situation p 8 in this situati

7.1. The case $H = \mathrm{PSL}_n(q)$ with $p = (q^n - 1)/(q - 1)$ and $n \geq 2$. First suppose that $n \geq 3$. Then B contains unipotent characters $\chi_0 = 1_H$, χ_1 , and χ_2 labeled by the partitions (n), (n-1,1), and $(n-2,1^2)$, and Brauer characters $\varphi_0 = 1_H$, φ_1 of degree p-2 (afforded by \mathcal{D}), and φ_2 of degree

$$\frac{(q^n - 2q^2 + 1)(q^n - q)}{(q^2 - 1)(q - 1)} + 1$$

(afforded by a kH-module say \mathcal{U}) among others (see e.g. [26, Proposition 3.1]). More precisely,

(7.1)
$$\chi_0^{\circ} = \varphi_0, \ \chi_1^{\circ} = \varphi_0 + \varphi_1, \ \chi_2^{\circ} = \varphi_1 + \varphi_2.$$

Note that

$$\dim(\mathcal{U}) = \varphi_2(1) > 2p$$

unless $(n,q) = (3, \leq 3)$. Since χ_i are rational for i = 0, 1, 2, they are all non-exceptional. Next, the character of any PIM in B is of the form $\psi_1 + \psi_2$, where $\psi_1 \in Irr(B)$ is non-exceptional, and either $\psi_2 \in Irr(B)$, or ψ_2 is the sum of all (p-1)/n exceptional characters in B. Hence the relations (7.1) show that

- $\mathcal{P}(\varphi_0)$ affords the character $(\chi_0 + \chi_1)^\circ = 2\varphi_0 + \varphi_1$. In fact, one can see that $\mathcal{P}(k)$ is the uniserial module $(k|\mathcal{D}|k)$. In particular, this shows that $\operatorname{Ext}_H^1(k,\mathcal{U}) = \operatorname{Ext}_H^1(\mathcal{U},k) = 0$;
- $\mathcal{P}(\varphi_1)$ affords the character $(\chi_1 + \chi_2)^\circ = \varphi_0 + 2\varphi_1 + \varphi_2$. By [46, Corollary 4.12.5], the module $\mathcal{P}(\varphi_1) = \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{D})$ has socle series $(\mathcal{D}|k \oplus \mathcal{U}|\mathcal{D})$. Since φ_1 is real, $\mathcal{P}(\mathcal{D})$ is self-dual. Furthermore, the only nonzero proper submodules of $\mathcal{P}(\mathcal{D})$ are

$$\mathcal{D} = \operatorname{soc}(\mathcal{P}(\mathcal{D})), \ (\mathcal{D}|k), \ (\mathcal{D}|\mathcal{U}), \ (\mathcal{D}|k \oplus \mathcal{U}) = \operatorname{rad}(\mathcal{P}(\mathcal{D})),$$

(cf. [46, Figure 4.3]), and so none is of the form $(\mathcal{D}|k|\mathcal{D})$.

Next, let $H = \mathrm{SL}_2(q)$ and p = q + 1. The decomposition numbers for $B_0(H)$ are given in [7]. In particular, $\mathrm{Irr}(B)$ consists of $\chi_0 = 1_H$, $\chi_1 = \mathsf{St}$ of degree q, and q/2 exceptional characters θ_i , $1 \leq i \leq q/2$, of degree q - 1, and $\mathrm{IBr}_p(B) = \{1_H, \varphi_1\}$, with φ_1 afforded by \mathcal{D} . So as before, we have that $\mathcal{P}(k) = (k|\mathcal{D}|k)$ is uniserial. Next, $\mathcal{P}(\mathcal{D}) = \mathcal{P}(\varphi_1)$ affords the character

$$(\mathsf{St} + \sum_{i=1}^{q/2} \theta_i)^\circ = 1_H + (\frac{q}{2} + 1)\varphi_1.$$

If we let $\mathcal{D}_j = (\mathcal{D}|\mathcal{D}|\dots|\mathcal{D})$ denote a uniserial module with Brauer character $j\varphi_1$, then $\mathcal{P}(\mathcal{D}) = (\mathcal{D}|k \oplus \mathcal{D}_{(q-2)/2}|\mathcal{D})$ (cf. [46, Corollary 4.12.5]). Furthermore, the only nonzero proper submodules of $\mathcal{P}(\mathcal{D})$ are \mathcal{D}_j or $(\mathcal{D}|k \oplus \mathcal{D}_{j-1})$ with $1 \leq j \leq q/2$.

7.2. The case $H = \mathrm{PSU}_n(q)$ with $p = (q^n + 1)/(q + 1), n \geq 3, (n,q) \neq (3,2)$. Note that in this case $\tilde{H} \cong \mathbf{Z}(\tilde{H}) \times H$ for $\tilde{H} := \mathrm{GU}_n(q)$; moreover, the unipotent characters of \tilde{H} as well as the characters in $B_0(\tilde{H})$ are all trivial at $\mathbf{Z}(\tilde{H})$. Hence without loss we may assume $H = \mathrm{GU}_n(q)$. We will consider the unipotent characters $\chi_0 = 1_H, \chi_{1,2,3}$, labeled by the partitions $(n), (n-1,1), (n-2,1^2)$, and $(n-3,1^3)$ (the latter being considered only when n > 3). Using the description of Brauer trees for H given in [15, §6], we see that, when $n \geq 5$, there exist Brauer characters $\varphi_0 = 1_H, \varphi_{1,2,3}$, such that

(7.2)
$$\chi_0^{\circ} = \varphi_0, \ \chi_1^{\circ} = \varphi_1, \ \chi_2^{\circ} = \varphi_0 + \varphi_2, \ \chi_3^{\circ} = \varphi_1 + \varphi_3.$$

In particular, $\varphi_0 = 1_H$, φ_1 is a Weil character of degree p-1,

$$\varphi_2(1) = p \frac{q^n + q^2 - q - 1}{q^2 - 1} - 2 > 8p, \ \varphi_3(1) = p \frac{(q^n - q)(q^n - q^3 + q^2 - 1)}{(q^2 - 1)(q^3 - 1)} - 2p + 2 > 28p.$$

Since χ_i are all rational, they are all non-exceptional, so as in §7.1, the relations (7.2) and [46, Corollary 4.12.5] show that both $\mathcal{P}(\varphi_{0,1})$ are uniserial:

$$\mathcal{P}(\varphi_0) = (\varphi_0|\varphi_2|\varphi_0), \ \mathcal{P}(\varphi_1) = (\varphi_1|\varphi_3|\varphi_1),$$

where we have used the same notation for the module and its Brauer character.

Suppose now that n = 3 and $q \ge 3$. Then we still have $\mathcal{P}(\varphi_0) = (\varphi_0|\varphi_2|\varphi_0)$ is uniserial for $\varphi_0 = 1_H$ and $\varphi_2(1) > 2p$. For the Weil character φ_1 of degree p - 1, now $\mathcal{P}(\varphi_1)$ affords

the character

$$(\chi_1 + \sum_{i=1}^{(p-1)/3} \theta_i)^\circ = \frac{p+2}{3}\varphi_1 + \frac{p-1}{3}\varphi_2,$$

where θ_i are exceptional characters in B, of degree $(q^2-1)(q+1) > 2p$, for $1 \le i \le (p-1)/3$. We claim that

$$\mathcal{P}(\varphi_1) = (\varphi_1|\varphi_2|\varphi_1|\dots|\varphi_2|\varphi_1)$$

is self-dual, uniserial of length (2p+1)/3, with the composition factors φ_1 and φ_2 alternating. The first statement follows since φ_1 is real. The second one holds because in this case, both the socle $\operatorname{soc}(\mathcal{P}(\varphi_1))$ and head $\mathcal{P}(\varphi_1)/\operatorname{rad}(\mathcal{P}(\varphi_1))$ are simple and $\operatorname{rad}(\mathcal{P}(\varphi_1))/\operatorname{soc}(\mathcal{P}(\varphi_1))$ is uniserial. By [63, Theorem 1.1], H has a unique complex character of degree equal to $\varphi_0(1)$ or $\varphi_1(1)$. Hence the last statement holds by Lemma 3.1 since $\varphi_{0,1}$ each has a unique lift to characteristic 0.

7.3. The case $H = \mathrm{SL}_2(q)$ and $p = q - 1 \geq 3$. The decomposition numbers for $B_0(H)$ are given in [7]. In particular, $\mathrm{Irr}(B)$ consists of $\chi_0 = 1_H$, $\chi_1 = \mathsf{St}$ of degree q, and (q-2)/2 exceptional characters θ_i , $1 \leq i \leq q/2$, of degree q+1, and $\mathrm{IBr}_p(B) = \{\varphi_0 = 1_H, \varphi_1\}$, with $\varphi_1 = \mathsf{St}^\circ$ afforded by \mathcal{D} . Clearly, both $\varphi_{0,1}$ have a unique complex lift, so by Lemma 3.1 they have no self-extensions. Arguing as in §7.2 and using [46, Corollary 4.12.5], we see that both

$$\mathcal{P}(\varphi_0) = (\varphi_0|\varphi_1|\varphi_0|\dots|\varphi_1|\varphi_0), \ \mathcal{P}(\varphi_1) = (\varphi_1|\varphi_0|\varphi_1|\dots|\varphi_0|\varphi_1)$$

are self-dual and uniserial of length p, and with the composition factors φ_0 and φ_1 alternating.

7.4. The case $H = A_p$ with $p \ge 7$. Consider the irreducible complex characters $\chi_{0,1,2}$ of S_p labeled by (p), (p-1,1), and $(p-2,1^2)$. By Peel's theorem [54],

(7.3)
$$\chi_0^{\circ} = \varphi_0, \ \chi_1^{\circ} = \varphi_0 + \varphi_1, \ \chi_2^{\circ} = \varphi_1 + \varphi_2,$$

where $\varphi_{0,1,2} \in \operatorname{IBr}_p(\mathsf{S}_p)$, $\varphi_0(1) = 1$, $\varphi_1(1) = p-2$, $\varphi_2(1) = (p-2)(p-3)/2$. It is well known that $\chi_{0,1,2}$ and $\varphi_{0,1}$ are all irreducible over H. Restricting to S_{p-1} , it is easy to see that φ_2 is irreducible over H as well. We will use the same notation for the restrictions of these characters to H. Since $\chi_{0,1,2}$ are rational, they are non-exceptional in $B_0(H)$. Hence, (7.3) and [46, Theorem 4.12.1] imply that $\mathcal{P}(\varphi_0) = (\varphi_0|\varphi_1|\varphi_0)$ is uniserial and that $\mathcal{P}(\varphi_1)$ has socle series $(\varphi_1|\varphi_0 \oplus \varphi_2|\varphi_1)$. In particular, there is no kH-module of the form $(\varphi_1|\varphi_0|\varphi_1)$.

8. Indecomposable modules of dimension less than 2p-2

First we record a simple observation

Lemma 8.1. Let $b \in \mathbb{N}$ and let V be a kG-module of dimension $\leq b$ with a G^+ -composition factor U. Suppose that any quotient of length 2 of $\mathcal{P}(U)$ or $\mathcal{P}(U^*)$ has dimension > b. Then U is a direct summand of the G^+ -module V. If moreover U has multiplicity 1, then the G-module V is either irreducible of dimension $\dim U$, or decomposable.

Proof. Suppose that W is an indecomposable subquotient of length 2 of the G^+ -module V with U as a composition factor. Replacing W by W^* if necessary, we may assume that head $(W) \cong U$ and so W is a quotient of $\mathcal{P}(U)$. But then by the hypothesis, dim $W > b \ge \dim V$, a contradiction. So U is a direct summand of the G^+ -module V by Lemma 3.5(i): $V_{G^+} = U_1 \oplus M$ with $U_1 \cong U$. The last claim now follows from Lemma 3.7(ii).

Given a nontrivial $U \in \mathrm{IBr}_p(X)$, we call any kX-module V U-special, if V has U or U^* as composition factors of total multiplicity ≤ 1 , and moreover all other composition factors of V are trivial.

Lemma 8.2. Let $N = \mathbf{O}^p(N)$, $b \in \mathbb{N}$, and let $U \in \mathrm{IBr}_p(N)$ be a nontrivial module. Suppose that the only U-special quotients of $\mathcal{P}(k)$, $\mathcal{P}(U)$, and $\mathcal{P}(U^*)$ of dimension $\leq b$ are uniserial modules in the list

$$\mathcal{X} := \{k, Y, (k|Y), (Y|k), (k|Y|k) \mid Y = U \text{ or } U^*\}.$$

Let V be any U-special kN-module of dimension $\leq b$. Then $V \cong \bigoplus_{i=1}^{m} X_i$ for some $X_i \in \mathcal{X}$.

Proof. We induct on the length of V. Suppose V has length ≥ 2 . If all composition factors of V are trivial, then N acts trivially on V since $N = \mathbf{O}^p(N)$, and we are done. Replacing V by V^* if necessary, we may assume that V has U as a composition factor of multiplicity 1, and all other composition factors of V are k.

Suppose that U embeds in head(V) := V/R, where $R := \operatorname{rad}(V)$. Then all composition factors of R are trivial, and so N acts trivially on R. Assume in addition that V/R is not simple. Then $V/R = M/R \oplus Y/R$ for some submodules M, Y with $Y/R \cong k$. Again, N acts trivially on Y, so we can write $Y = R \oplus Z$ for some submodule $Z \cong k$. It follows that $V = M \oplus Z$, and we are done by induction. Assume now that $V/R \cong U$. Then the surjection $\mathcal{P}(U) \to V/R$ lifts to a surjection $\mathcal{P}(U) \to V$. Since $\dim V \leq b$, we must then have that $V \in \mathcal{X}$.

The case $U \hookrightarrow \operatorname{soc}(V)$ now follows from the previous case by duality.

Now we may assume that U embeds neither in head(V) nor in $\operatorname{soc}(V)$. Letting W := [N,V] and $T := \operatorname{rad}(W)$, we see that W has no trivial quotient. But W/T is semisimple, so $W/T \cong U$. Applying the induction hypothesis to V/T and noting that U is in the socle but not in the head of V/T, we see that $V/T \cong L/T \oplus Y/T$, where $L/T \cong (U|k)$ and N acts trivially on Y/T. In this case, N acts trivially on Y as well. If moreover $Y \neq T$, then we can decompose $Y = T \oplus Z$ for some submodule $Z \neq 0$, whence $V = L \oplus Z$ and we are done by induction. Thus we may assume $V/T \cong (U|k)$. Consider any maximal submodule M of V. Since $U \not\hookrightarrow \operatorname{head}(V)$, $V/M \cong k$ and so $M \supseteq W$. It follows that $R \supseteq T$ and $R/T = \operatorname{rad}(V/T) \cong U$. Hence $V/R \cong k$. In this final case, the surjection $\mathcal{P}(k) \to V/R$ lifts to a surjection $\mathcal{P}(k) \to V$. Since $\dim V \leq b$, we must again have that $V \in \mathcal{X}$.

Corollary 8.3. Let G^+ be perfect, $b \in \mathbb{N}$, and let $U \in \operatorname{IBr}_p(G^+)$ be a nontrivial module. Suppose that the only U-special quotients of dimension $\leq b$ of $\mathcal{P}(k)$, $\mathcal{P}(U)$, and $\mathcal{P}(U^*)$ are uniserial modules in the list

$$\mathcal{X} := \{k, Y, (k|Y), (Y|k), (k|Y|k) \mid Y = U \text{ or } U^*\}.$$

Let V be any indecomposable kG-module of dimension $\leq b$ such that V_{G^+} is U-special. Then V_{G^+} is also indecomposable and belongs to \mathcal{X} .

Proof. We may assume that exactly one indecomposable direct summand A of V_{G^+} has U as a composition factor, and so $V_{G^+} = A \oplus B$ with G^+ acting trivially on B. Hence B = 0 by Lemma 3.7(ii).

Theorem 8.4. Let G be a finite group, k an algebraically closed field of characteristic p, $\mathbf{O}_p(G) = 1$, and let V be a faithful, indecomposable kG-module of dimension less than 2p-2. Assume in addition that G^+ is quasisimple but not of Lie-type in characteristic p. Then one of the following statements holds, where $U, W \in \mathrm{IBr}_p(G^+)$.

- (i) V is irreducible.
- (ii) $(G^+, p, \dim U) = (\operatorname{SL}_2(q), q-1, p+1), (A_p, p, p-2), (\operatorname{SL}_n(q), (q^n-1)/(q-1), p-2), (M_{11}, 11, 9), (M_{23}, 23, 21).$ Furthermore, V_{G^+} is uniserial of the form $(k|U), (U|k), or (k|U|k), and <math>U \cong U^*$.
- (iii) $(G^+, p, \dim U) = (\operatorname{SL}_2(q), q+1, p-2), U \cong U^*, \text{ and } V_{G^+} \text{ is indecomposable of the form } (U|U), (U|k \oplus U), \text{ or } (k \oplus U|U).$
- (iv) $(G^+, p, \dim U) = (2A_7, 7, 4), V_{G^+} = (U|U)$ is uniserial, and $U \cong U^*$.
- (v) $(G^+, p) = (M_{11}, 11)$ and $V_{G^+} = (U|W)$ is uniserial, $\{\dim U, \dim W\} = \{9, 10\}$.
- (vi) $(G^+, p, \dim U) = (3A_6, 5, 3), V_{G^+} = (U|U)$ is uniserial, and $U \not\cong U^*$.
- (vii) $(G^+, p, \dim U) = ({}^2B_2(8), 13, 14), V_{G^+}$ is unisorial of the form (k|U) or $(U^*|k)$ for a fixed $U \not\cong U^*$.
- Proof. (a) Note that the statement is vacuous for p=2. Throughout the proof, we assume that p>2, V is reducible, and let U be a composition factor of the G^+ -module V of largest dimension. Also set b:=2p-3 whenever we apply Lemma 8.2 and Corollary 8.3. Note that V_{G^+} is (reducible) indecomposable by Corollary 4.5. Next, G^+ must act irreducibly and non-trivially on some subquotient X of V_{G^+} . Applying Theorems 2.1 and 2.2 to the action of G^+ on X, we see that $\operatorname{Mult}(G^+/\mathbf{Z}(G^+))$, and so $\mathbf{Z}(G^+)$, has p'-order. The indecomposability of V_{G^+} then implies that $\mathbf{Z}(G^+)$ acts via scalars on V and that G^+ acts faithfully on U (and so we may identify G^+ with its image in $\operatorname{GL}(U)$). In particular, if k is a composition factor of V_{G^+} , then G^+ is simple. This must be the case if $\mathfrak{d}_p(G^+) \geq p-1$. Also, if $\mathbf{Z}(G^+) \neq 1$, then G^+ acts faithfully on every composition factor of V_{G^+} .
- (b) Assume first that $(G^+, p) = (J_1, 11)$. According to [34], the only $\varphi \in \mathrm{IBr}_p(G^+)$ of degree < 2p are $\varphi_{1,7,14}$. Here we use the notation φ_j to denote the unique $\varphi \in \mathrm{IBr}_p(G^+)$ of degree j. Moreover, using [49] we see that
- $(8.1) \ \mathcal{P}(\varphi_1) = (\varphi_1|\varphi_{119}|\varphi_1), \ \mathcal{P}(\varphi_7) = (\varphi_7|\varphi_{49} \oplus \varphi_{69}|\varphi_7), \ \mathcal{P}(\varphi_{14}) = (\varphi_{14}|\varphi_{106} \oplus \varphi_{119}|\varphi_{14}).$

Since dim V < 2p, each composition factor X of the G^+ -module V must afford the Brauer character φ_i for some $i \in \{1,7,14\}$. Now (8.1) shows that $\operatorname{Ext}^1_{G^+}(X,Y) = 0$ for any two such composition factors X and Y. Hence the G^+ -module V is semisimple by Lemma 3.5, a contradiction.

From now one we may assume that $G^+ \not\cong J_1$ and so $\mathfrak{d}_p(G^+) \geq p-3$ by Theorem 2.1. In particular, dim $U \geq p-3$ and Corollary 3.9 applies.

(c) Here we consider the case where dim U > p. Since dim $V \le 2p - 3$ and V_{G^+} is reducible, it follows that k is a composition factor of V_{G^+} , and so G^+ is simple as noted in (a). Also, all composition factors of V_{G^+} other than U are trivial. Now we apply Theorem 2.2 to (G^+, U) .

Suppose that $G^+ = \mathsf{A}_n$ with $n \ge p$ as in the first row of Table I. Since $p+1 \le \dim U \le 2p-3$, we have that $5 \le p \nmid n$ and $p+2 \le n \le 2p-2$. By [51, Lemma 6.10], $H^1(\mathsf{A}_n,U) = 0$, whence $\mathrm{Ext}^1_{G^+}(k,U) = \mathrm{Ext}^1_{G^+}(U,k) = 0$. Also, $\mathrm{Ext}^1_{G^+}(k,k) = \mathrm{Ext}^1_{G^+}(U,U) = 0$ by Lemma 3.1. It follows by Lemma 3.5 that V_{G^+} is semisimple, a contradiction.

Next suppose that $(G^+, p, \dim U) = (\operatorname{SL}_2(q), q-1, p+1)$ as in Table IIa. Then, as shown in §7.3, (G^+, U) satisfies the hypothesis of Corollary 8.3, and so we arrive at (ii).

In the cases where $(G^+, p, \dim U) = (A_7, 7, 10)$, $(SL_3(3), 13, 16)$, $(SU_4(2), 5, 6)$, $(Sp_4(4), 17, 18)$, $(G_2(3), 13, 14)$, $(J_1, 11, 14)$, $(J_1, 19, 22 \text{ or } 34)$, $(M_{12}, 11, 16)$, or $(M_{11}, 11, 16)$, using the information on decomposition numbers given in [49], one can check that U satisfies the hypothesis of Lemma 8.1, and so V is decomposable, a contradiction.

Assume that $(G^+, p, \dim U) = ({}^2B_2(8), 13, 14)$. Then V is U-special, and using [49] one can check that the only quotients of dimension ≤ 23 of $\mathcal{P}(k)$, $\mathcal{P}(U)$, and $\mathcal{P}(U^*)$ are k, Y, (k|Y), or (Y|k), with Y = U or U^* . Applying Corollary 8.3, we arrive at (vii).

- (d) Next we consider the case dim U = p, and apply Theorem 2.2 to (G^+, U) . By Lemma 6.2, U is projective, and so it is a direct summand of V_{G^+} , a contradiction.
- (e) Assume now that dim U = p 1, and apply Theorem 2.1 to (G^+, U) . Note that U has multiplicity 1 as dim V < 2p 2. First we consider the case $(G^+, p) = (SU_n(q), (q^n + 1)/(q+1))$. In this case, G^+ is simple, $\mathfrak{d}_p(G^+) = p 1$ and so all other composition factors of the G^+ -module V are trivial. As shown in §7.2,

$$\operatorname{Ext}_{G^{+}}^{1}(k, U) = \operatorname{Ext}_{G^{+}}^{1}(U, k) = \operatorname{Ext}_{G^{+}}^{1}(k, k) = \operatorname{Ext}_{G^{+}}^{1}(U, U) = 0.$$

It follows by Lemma 3.5 that V_{G^+} is semisimple, a contradiction.

Suppose now that $(G^+, p) = (\operatorname{Sp}_{2n}(q), (q^n + 1)/2), (2Ru, 29, 28), (3J_3, 19, 18), (2A_7, 5, 4), (3A_7, 7, 6), (6A_7, 7, 6), (2J_2, 7, 6), (6_1 \cdot \operatorname{PSU}_4(3), 7, 6), (6 \cdot \operatorname{PSL}_3(4), 7, 6), (2M_{12}, 11, 10), (2M_{22}, 11, 10), (6Suz, 13, 12), \text{ or } (2G_2(4), 13, 12).$ Since $\mathbf{Z}(G^+) \neq 1$, G^+ acts faithfully on every composition factor X of V_{G^+} as noted in (a), whence $\dim X \geq p-1 > (\dim V)/2$ by Theorem 2.1. It follows that V_{G^+} is irreducible, a contradiction.

Assume that $(G^+, p, \dim U) = (M_{11}, 11, 10)$. The Brauer tree of $B_0(G^+)$ is given in [46, Example 4.12.11]. Using this information, we see that the only quotient of length 2 of dimension ≤ 19 of $\mathcal{P}(U)$ is of form (W|U), where $W \in \mathrm{IBr}_p(M_{11})$ has dimension 9. Arguing as in the proof of Lemma 8.1, we arrive at (v).

- (f) Next we consider the case dim U = p 2 and apply Theorem 2.1 to (G^+, U) . We can exclude the subcase $(G^+, p) = (SL_3(2) \cong PSL_2(7), 7)$.
- (f1) First we assume that $(G^+, p) = (\mathrm{SL}_n(q), (q^n 1)/(q 1))$ or (A_p, p) , and moreover U is a composition factor of V of multiplicity 2. Since dim $V \leq 2p 3$, we have two cases.
- dim V = 2p 3 and so k is also a composition factor of the G^+ -module V. Suppose that head (V_{G^+}) is not simple. Then V_{G^+} contains two maximal submodules A, B of length 2 and $A \cap B \subseteq \operatorname{soc}(V_{G^+})$. On the other hand, the indecomposability of V_{G^+} implies that $\operatorname{soc}(V_{G^+}) \subseteq \operatorname{rad}(V_{G^+}) \subseteq A \cap B$, whence $\operatorname{soc}(V_{G^+}) = A \cap B$ is simple. So up to duality, we may assume that head (V_{G^+}) is simple. It follows that V_{G^+} is a quotient of $\mathcal{P}(U)$ or $\mathcal{P}(k)$. The structure of PIMs described in §§7.1, 7.4 shows that (iii) holds.

- dim V = 2p 4 and so V_{G^+} has exactly two composition factors, both isomorphic to U. As V_{G^+} is indecomposable, it is a quotient of $\mathcal{P}(U)$. Using the results of §§7.1, 7.4, we again arrive at (iii).
- (f2) Now we assume that $(G^+, p) = (\mathrm{SL}_n(q), (q^n 1)/(q 1))$ or (A_p, p) , and moreover U is a composition factor of V of multiplicity 1. By Theorem 2.1, U is the only nontrivial irreducible kG^+ -module of dimension $\leq p-1$. Since $\dim V \leq 2p-3$, it follows that all other composition factors of V_{G^+} are trivial, i.e. V_{G^+} is U-special. The structure of PIMs described in §§7.1, 7.4 shows that the only U-special quotients of dimension at most b=2p-3 of $\mathcal{P}(U)$ and $\mathcal{P}(k)$ all belong to $\{k,U,(U|k),(k|U),(k|U|k)\}$. Also, $U\cong U^*$. Hence we arrive at (ii) by Corollary 8.3.
- (f3) Assume that $(G^+, p, \dim U) = (M_{23}, 23, 21)$. Then $U \cong U^*$, $\mathcal{P}(k) = (k|U|k)$, and the only quotient of length 2 of dimension ≤ 43 of $\mathcal{P}(U)$ is (k|U). Arguing as in the case of A_p in (e1) and (e2), we arrive at (ii).

Consider the case $(G^+, p, \dim U) = (M_{11}, 11, 9)$. Then $U \cong U^*$ and $\mathcal{P}(k) = (k|U|k)$. Using [46, Example 4.12.11] as above, we see that $\mathcal{P}(U)$ has only two non-simple quotients of dimension ≤ 19 , namely (k|U) and (W|U) with $W \in \mathrm{IBr}_p(G^+)$ of dimension 10. Arguing as above we arrive at (ii).

Suppose now that $(G^+, p, \dim U) = (3A_7, 5, 3)$. Recall that U is a composition factor of largest dimension of V_{G^+} and $\mathbf{Z}(G^+)$ acts via scalars on V. Using [34] one can then check that all composition factors of V_{G^+} are isomorphic to U. But $\operatorname{Ext}^1_{G^+}(U, U) = 0$ by Lemma 3.1. Hence V_{G^+} is semisimple by Lemma 3.5(ii), a contradiction.

Suppose that $(G^+, p, \dim U) = (3A_6, 5, 3)$. As in the case of $(3A_7, 5, 3)$, we see that all composition factors of V_{G^+} are isomorphic to U. But dim $V \leq 7$ and V_{G^+} is indecomposable, so head $(V_{G^+}) \cong U$. Inspecting the structure of $\mathcal{P}(U)$ using [49], we conclude that $V_{G^+} \cong (U|U)$ is uniserial, i.e (vi) holds.

(g) Finally, let dim U = p - 3. By Theorem 2.1, we have that $(G^+, p) = (2A_7, 7)$. As in the case of $(3A_7, 5, 3)$, we see that all composition factors of V_{G^+} are isomorphic to U. But dim $V \leq 11$ and V_{G^+} is indecomposable, so head $(V_{G^+}) \cong U$. Note that $\mathcal{P}(U) = (U|U \oplus W|U)$, where $W \in \mathrm{IBr}_p(G^+)$ has dimension 16 (as one can see using [49]). It follows that $V_{G^+} \cong (U|U)$, the unique quotient of dimension 8 of $\mathcal{P}(U)$, and we arrive at (iv). \square

Lemma 8.5. Suppose that p = 3 and V is a reducible, faithful, indecomposable kG-module of dimension $\leq 2p - 3$. Then $\mathbf{O}_p(G) \neq 1$.

Proof. Suppose first that every G^+ -composition factor of V is of dimension 1 and so $\cong k$ (as $G^+ = \mathbf{O}^{p'}(G^+)$). By faithfulness, G^+ is a p-group; moreover $G^+ \neq 1$ as otherwise G is a p'-group. Thus $1 \neq G^+ = \mathbf{O}_p(G)$.

Since V_{G^+} is reducible, it remains to consider the case where V_{G^+} has exactly two composition factors, U of dimension 2 and W of dimension 1, and moreover $\mathbf{O}_p(G) = 1$. Let K denote the kernel of the action of G^+ on U. Again, $G^+ = \mathbf{O}^{p'}(G^+)$ acts trivially on W. It follows by faithfulness of G on V that $K \leq \mathbf{O}_p(G^+) \leq \mathbf{O}_p(G) = 1$. Next, since $G^+ = \mathbf{O}^{p'}(G^+)$, the image of G^+ in $\mathrm{GL}(U)$ is contained in $\mathrm{SL}(U)$. Now if $|G^+|$ is odd, then G^+ is solvable and so by the Fong-Swan theorem cannot act irreducibly on U of dimension 2. So G^+ contains an element of order 2 which must then act as -1_U and belong to $\mathbf{Z}(G^+)$.

Thus U and W have different central characters and so V_{G^+} is semisimple, contradicting Lemma 3.7.

Next we will prove some criteria to decide the type of a self-dual indecomposable module.

Lemma 8.6. Let $k = \overline{k}$ be of characteristic p > 2 and let V be a self-dual indecomposable kG-module with dim $\operatorname{End}_{kG}(V) \leq 2$. Then V supports a non-degenerate G-invariant bilinear form that is either symmetric or alternating. Furthermore, all such forms have the same, symmetric or alternating, type.

Proof. Let Φ denote the matrix representation of G on V relative to a fixed basis (e_1, \ldots, e_n) of V. Since $V \cong V^*$ as G-modules, we can find $b \in GL_n(k)$ such that ${}^t\Phi(g)^{-1} = b\Phi(g)b^{-1}$, and so b yields a non-degenerate G-invariant bilinear form on V. Note that the map $\pi: X \mapsto bX$ yields a k-space isomorphism between $\operatorname{End}_{kG}(V)$ and the space B of Ginvariant bilinear forms on V. In particular, dim $B \leq 2$, and, since p > 2, it is a direct sum $S \oplus A$ of symmetric and alternating G-invariant forms. Hence the claims follow if $\dim \operatorname{End}_{kG}(V) = 1$. Assume $\dim \operatorname{End}_{kG}(V) = 2$. Since V is indecomposable, $\operatorname{End}_{kG}(V)$ is a local algebra, cf. [46, Corollary 1.6.5], and its unique maximal ideal J, which then has dimension 1, consists of (nilpotent) non-units. Thus $\pi(J)$ is contained in the subset D of degenerate G-invariant bilinear forms on V. But $\pi^{-1}(D)$ is obviously contained in J. It follows that $D = \pi(J)$ is a subspace and dim D = 1. Hence we are also done if S or A is zero. Assume $S, A \neq 0$, whence both of them are 1-dimensional. Now if $Y \in D$, then ${}^tY \in B$ and it is degenerate. As p > 2 and dim D = 1, it follows that ${}^tY = \pm Y$. Thus D is either S or A, and so the nonzero forms in the other subspace are precisely the non-degenerate G-invariant forms on V that are either symmetric or alternating.

Lemma 8.7. Suppose that G is a finite group with a Sylow p-subgroup P of order p > 2 such that $\mathbf{N}_G(P)/P$ is abelian. Let V be a reducible self-dual indecomposable G-module over $k = \overline{k}$ of characteristic p, of even dimension d < 2p. Then V is not orthogonal if d < p and V is not symplectic if d > p.

Proof. For $1 \leq i \leq p$, let X_i denote the unique indecomposable kP-module of dimension i (so X_p is projective). By the Green correspondence (see e.g. [46, Theorem 4.9.2]), $V_N = X \oplus Y$ for $N := \mathbf{N}_G(P)$, where X is non-projective indecomposable and Y is projective (if nonzero). Let M denote any indecomposable kN-module. According to [1, p. 42], M is uniserial. Also, Lemma 8 of $[1, \S 5]$ says that the P-radical filtration agrees with the N-radical filtration on M; in particular, $\mathrm{rad}(M) = \mathrm{rad}(M_P)$. As N/P is abelian, any irreducible kN-module remains irreducible as over P. It follows that M_P is indecomposable. Applying this to X and Y, we see that $V_P = X_d$ if d < p, respectively $V_P = X_{d-p} \oplus X_p$ if d > p. Now suppose that V is equipped with a non-degenerate G-invariant bilinear form of a fixed parity. The claim then follows by using the description of Jordan forms of unipotent elements in classical groups, see e.g. [45, Theorem 3.1].

Proof of Theorem 1.9. There is nothing to prove for p = 2; furthermore $p \neq 3$ by Lemma 8.5. So we may assume p > 3. By Proposition 4.4, the self-duality of V implies that G^+ is quasisimple. If furthermore G^+ is not a Lie-type group in characteristic p, then by Theorem 8.4 we arrive at (i) and (ii). Assume that G^+ is of Lie-type in characteristic

p. By Lemma 4.3(i), $G^+ \cong \operatorname{SL}_2(q)$ or $\operatorname{PSL}_2(q)$ for some $q = p^a$. By Corollary 4.5, V_{G^+} is indecomposable of length ≥ 2 . Applying Proposition 3.10, we arrive at (i) and (ii).

Note that in each of the listed cases, there is a unique (up to isomorphism) reducible indecomposable G^+ -module V of the indicated shape (indeed, if $W := \text{head}(V_{G^+})$ then there is a unique quotient of $\mathcal{P}(W)$ of this shape). Since $W^* \cong W \cong \text{soc}(V_{G^+})$, it follows that V_{G^+} is self-dual. Thus all the listed cases give rise to examples of reducible indecomposable self-dual modules (at least for G^+).

It remains to determine the type of each indecomposable module. Note that in all cases $\dim \operatorname{End}_{kG^+}(V)=2$, whence $\dim \operatorname{End}_{kG}(V)\leq 2$ and Lemma 8.6 applies to both G and G^+ . Thus V supports a non-degenerate G-invariant form that is either symmetric or alternating. If $\dim V$ is odd, then all such forms must be symmetric. Consider the case $\dim V$ is even. Note that in all cases |P|=p and $\mathbf{N}_{G^+}(P)/P$ is abelian for $P\in\operatorname{Syl}_p(G^+)$. So by Lemma 8.7, all such forms are symmetric when $\dim V>p$, respectively alternating when $\dim V< p$.

Recall from [56] that for \mathcal{G} a connected reductive group over an algebraically closed field k and for $G \leq \mathcal{G}$ a subgroup we say that G is \mathcal{G} -cr if whenever $G \leq \mathcal{P}$ for a parabolic subgroup \mathcal{P} of \mathcal{G} , then G is contained in a Levi subgroup of \mathcal{P} . If $\mathcal{G} = \operatorname{Sp}(V)$ or $\operatorname{SO}(V)$ for some finite-dimensional vector space equipped with a non-degenerate alternating or symmetric bilinear form, then this is equivalent to saying that for any G-stable isotropic subspace $W \subset V$ there exists a G-stable isotropic subspace $W' \subset V$ with W + W' non-degenerate. For these \mathcal{G} and provided p > 2, a subgroup $G \leq \mathcal{G}$ is \mathcal{G} -cr if and only if the kG-module V is completely reducible [56, §3.2.2].

We can extend Serre's notion to the disconnected group $\mathcal{G}=\mathrm{O}(V)$ by saying that a subgroup G is $\mathrm{O}(V)$ -cr if for any G-stable isotropic subspace $W\subset V$ there exists a G-stable isotropic subspace $W'\subset V$ with W+W' non-degenerate. We then see using the same argument as in [56, §3.2.2] as well as Lemma 3.7(i), that for $G\leq \mathrm{O}(V)$ and p>2 the following are equivalent:

- (i) G is O(V)-cr,
- (ii) $G \cap SO(V)$ is SO(V)-cr,
- (iii) the kG-module V is completely reducible.

The next result shows that for $\mathcal{G} = \operatorname{Sp}(V)$ or $\operatorname{O}(V)$, the finite non- \mathcal{G} -cr subgroups of \mathcal{G} are made up from the groups with a nontrivial unipotent normal subgroup and the groups described in Theorem 1.9.

Proposition 8.8. Let $k = \overline{k}$ be of characteristic p > 0 and let \mathcal{G} be either $\operatorname{Sp}(V)$ or $\operatorname{O}(V)$ with $\dim_k V \leq 2p-3$. Suppose that $G < \mathcal{G}$ is a finite subgroup such that the G-module V is not completely reducible. Then there is a G-invariant decomposition $V = V_1 \oplus V_2 \oplus V_3$ of V into an orthogonal direct sum of three subspaces, where V_i is either zero or non-degenerate, at least one of the V_i 's is zero and at least one of V_1 and V_2 is nonzero, and the following conditions hold for the images G_i of G in $\operatorname{GL}(V_i)$.

- (i) If $V_1 \neq 0$, then $\mathbf{O}_p(G_1) = 1$, the kG-module V_1 is reducible indecomposable, and (G_1, V_1) is as described in Theorem 1.9.
- (ii) If $V_2 \neq 0$, then $\mathbf{O}_p(G_2) \neq 1$.

(iii) If $V_3 \neq 0$, then V_3 is an orthogonal direct sum of non-degenerate subspaces, each being an irreducible G-module.

Proof. (a) First note that p > 2. Setting $V_2 = V$ when $\mathbf{O}_p(G) \neq 1$, we may assume $\mathbf{O}_p(G) = 1$. Setting $V_1 = V$ when V_G is indecomposable, we may assume that V_G is decomposable.

First we consider the case where no composition factor of G has order p. Choose a decomposition $V_G = A \oplus B$ with $A, B \neq 0$ being G-invariant and A of smallest possible dimension. Then $\dim A \leq p-2$ and the image X of G in $\operatorname{GL}(A)$ has $\mathbf{O}_p(X)=1$. By [19], the X-module A is completely reducible, whence it is irreducible by its choice. If A is non-degenerate, then $V_G = A \oplus A^{\perp}$. Consider the case $A \cap A^{\perp} \neq 0$. By the irreducibility of A, $A \subseteq A^{\perp}$ and so $A^{\perp} = A \oplus C$ for $C := B \cap A^{\perp}$. It is easy to see that $C \cap C^{\perp} = 0$ and so $V_G = C \oplus C^{\perp}$. Note that $C^{\perp} \neq 0$. Also, $C \neq 0$ as otherwise $A^{\perp} = A$, $B \cong V/A = V/A^{\perp} \cong A^*$ is an irreducible G-module and so V_G is semisimple, a contradiction. Thus in either case V is an orthogonal direct sum of nonzero non-degenerate G-invariant subspaces. Repeating this process for the summands, we obtain an orthogonal direct sum $V = \bigoplus_{i=1}^n U_i$, where each U_i is non-degenerate and indecomposable as a kG-module, and $n \geq 2$. Since V_G is not semisimple, we may assume that U_1 is reducible. Again the image V_i of G in $GL(U_i)$ has $\mathbf{O}_p(Y_i) = 1$. By Theorem 1.9, $\dim U_1 \geq p-1$, whence all U_i with $i \geq 2$ must be irreducible over G. Setting $V_1 = U_1$ and $V_3 = \bigoplus_{i=2}^n U_i$, we are done. Note that in this case $\dim V > \dim U_1 \geq p-1$.

(b) Let W_1, \ldots, W_m denote all the composition factors of V_{G^+} (with counting multiplicities) and let $J := \mathbf{O}_{p'}(G^+)$.

Consider the case p=3. If dim $W_i=1$ for all i, then the first paragraph of the proof of Lemma 8.5 shows that $\mathbf{O}_p(G) \neq 1$, contrary to our hypotheses. As V_G is decomposable of dimension ≤ 3 , it follows that $V_{G^+}=W_1\oplus W_2$ with $\{\dim W_1, \dim W_2\}=\{1,2\}$ and this decomposition is G-invariant. Thus V_G is completely reducible, again a contradiction. So we must have that p>3.

Suppose that J acts by scalars on each of the W_i 's. Then, in a suitable basis of V, $[J, G^+]$ is represented by unitriangular matrices, and so it is a p-subgroup. But $\mathbf{O}_p(G) = 1$, so $J \leq \mathbf{Z}(G^+)$. Applying Lemma 4.1 to G^+ , we see that G^+ , and so G as well, has no composition factors of order p. Thus we are done by (a).

So we may now assume that J does not act by scalars on W_1 . It follows that the image of G^+ in $\operatorname{GL}(W_1)$ contains a non-scalar normal p'-subgroup. Applying Theorem 2.1, we see that $\dim W_1 \geq p-1$. Since $\dim V \leq 2p-3$, it follows that J acts by scalars on each W_i with i>1, and $m\geq 2$ as V_G is reducible. Since J is a p'-group, $V_J\cong W_1\oplus (\oplus_{i=2}^m W_i)$, and this decomposition is G-invariant. It follows that G fixes a decomposition $V=W_1\oplus U$ where U_{G^+} has composition factors W_i , $2\leq i\leq m$. Since J acts by scalars on each W_i with i>1 but not on W_1 , it also follows that $U=W_1^\perp$, whence W_1 is non-degenerate. If $\mathbf{O}_p(Y)=1$ for the image Y of G in $\operatorname{GL}(U)$, then U_G is semisimple by [19] (as $\dim U\leq p-2$), a contradiction. So we can now set $V_2=U$ and $V_3=W_1$. Note that in this case $\dim V>\dim W_1\geq p-1$.

Proof of Corollary 1.10. Suppose that the kG-module V is not completely reducible. If V_G is indecomposable, then we are done by Theorem 1.9. Otherwise, the proof of Proposition 8.8 shows that dim $V \geq p$.

9. Adequacy for
$$SL_2(q)$$

The aim of this section is to prove the following statement which extends the results of [23, §3]:

Proposition 9.1. Any nontrivial irreducible representation V of $G := \mathrm{SL}_2(p^r)$ over $\overline{\mathbb{F}}_p$ is weakly adequate, except when $q := p^r \leq 3$.

By the Steinberg tensor product theorem we can write

$$V = L(a) := \bigotimes_{i=0}^{r-1} L(a_i)^{(i)}$$

for some $a = \sum_{i=0}^{r-1} a_i p^i$, $0 \le a_i \le p-1$, where L(1) is the natural 2-dimensional $\overline{\mathbb{F}}_p G$ representation, $L(b) = \operatorname{Sym}^b(L(1))$, and (i) denote the *i*th Frobenius twist. Also, $\mathcal{G} \cong \operatorname{SL}_2$ denotes the underlying algebraic group for G.

Lemma 9.2. We have that

$$\operatorname{head}_{\mathcal{G}}(\operatorname{End}(V)) \cong \bigoplus_{b_0, \dots, b_{r-1} : 0 \le b_i \le \min(\frac{p-1}{2}, a_i)} \otimes_{i=0}^{r-1} L(2b_i)^{(i)}.$$

Moreover, if a < q - 1 then

$$head_G(End(V)) = head_G(End(V)),$$

whereas if a = q - 1, then

$$head_G(End(V)) = head_G(End(V)) \oplus L(q-1).$$

Proof. As End(V) is self-dual, we may replace "head" by "socle". By [14, Lemmas 1.1 and 1.3], we have for $0 \le b \le (p-1)/2$

$$L(b) \otimes L(b) \cong \bigoplus_{i=0}^{b} T(2i),$$

and for $(p-1)/2 \le b \le p-1$,

$$L(b) \otimes L(b) \cong \bigoplus_{i=0}^{p-2-b} T(2i) \oplus \bigoplus_{i=p-1-b}^{\lfloor (p-1)/2 \rfloor} T(2p-2-2i),$$

where $T(\lambda)$ denotes the tilting module of \mathcal{G} with highest weight $\lambda \geq 0$. Recall that $T(\lambda) = L(\lambda)$ if $\lambda \leq p-1$, and that, when $0 \leq \lambda \leq p-2$, $T(2p-2-\lambda)$ is uniserial of shape $(L(\lambda)|L(2p-2-\lambda)|L(\lambda))$ and $T(2p-2-\lambda) \cong Q_1(\lambda)$ in the notation of [2, §3].

The statement will follow if we can show for any $0 \le b_i \le 2p-2$ that (i) $\operatorname{soc}_{\mathcal{G}}(\otimes_{i=0}^{r-1}T(b_i)^{(i)})$ is simple, and (ii) $\operatorname{soc}_{\mathcal{G}}(\otimes_{i=0}^{r-1}T(b_i)^{(i)})$ is simple if $b_i < 2p-2$ for at least one i and isomorphic to $L(0) \oplus L(q-1)$ otherwise. Let $c_i := \min(b_i, 2p-2-b_i) \le p-1$ and $c := \sum_{i=0}^{r-1} c_i p^i$. Then

$$\otimes_{i=0}^{r-1} T(b_i)^{(i)} \hookrightarrow \otimes_{i=0}^{r-1} Q_1(c_i)^{(i)} = Q_r(c)$$

in the notation of [2, §3]. By [2, Theorem 3.7], $\operatorname{soc}_{\mathcal{G}}(Q_r(c)) = L(c)$. Furthermore, by [2, Lemma 4.1], $\operatorname{soc}_{\mathcal{G}}(Q_r(c)) = L(c)$ if $c \neq 0$ and $\operatorname{soc}_{\mathcal{G}}(Q_r(c)) = L(0) \oplus L(q-1)$ if c = 0 (note

that " \otimes " should be " \oplus " in [2, Lemma 4.1(b)]). Finally, if c=0 then it is easy to check that L(q-1) does not occur in $\bigotimes_{i=0}^{r-1} T(b_i)^{(i)}$, unless $b_i=2p-2$ for all i.

Proof of Proposition 9.1. By [23, Proposition 3.1] we may assume that r > 1. We will follow the same strategy of proof. It suffices to show $M = \text{head}_G(\text{End}(V))$, where M denotes the span of the images of all p'-elements of G in $\text{head}_G(\text{End}(V))$.

Suppose that $k = \sum_{i=0}^{r-1} k_i p^i$ with $0 \le k_i \le \min((p-1)/2, a_i)$. By [23, Lemma 3.5], the \mathcal{G} -subrepresentation L(2k) in $\operatorname{End}(V)$ is generated by the weight 0 element $\Delta_k := \otimes_{i=0}^{r-1} \Delta_{k_i}^{(i)}$, where $\Delta_{k_i} \in \operatorname{End}(L(a_i))$ is defined in [23, Lemma 3.5]. Let $\delta_k := \operatorname{tr}(-\circ \Delta_k) \in (\operatorname{End}(V))^*$. For $\ell = \sum_{i=0}^{r-1} \ell_i p^i$ with $0 \le \ell_i \le a_i$, let $\pi_\ell := \otimes_{i=0}^{r-1} \pi_{\ell_i}^{(i)} \in \operatorname{End}(V)$, where $\pi_{\ell_i} \in \operatorname{End}(L(a_i))$ is the projection $X^j Y^{a_i - j} \mapsto \delta_{j\ell_i} X^j Y^{a_i - j}$. For any other ℓ let $\pi_\ell := 0$. Also let $p_k(\ell) := \delta_k(\pi_\ell) \in \overline{\mathbb{F}}_p$. Then $p_k(\ell) = \prod_{i=0}^{r-1} p_{k_i}(\ell_i)$, where $p_{k_i}(\ell_i)$ agrees with a polynomial of degree k_i for $0 \le \ell_i \le a_i$. In particular, as $k_i \le a_i$, there exist $0 \le \ell_i \le a_i$ such that $p_{k_i}(\ell_i) \ne 0$ for all i. Thus $p_k(\ell) \ne 0$ for some ℓ .

(a) Suppose a < q - 1 and p > 2. Also, suppose that there exists a $k = \sum_{i=0}^{r-1} k_i p^i$ with $0 \le k_i \le \min((p-1)/2, a_i)$ such that M does not contain L(2k). Then $\delta_k(M) = 0$, so the action of the split Cartan subgroup gives

$$\sum_{\ell \equiv \ell' \pmod{(q-1)/2}} p_k(\ell) = 0, \ \forall \ell'.$$

As in [23, §3], the action of a non-split Cartan subgroup similarly gives

$$\sum_{\ell \equiv \ell' \pmod{(q+1)/2}} p_k(\ell) = 0, \ \forall \ell'.$$

Therefore, if $0 \le \ell < (q-1)/2$, $p_k(\ell) = -p_k(\ell + (q-1)/2) = p_k(\ell - 1)$, and so by induction $p_k(\ell) = p_k(\ell - 1) = \ldots = p_k(-1) = 0$. Similarly, $p_k(\ell) = 0$ for $\ell > a - (q-1)/2$, and so $p_k(\ell) = 0$ for all ℓ , a contradiction.

- (b) Now we consider the case a = q 1 and p > 2.
- (b1) Suppose that M does not contain L(2k) for some k < (q-1)/2. The same argument as in (a) shows that

$$p_k(0) = p_k(1) = \dots = p_k((q-3)/2) = -p_k((q+1)/2) = \dots = -p_k(q-1)$$

and $p_k((q-1)/2) = 0$. Hence $p_{k_i}((p-1)/2) = 0$ for some i. As r > 1 we deduce that $p_k(\ell) = 0$ for some $0 \le \ell < (q-1)/2$ (e.g. $\ell = p^i(p-1)/2$), so $p_k(\ell) = 0$ for all ℓ , again a contradiction.

(b2) Suppose that M does not contain $L(q-1)^{\oplus 2}$. By [23, §3], the \mathcal{G} -representation generated by $v:=\otimes_{i=0}^{r-1}\left[\left(X\frac{\partial}{\partial Y}\right)^{(p-1)/2}\right]^{(i)}$ is the unique \mathcal{G} -subrepresentation L(q-1) in $\mathrm{End}(V)$. Note that the upper-triangular Borel subgroup $B:=\binom{*}{*}\subset G$ fixes $v^2=\otimes_{i=0}^{r-1}\left[\left(X\frac{\partial}{\partial Y}\right)^{p-1}\right]^{(i)}$ and that v and v^2 are linearly independent. As $v^2\notin (\mathrm{End}(V))^G=\overline{\mathbb{F}}_p$, the G-representation generated by v^2 is isomorphic to L(q-1) or to $L(q-1)\oplus L(0)\cong \mathrm{Ind}_B^G(\mathbb{T})$. In particular, for some $c\in\overline{\mathbb{F}}_p$, v^2+c generates the second copy of L(q-1)

in End(V). A calculation as in [23, §3] shows that $c = (-1)^r$. Now we can deduce that $p_k(\ell) = 0$ for all ℓ exactly as in part (b2) of the proof of [23, Proposition 3.1].

(c) Suppose now that p=2. Note that $\operatorname{head}_G(\operatorname{End}(V))$ is multiplicity-free. If M does not contain L(0), then the argument in (a) (but using only a non-split Cartan subgroup) shows that $p_0(\ell)=0$ for all ℓ (as q+1>a), a contradiction. (In fact, we could alternatively use only a split Cartan subgroup, even when a=q=1.) Suppose that a=q-1 and that M does not contain L(q-1). By (b2), $\bigotimes_{i=0}^{r-1} \left(X \frac{\partial}{\partial Y}\right)^{(i)} + 1$ generates the unique G-subrepresentation L(q-1) of $\operatorname{End}(V)$. However, as in (b2) of the proof of [23, Proposition 3.1],

$$\operatorname{tr}\left(\begin{pmatrix} \alpha & \\ & \alpha^{-1} \end{pmatrix} \circ \otimes_{i=0}^{r-1} (X \frac{\partial}{\partial Y})^{(i)} \right) \neq 0$$

for any $\alpha \in \mathbb{F}_q^{\times} \setminus \{1\} \neq \emptyset$, and this gives a final contradiction.

Remark 9.3. The results of [2] play a key role in our analysis of $SL_2(q)$ -representations. We should also point out some minor inaccuracies in [2, §4]. The first line of the displayed formula right before [2, Corollary 4.5] should have the extra condition $\lambda, \mu \neq p-1$. Furthermore, in the case n=2 of [2, Corollary 4.5(b)], there are four (not just two as stated) cases when dim Ext¹ = 2, namely when $\lambda_0, \lambda_1 \in \{(p-3)/2, (p-1)/2\}$ and $\mu_i = p-2-\lambda_i$ for all i=0,1. (Also, the k and i in [2, Corollary 4.5(a)] satisfy $0 \leq i, k \leq n-1$.)

Corollary 9.4. Let V be nontrivial absolutely irreducible representation of $G = SL_2(p^r)$ in characteristic p. Then either V is adequate, or one of the following holds:

- (i) $r = 1, 1 < \dim(V) = (p \pm 1)/2, \text{ and } \dim \operatorname{Ext}_G^1(V, V) = 1.$
- (ii) $p^r = 2, 3, 4 \text{ and } \dim V = p^r$.
- (iii) $p^r = 9$ and dim V = 3, 6, 9.

Proof. The case r=1 is already treated by [23, Corollary 1.4], so we will assume r>1. In this case, $\operatorname{Ext}_G^1(V,V)=0$ by [2, Corollary 4.5(a)]. Suppose that $p^r\neq 4,9$. Then $H^2(G,k)=0$, and furthermore $H^1(G,k)=0$ as G is perfect. It follows that V is adequate. The same conclusion holds if $p\nmid \dim(V)$.

Now we consider the case $p^r = 4, 9$ and keep the notation of the proof of Proposition 9.1. The proof of Lemma 9.2 shows that the one-dimensional subspace $\operatorname{End}(V)^G$ is contained in the direct summand $W := T(b_0) \otimes T(b_1)^{(1)}$, where $b_i = 0$ if $a_i < p-1$ and $b_i = 2p-2$ if $a_i = p-1$. As $H^1(G, \operatorname{End}(V)) = 0$, we deduce that $H^1(G, \operatorname{End}(V)/k) = H^1(G, W/k)$.

- (a) If $a_0 = a_1 = p 1$, then $W = Q_2(0) \cong \mathcal{P}(1) \oplus L(p^2 1)$ by [2, Lemma 4.1]. Hence $H^1(G, \operatorname{End}(V)/k) \cong H^1(G, \mathcal{P}(1)/k) \cong H^2(G, k)$, which is one-dimensional.
- (b) Suppose that precisely one of a_0, a_1 is p-1. Without loss we may assume that $a_0 = p-1 > a_1$. Then $W \cong T(2p-2)$. Note that T(2p-2) has composition factors $L(0) = \mathbb{I}$ (twice) and $L(p-2) \oplus L(1)^{(1)}$. As T(2p-2) is self-dual and injects into $Q_2(0)$, we deduce that it is uniserial with trivial socle and head. Thus the sequence

$$0 \to k \to H^1(G, L(p-2) \otimes L(1)^{(1)}) \to H^1(G, \text{End}(V)/k) \to H^1(G, k) = 0$$

is exact, whence

$$\dim H^1(G, \operatorname{End}(V)/k) = \dim \operatorname{Ext}_G^1(k, L(p-2) \otimes L(1)^{(1)}) - 1 = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } p = 3, \\ 0, & \text{if } p = 2, \end{cases}$$

by [2, Corollary 4.5].

If one replaces $SL_2(q)$ by $GL_2(q)$, then in fact there are no exceptions to adequacy for q > 3 odd (if q = 3 and dim V = 3, then weak adequacy fails).

Corollary 9.5. Let G be a finite group and V be a faithful absolutely irreducible representation of G in odd characteristic p. If the image of G in PGL(V) is $PGL_2(p^a)$ with $p^a > 3$, then (G, V) is adequate.

Proof. Without loss we may assume that V is an irreducible kG-module with $k = \overline{k}$. Let H be the inverse image of $\operatorname{PSL}_2(p^a)$ under the projection from G onto $\operatorname{PGL}_2(p^a) < \operatorname{PGL}(V)$. Then $H/\mathbf{Z}(H) \cong \operatorname{PSL}_2(p^a)$ and $\mathbf{Z}(H) = \mathbf{Z}(G)$ is a p'-group. Since the universal p'-cover of $\operatorname{PSL}_2(p^a)$ is $\operatorname{SL}_2(p^a)$, it follows that $H = \mathbf{Z}(H)L$, where L := [H, H] is the quotient of $\operatorname{SL}_2(p^a)$ by a central subgroup (of order 1 or 2). Moreover, G normalizes L and centralizes $\mathbf{Z}(H)$, and in fact G induces the full subgroup of inner-diagonal automorphisms of L. It is well known that any irreducible kL-representation is invariant under any inner-diagonal automorphism. It follows that, if W is an irreducible kH-summand of $V|_H$, then G preserves the isomorphism class of W. But $G/H \cong C_2$, hence W extends to a kG-module \tilde{W} (see e.g. [50, Theorem 8.12]), and so by Frobenius' reciprocity, $V \cong \tilde{W} \otimes_k A$ for some one-dimensional k(G/H)-module A. We have shown that V_H is irreducible. By Proposition 9.1, (H, V) is weakly adequate, so is (G, V). Also, as $\mathbf{O}^p(H) = H$ and $G/H \cong C_2$, we see that $\mathbf{O}^p(G) = G$ and so $H^1(G, k) = 0$. Moreover, since $p \neq 2$, the inflation-restriction sequence in cohomology implies that adequacy of (H, V) yields the same for (G, V). So by Corollary 9.4, it suffices to consider the following cases:

- (a) a = 1 and dim $V = (p \pm 1)/2$;
- (b) $p^a = 9$ and dim V = 3, 6, 9.

In the first case, G has a cyclic Sylow p-subgroup P of order p. It follows that $H^2(G, k) = 0$ and so it it suffices to show that $\operatorname{Ext}^1_G(V, V) = 0$. Note that V has no lifts to characteristic 0 (since $\mathbf{N}_G(P)$ acts transitively on the p-1 nontrivial elements of P, an element $g \in P$ of order p would have at least p-1 distinct eigenvalues in any characteristic 0 lift). Thus, $\operatorname{Ext}^1_G(V,V) = 0$ by Lemma 3.1 and (G,V) is adequate.

In the second case, note that $H^2(\operatorname{PGL}_2(9), k) = 0$ [10]. Since $G/\mathbf{Z}(G) \cong \operatorname{PGL}_2(9)$ and $\mathbf{Z}(G)$ is a p'-group, it follows that $H^2(G, k) = 0$. So again it suffices to show that $\operatorname{Ext}_G^1(V, V) = 0$. Note that the p'-group $\mathbf{Z}(H)$ acts trivially on $V \otimes_k V^*$ and $H^1(L, V \otimes_k V^*) = \operatorname{Ext}_L^1(V, V) = 0$ by [23, Lemma 8.1]. Hence, $H^1(H, V \otimes_k V^*) = 0$. Since $G/H \cong C_2$, it follows that $H^1(G, V \otimes_k V^*) = 0$, and so we are done.

10. Adequacy for $SL_n(q)$

In this section, we give another family of examples of modules that are adequate. The result follows from [9, Lemma 2.5.6] if p > n. Also, recall that the case n = 2 was considered in the previous section.

Theorem 10.1. Let p be a prime and q a power of p. Let k be an algebraically closed field of characteristic p and $V = k^n$ with n > 2. Suppose that G < GL(V) is a finite group that contains a normal subgroup $S \cong SL_n(q)$. Then (G, V) is adequate.

Proof. By [40, Proposition 5.4.11], any nontrivial irreducible kS-representations of dimension $\leq n$ is quasi-equivalent to the natural n-dimensional kS-module U. It follows that the kS-module V is irreducible and quasi-equivalent to U. Next, the only automorphisms of S that preserve the isomorphism class of U (hence of V) are the inner-diagonal automorphisms. Therefore, G induces only inner-diagonal automorphisms of S, and so $p \nmid [G:S]$. This implies that it is enough to prove the statement for S with V being the standard representation.

Note that $V \otimes V^* = W \oplus k$ with W irreducible if $p \nmid n$ and that $V \otimes V^*$ is uniserial (of length three) with trivial head and socle if $p \mid n$. Let W denote the unique nontrivial irreducible composition factor of $V \otimes V^*$. Since there are semisimple elements in S with nonzero trace on V and since not all semisimple elements of S are scalars, it follows that $\operatorname{End}(V)$ is spanned by the images of the semisimple elements of S.

By the table in [37] or by [62, Theorem 9], it follows that $\operatorname{Ext}_S^1(V, V) = 0$ whence the result holds as long as $p \nmid n$. If $p \mid n$, then using the fact that $H^1(S, k) = 0$ and $H^0(S, W) = 0$ and the long exact sequence for cohomology we see that $H^1(S, V \otimes V^*/k) = 0$ if and only if dim $H^1(S, W) = 1$. By [37], this is the case and so the result follows (one can give an alternate proof using [62] as well).

A slight modification of the proof shows that if gcd(n,q) = 1, then (G,V) is in fact big. Indeed, we only need observe the obvious fact that there exists a semisimple regular element $g \in SL_n(q)$ with nonzero trace.

11. Asymptotic adequacy

In this section, we extend [21, Theorem 1.2] to include disconnected groups as well as to allow the possibility that p divides dim V. First we prove some statements relating discrete cohomology (i.e. of abstract groups) and rational cohomology (i.e. in the category of rational modules), of linear algebraic groups on the one side, and cohomology of finite groups of Lie type on the other side. We use subscripts $_{\rm disc}$ and $_{\rm rat}$ to make distinction between these two types of cohomology groups.

First we record the following result (which essentially is a special case of a result of van der Kallen, cf. [52, p. 239]):

Lemma 11.1. Let $k = \overline{\mathbb{F}}_p$ and let \mathcal{G} be a linear algebraic group defined over $\mathbb{F}_q \subset k$. Let V be a finite-dimensional rational $k\mathcal{G}(k)$ -module. If $H^1(\mathcal{G}(\mathbb{F}_{q^f}), V) = 0$ for large enough f, then $H^1_{\mathrm{disc}}(\mathcal{G}(k), V) = 0$.

Proof. First we note that if U is any finite-dimensional $k\mathcal{G}(k)$ -module, then $\mathcal{G}(\mathbb{F}_{q^f})$ and $\mathcal{G}(k)$ have the same subspace of fixed points on U when f is divisible by some integer N = N(U). Indeed, let U_j denote the fixed point subspace for $\mathcal{G}(\mathbb{F}_{q^{j!}})$ on U. Then $U_1 \supseteq U_2 \supseteq \ldots$, and so U_j stabilizes when $j \geq j_0$ for some j_0 . But each element of $\mathcal{G}(k)$ is contained in $\mathcal{G}(\mathbb{F}_{q^{j!}})$ for some $j \geq j_0$. It follows that $\mathbf{C}_U(\mathcal{G}(k)) = U_{j_0} = \mathbf{C}_U(\mathcal{G}(\mathbb{F}_{q^{j!}}))$ for all $j \geq j_0$. In particular, we can choose $N = j_0!$.

Consider any exact sequence $0 \to V \to W \to k \to 0$ of $k\mathcal{G}(k)$ -modules. By assumption, it is split over $\mathcal{G}(\mathbb{F}_{q^f})$ for f large enough. Hence $\mathbf{C}_W(\mathcal{G}(\mathbb{F}_{q^f}))$ has dimension equal to $\dim_k \mathbf{C}_V(\mathcal{G}(\mathbb{F}_{q^f}))+1$, which by our claim is equal to $\dim_k \mathbf{C}_V(\mathcal{G}(k))+1$ when N(U)|f. Again

by our claim, $\mathbf{C}_W(\mathcal{G}(\mathbb{F}_{q^f})) = \mathbf{C}_W(\mathcal{G}(k))$ for N(W)|f. It follows that $\dim_k \mathbf{C}_W(\mathcal{G}(k)) = \dim_k \mathbf{C}_V(\mathcal{G}(k)) + 1$, whence W is split over $\mathcal{G}(k)$. Hence $H^1_{\mathrm{disc}}(\mathcal{G}(k), V) = 0$.

Next we observe that the results of [35, Prop. II.2.14] and [8, Theorem 6.6] hold in more generality than they were stated.

Proposition 11.2. Let k be an algebraically closed field of characteristic p and let \mathcal{G} be a (not necessarily connected) reductive algebraic group defined over k. Let V be a finite-dimensional rational $k\mathcal{G}$ -module.

- (i) Suppose that $p \nmid [\mathcal{G} : \mathcal{G}^0]$ and V is irreducible. Then $\operatorname{Ext}^1_{\mathcal{G}}(V, V)_{\operatorname{rat}} = 0$.
- (ii) Suppose \mathcal{G} is connected and defined over $\mathbb{F}_q \subset k$. Then for e and f large enough (depending on V and n),

$$H^n_{\mathrm{rat}}(\mathcal{G}, V(e)) \cong H^n(\mathcal{G}(\mathbb{F}_{q^f}), V(e)) \cong H^n(\mathcal{G}(\mathbb{F}_{q^f}), V),$$

where V(e) is the e-th Frobenius twist of V.

Proof. (i) Since $p \nmid [\mathcal{G} : \mathcal{G}^0]$, it suffices to show that $\operatorname{Ext}^1_{\mathcal{G}^0}(X,Y)_{\operatorname{rat}} = 0$ for any two irreducible \mathcal{G}^0 -submodules X, Y of V. Assume the contrary: $\operatorname{Ext}^1_{\mathcal{G}^0}(X,Y)_{\operatorname{rat}} \neq 0$ for some such X and Y. By Clifford's theorem, $Y \cong g(X)$ for some $g \in \mathcal{G}$. Given a pair $(\mathcal{T}, \mathcal{B})$ of a maximal torus \mathcal{T} and a Borel subgroup \mathcal{B} containing \mathcal{T} of \mathcal{G}^0 , we have that $g^{-1}(\mathcal{T}, \mathcal{B})g = h^{-1}(\mathcal{T}, \mathcal{B})h$ for a suitable $h \in \mathcal{G}^0$. Replacing g by gh^{-1} , we get that g normalizes both \mathcal{T} and \mathcal{B} , and $Y \cong g(X)$. Suppose that $X = L(\lambda)$ for some dominant weight λ with respect to \mathcal{T} . Then $\tau(\lambda)$ is dominant and $Y = L(\tau(\lambda))$, where τ is the outer automorphism (possibly trivial) of \mathcal{G}^0 induced by g. By [35, Proposition II.2.14], $\operatorname{Ext}^1_{\mathcal{G}^0}(X,Y)_{\operatorname{rat}} \neq 0$ implies that $\lambda \neq \tau(\lambda)$ but λ and $\tau(\lambda)$ are comparable, say $\lambda > \tau(\lambda)$. Since τ fixes $(\mathcal{T}, \mathcal{B})$, it fixes the set of positive roots with respect to \mathcal{T} , whence $\tau^i(\lambda) > \tau^{i+1}(\lambda)$ for all $i \geq 0$. Also, note that the action of τ on the weight lattice $X(\mathcal{T})$ has finite order N. Thus we arrive at the chain

$$\lambda > \tau(\lambda) > \tau^2(\lambda) > \ldots > \tau^N(\lambda) = \lambda,$$

a contradiction.

(ii) Consider the action of the central torus $\mathcal{Z} := \mathbf{Z}(\mathcal{G})^0$ on V and decompose $V = V' \oplus [\mathcal{Z}, V]$ with $V' := \mathbf{C}_V(\mathcal{Z})$. Then $H^n_{\mathrm{rat}}(\mathcal{G}, [\mathcal{Z}, V]) = 0$, and so $H^n_{\mathrm{rat}}(\mathcal{G}, V) \cong H^n_{\mathrm{rat}}(\mathcal{G}, V')$. The same holds for Frobenius twists V(e) of V; moreover, $V'(e) \cong \mathbf{C}_{V(e)}(\mathcal{Z})$. Applying [8, Theorem 6.6] to the semisimple group $\mathcal{H} := \mathcal{G}/\mathcal{Z}$ (and recalling that \mathcal{Z} is a torus), we get for e and f large enough that

$$H^n_{\mathrm{rat}}(\mathcal{G},V'(e))\cong H^n_{\mathrm{rat}}(\mathcal{H},V'(e))\cong H^n(\mathcal{H}(\mathbb{F}_{q^f}),V'(e))\cong H^n(\mathcal{H}(\mathbb{F}_{q^f}),V').$$

On the other hand, $\mathcal{H}(\mathbb{F}_{q^f})$ is isomorphic to $\mathcal{G}(\mathbb{F}_{q^f})/\mathcal{Z}(\mathbb{F}_{q^f})$ (by the Lang-Steinberg theorem). Moreover, for f large enough, \mathcal{Z} and $\mathcal{Z}(\mathbb{F}_{q^f})$ have the same eigenspaces on V. It follows that $[\mathcal{Z}, V] = [\mathcal{Z}(\mathbb{F}_{q^f}), V]$ and $V' = \mathbf{C}_V(\mathcal{Z}(\mathbb{F}_{q^f}))$, whence

$$H^n(\mathcal{G}(\mathbb{F}_{q^f}),V)=H^n(\mathcal{G}(\mathbb{F}_{q^f}),V')=H^n(\mathcal{H}(\mathbb{F}_{q^f}),V')$$

(as $\mathcal{Z}(\mathbb{F}_{q^f})$ is a p'-group). The same holds for V(e), and so the statement follows.

Lemma 11.3. Let p be a prime and let k be an algebraically closed field of characteristic p. Let \mathcal{G} be a connected reductive algebraic group over k and V be a rational \mathcal{G} -module. If $H^1_{\mathrm{rat}}(\mathcal{G},V(e))=0$ for all Frobenius twists V(e) of V with e large enough, then $H^1_{\mathrm{disc}}(\mathcal{G}(k),V)=0$.

Proof. If the result fails, then there exists a (possibly non-rational) $k\mathcal{G}(k)$ -module W and a non-split extension $0 \to V \to W \to k \to 0$.

Let K be the algebraic closure of \mathbb{F}_p in k. Note that \mathcal{G} can be defined over $\mathbb{F}_q \subset k$ for q sufficiently large (as it can be defined over K by the isomorphism theorem for reductive groups). Also, let $\mathcal{T}(k)$ be a maximal torus of $\mathcal{G}(k)$ containing a maximal torus $\mathcal{T}(K)$ of $\mathcal{G}(K)$. For e and f large enough, we have by assumption and by Proposition 11.2(ii) that $H^1(\mathcal{G}(\mathbb{F}_{q^f}), V) = H^1_{\mathrm{rat}}(\mathcal{G}, V(e)) = 0$. It follows by Lemma 11.1 that W is split over $\mathcal{G}(K)$, whence

$$(11.1) \operatorname{dim}_{k} \mathbf{C}_{W}(\mathcal{G}(K)) = \operatorname{dim}_{k} \mathbf{C}_{V}(\mathcal{G}(K)) + 1, \operatorname{dim}_{k} \mathbf{C}_{W}(\mathcal{T}(K)) = \operatorname{dim}_{k} \mathbf{C}_{V}(\mathcal{T}(K)) + 1.$$

We claim that $\mathbf{C}_W(\mathcal{T}(K)) = \mathbf{C}_W(\mathcal{T}(k))$. Clearly, the fixed point subspace $U := \mathbf{C}_W(\mathcal{T}(K))$ is $\mathcal{T}(k)$ -invariant. Also, since V is a rational $k\mathcal{G}(k)$ -module, $\mathcal{T}(k)$ acts trivially on $U \cap V = \mathbf{C}_V(\mathcal{T}(K))$, which has codimension 1 in U by (11.1). Thus, $\mathcal{T}(k)$ maps into a unipotent subgroup of $\mathrm{GL}(U)$. Note that $\mathcal{T}(k)$ is p-divisible, and so is any homomorphic image of it. It follows that $\mathcal{T}(k)$ acts trivially on U, as stated.

Thus, the fixed point subspace of $\langle \mathcal{T}(k), \mathcal{G}(K) \rangle$ on W is the fixed point subspace of $\langle \mathcal{T}(K), \mathcal{G}(K) \rangle = \mathcal{G}(K)$ on W. Observe that $\mathcal{G}(k) = \langle \mathcal{T}(k), \mathcal{G}(K) \rangle$. (Indeed, if $U_{\alpha}(k) \supseteq U_{\alpha}(K)$ are root subgroups corresponding to a root α with respect to \mathcal{T} , then $\mathcal{T}(k)$ acts transitively on $U_{\alpha}(k) \setminus \{1\}$. Since $\mathcal{G}(K) \supset U_{\alpha}(K)$ and $\mathcal{G}(k)$ is generated by $\mathcal{T}(k)$ and all the root subgroups $U_{\alpha}(k)$, the claim follows.) Hence, $\mathbf{C}_{W}(\mathcal{G}(k)) = \mathbf{C}_{W}(\mathcal{G}(K))$ and so

$$\dim_k \mathbf{C}_W(\mathcal{G}(k)) \ge \dim_k \mathbf{C}_V(\mathcal{G}(k)) + 1$$

by (11.1). Hence W is split as a $\mathcal{G}(k)$ -module, a contradiction.

Corollary 11.4. Let k be an algebraically closed field of characteristic p and let \mathcal{G} be a reductive algebraic group over k. Let V be an irreducible rational $k\mathcal{G}(k)$ -module. Assume that $p \nmid [\mathcal{G} : \mathcal{G}^0]$. Then

$$H^1(\mathcal{H}(k),k) = \operatorname{Ext}^1_{\mathcal{H}(k)}(V,V) = H^1(\mathcal{H}(k),(V^* \otimes V)/k) = 0,$$

both as rational and discrete cohomology groups, and for both $\mathcal{H}=\mathcal{G},\,\mathcal{G}^0.$

Proof. Since $p \nmid [\mathcal{G}:\mathcal{G}^0]$, it suffices to prove the statement for \mathcal{G}^0 . As shown in Proposition 11.2(i), $\operatorname{Ext}^1_{\mathcal{G}^0}(V,V)_{\operatorname{rat}}=0$. Also, $H^i_{\operatorname{rat}}(\mathcal{G}^0,k)=0$ for i>0 by [35, Corollary II.4.11]. We have therefore shown that $H^1_{\operatorname{rat}}(\mathcal{G}^0,k)=H^1_{\operatorname{rat}}(\mathcal{G}^0,(V^*\otimes V)/k)=0$. The same applies to Frobenius twists. Hence $\operatorname{Ext}^1_{\mathcal{G}^0(k)}(V,V)_{\operatorname{disc}}=0$ and $H^1_{\operatorname{disc}}(\mathcal{G}^0(k),k)=H^1_{\operatorname{disc}}(\mathcal{G}^0(k),(V^*\otimes V)/k)=0$ by Lemma 11.3.

We finally show that adequacy holds over a sufficiently large field and also for (not necessarily connected) reductive algebraic groups (whether one uses rational cohomology or discrete cohomology in the definition). Note that if p does divide $[\mathcal{G}:\mathcal{G}^0]$, then adequacy may fail (the spanning may fail as well as the cohomological conditions even assuming that $p \nmid (\dim V)$ – one can construct examples precisely as in [20]).

Theorem 11.5. Let k be an algebraically closed field k of characteristic p. Let \mathcal{G} be a reductive algebraic group defined over $\mathbb{F}_q \subset k$ such that $p \nmid [\mathcal{G} : \mathcal{G}^0]$, and let V be a finite-dimensional faithful irreducible rational $k\mathcal{G}$ -module. Then the following statements hold.

- (i) (\mathcal{G}, V) is adequate.
- (ii) Assume that every coset of \mathcal{G}^0 in \mathcal{G} is defined over \mathbb{F}_q . Then $(\mathcal{G}(\mathbb{F}_{q^f}), V)$ is adequate for f sufficiently large (with f possibly depending upon V).

Proof. (a) Arguing precisely as in [22], we see that the set of semisimple elements in any coset of \mathcal{G}^0 is Zariski dense in \mathcal{G} . It follows that the linear span of semisimple elements of \mathcal{G} is Zariski dense in the linear span of \mathcal{G} in $\operatorname{End}(V)$. Thus, the span of the semisimple elements in \mathcal{G} is all of $\operatorname{End}(V)$.

Let $\mathcal{T} \subset \mathcal{B}$ be a maximal torus and a Borel subgroup of \mathcal{G}^0 that are defined over \mathbb{F}_q . Choose f large enough so that $\mathcal{T}(\mathbb{F}_{q^f})$ has exactly the same weight spaces on $\operatorname{End}(V)$ and V as does \mathcal{T} . Let $\mathcal{N} := \mathbf{N}_{\mathcal{G}}(\mathcal{T}, \mathcal{B})$ denote the simultaneous normalizer of $(\mathcal{T}, \mathcal{B})$ in \mathcal{G} . Then $\mathcal{N} \cap \mathcal{G}^0 = \mathcal{T}$, hence every element of \mathcal{N} is semisimple (as $p \nmid [\mathcal{G} : \mathcal{G}^0]$). Conversely, if $g \in \mathcal{G}$ is semisimple, then by [58, 7.5] g normalizes some pair $(\mathcal{T}', \mathcal{B}')$ of a maximal torus \mathcal{T}' contained in a Borel subgroup \mathcal{B}' . We deduce that

$$\mathcal{G}_{ss} = \bigcup_{x \in \mathcal{G}} x \mathcal{N} x^{-1},$$

where \mathcal{G}_{ss} denotes the set of semisimple elements in \mathcal{G} .

Let W be the linear span of $\mathcal{G}(\mathbb{F}_{q^f})_{ss} := \mathcal{G}(\mathbb{F}_{q^f}) \cap \mathcal{G}_{ss}$ in $\operatorname{End}(V)$. Then W is $\mathcal{G}(\mathbb{F}_{q^f})$ -stable and hence in particular \mathcal{T} -stable (as \mathcal{T} and $\mathcal{T}(\mathbb{F}_{q^f})$ have the same eigenspaces on $\operatorname{End}(V)$). Arguing as in [21], we see that $\langle \mathcal{T}, \mathcal{G}(\mathbb{F}_{q^f}) \rangle$ is Zariski dense in \mathcal{G} . It follows that W is \mathcal{G} -stable. Since $\mathcal{N}/\mathcal{T} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{G}/\mathcal{G}^0$ and every coset of \mathcal{G}^0 is defined over \mathbb{F}_q , we deduce by Lang's theorem that $\mathcal{N} = \mathcal{N}(\mathbb{F}_{q^f}) \cdot \mathcal{T}$. Moreover, as $\mathcal{T}(\mathbb{F}_{q^f})$ and \mathcal{T} have the same eigenspaces on V, $\mathcal{T}(\mathbb{F}_{q^f})$ and \mathcal{T} span the same subspace of $\operatorname{End}(V)$. Now W contains the span of $\mathcal{N}(\mathbb{F}_{q^f}) \subset \mathcal{G}(\mathbb{F}_{q^f})_{ss}$, hence contains the span of \mathcal{N} . Since W is \mathcal{G} -stable, we deduce from (11.2) that W contains the span of \mathcal{G}_{ss} . Thus for f sufficiently large we have that $W = \operatorname{End}(V)$; in particular, $\mathcal{G}(\mathbb{F}_{q^f})$ acts absolutely irreducibly on V.

(b) From Corollary 11.4 we get that $H^1_{\text{disc}}(\mathcal{G}(k), k) = H^1_{\text{disc}}(\mathcal{G}(k), (V^* \otimes V)/k) = 0$. Together with (a), this implies (i).

We also have that $H^1_{\mathrm{rat}}(\mathcal{G}^0,k)=H^1_{\mathrm{rat}}(\mathcal{G}^0,(V^*\otimes V)/k)=0$, and the same holds for all Frobenius twists. Applying Proposition 11.2(ii) we obtain (for f large enough) that $H^1(\mathcal{G}^0(\mathbb{F}_{q^f}),k)=H^1(\mathcal{G}^0(\mathbb{F}_{q^f}),(V^*\otimes V)/k)=0$, whence $H^1(\mathcal{G}(\mathbb{F}_{q^f}),k)=H^1(\mathcal{G}(\mathbb{F}_{q^f}),(V^*\otimes V)/k)=0$ as well since $p\nmid [\mathcal{G}:\mathcal{G}^0]$. Hence (ii) holds.

References

- [1] J. L. Alperin, 'Local Representation Theory. Modular Representations as an Introduction to the Local Representation Theory of Finite Groups, Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics, 11. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1986.
- [2] H. Andersen, J. Jorgensen, and P. Landrock, The projective indecomposable modules of $SL(2, p^n)$. *Proc. London Math. Soc.* (3) **46** (1983), 38–52.
- [3] C. Bendel, D. Nakano, and C. Pillen, On the vanishing ranges for the cohomology of finite groups of Lie type II. Recent developments in Lie algebras, groups and representation theory, 25–73, Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., 86, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2012.

- [4] D. J. Benson, 'Representations and Cohomology. I' 2nd ed., Cambridge Stud. Adv. Math. 30, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge 1998.
- [5] H. I. Blau and J. Zhang, Linear groups of small degree over fields of finite characteristic, J. Algebra 159 (1993), 358–386.
- [6] G. Böckle, A local-to-global principle for deformations of Galois representations, *J. reine angew Math.* **509** (1999), 199–236.
- [7] R. Burkhardt, Die Zerlegungsmatrizen der Gruppen PSL(2, p^f), J. Algebra 40 (1976), 75–96.
- [8] E. Cline, B. Parshall, L. Scott, and Wilberd van der Kallen, Rational and generic cohomology. Invent. Math. 39 (1977), 143–163.
- [9] L. Clozel, M. Harris, and R. Taylor, Automorphy for some l-adic lifts of automorphic mod l Galois representations. With Appendix A, summarizing unpublished work of Russ Mann, and Appendix B by Marie-France Vignéras, Publ. Math. Inst. Hautes Études Sci. No. 108 (2008), 1–181.
- [10] J. H. Conway, R. T. Curtis, S. P. Norton, R. A. Parker, and R. A. Wilson, 'An ATLAS of Finite Groups', Clarendon Press, Oxford, 1985.
- [11] F. E. Diederichsen, Über die Ausreduction ganzzahliger Gruppendarstellungen bei arithmetischer Äquivalenz, Abh. Math. Sem. Univ. Hamburg 13 (1938), 357–412.
- [12] L. Dieulefait, Automorphy of Symm⁵(GL(2)) and base change, J. Math. Pures Appl. 104 (2015), 619–656.
- [13] F. Digne and J. Michel, 'Representations of Finite Groups of Lie Type', London Mathematical Society Student Texts 21, Cambridge University Press, 1991.
- [14] S. Doty and A. Henke, Decomposition of tensor products of modular irreducibles for SL₂, Quart. J. Math. 56 (2005), 189–207.
- [15] P. Fong and B. Srinivasan, Brauer trees in classical groups, J. Algebra 131 (1990), 179–225.
- [16] The GAP group, 'GAP groups, algorithms, and programming', Version 4.4, 2004, http://www.gap-system.org.
- [17] M. Geck, Irreducible Brauer characters of the 3-dimensional special unitary groups in non-describing characteristic, Comm. Algebra 18 (1990), 563–584.
- [18] D. Gorenstein, R. Lyons, and R. Solomon, 'The Classification of the Finite Simple Groups', Number 3, Mathematical Surveys and Monographs Volume 40, American Math. Soc. 1998.
- [19] R. M. Guralnick, Small dimensional representations are semisimple, J. Algebra 220 (1999), 531–541.
- [20] R. M. Guralnick, Adequate subgroups II, Bull. Math. Sci. 2 (2012), 193-203.
- [21] R. M. Guralnick, Adequacy of representations of finite groups of Lie type, Appendix A to: L. Dieulefait, Automorphy of Symm⁵(GL(2)) and base change, J. Math. Pures Appl. 104 (2015), 619–656.
- [22] R. M. Guralnick, F. Herzig, R. Taylor, and J. Thorne, Adequate subgroups, J. Inst. Math. Jussieu 11 (2012), 907–920.
- [23] R. M. Guralnick, F. Herzig, and Pham Huu Tiep, Adequate groups of low degree, Algebra & Number Theory 9 (2015), 77–147.
- [24] R. M. Guralnick, K. Magaard, J. Saxl, and Pham Huu Tiep, Cross characteristic representations of odd characteristic symplectic groups and unitary groups, J. Algebra 257 (2002), 291–347.
- [25] R. M. Guralnick, G. Navarro, and Pham Huu Tiep, Real class sizes and real character degrees, Math. Proc. Camb. Philos. Soc. 150 (2011), 47–71.
- [26] R. M. Guralnick and Pham Huu Tiep, Low-dimensional representations of special linear groups in cross characteristic, Proc. London Math. Soc. 78 (1999), 116–138.
- [27] R. M. Guralnick and Pham Huu Tiep, The non-coprime k(GV) problem, J. Algebra 293 (2005), 185–242.
- [28] R. M. Guralnick and Pham Huu Tiep, Symmetric powers and a problem of Kollár and Larsen, Invent. Math. 174 (2008), 505–554.
- [29] G. Hiss and K. Lux, 'Brauer Trees of Sporadic Groups', Clarendon Press, 1989, 525 pp.
- [30] G. Hiss and G. Malle, Low dimensional representations of special unitary groups, *J. Algebra* **236** (2001), 745–767.

- [31] G. Hiss and G. Malle, Corrigenda: Low-dimensional representations of quasi-simple groups, LMS J. Comput. Math. 5 (2002), 95–126.
- [32] I. M. Isaacs, 'Character Theory of Finite Groups', AMS-Chelsea, Providence, 2006.
- [33] C. Jansen, The minimal degrees of faithful representations of the sporadic simple groups and their covering groups, LMS J. Comput. Math. 8 (2005), 122–144.
- [34] C. Jansen, K. Lux, R. A. Parker, and R. A. Wilson, 'An ATLAS of Brauer Characters', Oxford University Press, Oxford, 1995.
- [35] J. C. Jantzen, Representations of algebraic groups. Second edition. Mathematical Surveys and Monographs, 107. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2003.
- [36] J. C. Jantzen, Low-dimensional representations of reductive groups are semisimple, in: 'Algebraic Groups and Lie Groups', 255–266, Austral. Math. Soc. Lect. Ser., 9, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1997.
- [37] W. Jones and B. Parshall, On the 1-cohomology of finite groups of Lie type. Proceedings of the Conference on Finite Groups (Univ. Utah, Park City, Utah, 1975), pp. 313–328. Academic Press, New York, 1976.
- [38] W. M. Kantor, Linear groups containing a Singer cycle, J. Algebra 62 (1980), 232–234.
- [39] N. M. Katz, Exponential sums and differential equations, Annals of Math. Studies 124, Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton, NJ 1999.
- [40] P. B. Kleidman and M. W. Liebeck, 'The Subgroup Structure of the Finite Classical Groups', London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser. no. 129, Cambridge University Press, 1990.
- [41] P. B. Kleidman, The maximal subgroups of the Chevalley groups $G_2(q)$ with q odd, the Ree groups ${}^2G_2(q)$, and their automorphism groups, J. Algebra 117 (1988), 30–71.
- [42] V. Landazuri and G. Seitz, On the minimal degrees of projective representations of the finite Chevalley groups, J. Algebra 32 (1974), 418–443.
- [43] M. W. Liebeck, Permutation modules for rank 3 unitary groups, J. Algebra 88 (1984), 317-329.
- [44] M. W. Liebeck, E. O'Brien, A. Shalev, and Pham Huu Tiep, The Ore conjecture, J. Eur. Math. Soc. 12 (2010), 939–1008.
- [45] M. W. Liebeck and G. M. Seitz, 'Unipotent and Nilpotent Classes in Simple Algebraic Groups and Lie Algebras', Math. Surveys and Monographs, vol. 180, AMS, Providence, RI, 2012.
- [46] K. Lux and H. Pahlings, 'Representations of Groups: A Computational Approach', Cambridge Univ. Press, 2010.
- [47] B. Mazur, Deforming Galois representations, in: 'Galois Groups over Q (Berkeley, 1987)', Springer-Verlag, Berlin-Heidelberg-New York, 1989, pp. 385–437.
- [48] G. McNinch, Dimensional criteria for semisimplicity of representations. *Proc. London Math. Soc.* **76** (1998), 95–149.
- [49] Decomposition matrices, http://www.math.rwth-aachen.de/homes/MOC/decomposition/
- [50] G. Navarro, 'Characters and Blocks of Finite Groups', Cambridge University Press, 1998.
- [51] G. Navarro and Pham Huu Tiep, Characters of p'-degree over normal subgroups, *Annals of Math.* 178 (2013), 1135–1171.
- [52] B. J. Parshall, Cohomology of algebraic groups, in: The Arcata Conference on Representations of Finite Groups (Arcata, Calif., 1986), 233–248, Proc. Sympos. Pure Math. 47, Part 1, Amer. Math. Soc.. Providence, RI, 1987.
- [53] R. M. Peacock, Blocks with a cyclic defect group, J. Algebra 34 (1975), 232–259.
- [54] M. H. Peel, Hook representations of the symmetric groups, Glasgow Math. J. 12 (1971), 136–149.
- [55] J.-P. Serre, Sur la semi-simplicité des produits tensoriels de représentations de groupes, Invent. Math. 116 (1994), 513–530.
- [56] J.-P. Serre, Complète réductibilité, Séminaire Bourbaki Vol. 2003/2004, Astérisque No. 299 (2005), Exp. No. 932, viii, 195–217.
- [57] P. Sin and Pham Huu Tiep, Rank 3 permutation module of the finite classical groups, *J. Algebra* **291** (2005), 551–606.
- [58] R. Steinberg, Endomorphisms of linear algebraic groups. Memoirs of the American Mathematical Society, No. 80, American Mathematical Society, Providence, R.I. 1968

- [59] J. Thorne, On the automorphy of l-adic Galois representations with small residual image. With an appendix by Robert Guralnick, Florian Herzig, Richard Taylor and Thorne, J. Inst. Math. Jussieu 11 (2012), 855–920.
- [60] J. Thorne, A 2-adic automorphy lifting theorem for unitary groups over CM fields, Math. Z. (2016), DOI:10.1007/s00209-016-1681-2.
- [61] Pham Huu Tiep, Finite groups admitting grassmannian 4-designs, J. Algebra 306 (2006), 227–243.
- [62] O. Taussky and H. Zassenhaus, On the 1-cohomology of the general and special linear groups, Aequationes Math. 5 (1970), 129–201.
- [63] Pham Huu Tiep and A. E. Zalesskii, Minimal characters of the finite classical groups, Commun. Algebra 24 (1996), 2093–2167.
- [64] Pham Huu Tiep and A. E. Zalesskii, Some characterizations of the Weil representations of symplectic and unitary groups, *J. Algebra* **192** (1997), 130–165.
- [65] T. E. Zieschang, Primitive permutation groups containing a p-cycle, Arch. Math. 64 (1995), 471–474.
- [66] K. Zsigmondy, Zur Theorie der Potenzreste, Monatsh. Math. Phys. 3 (1892), 265–284.

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, UNIVERSITY OF SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA, LOS ANGELES, CA 90089-2532. USA

E-mail address: guralnic@usc.edu

Department of Mathematics, University of Toronto, 40 St. George Street, Room 6290, Toronto, ON M5S 2E4, Canada

E-mail address: herzig@math.toronto.edu

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, UNIVERSITY OF ARIZONA, TUCSON, AZ 85721-0089, USA

E-mail address: tiep@math.arizona.edu